TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS

SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 1063 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

# REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES IN INFLAMMATION

by

Tiina Kelkka

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2013 From the Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, University of Turku, the MediCity Research Laboratory, University of Turku and Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences, University of Turku

Supervised by:	Professor Rikard Holmdahl M.D., Ph.D Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology MediCity Research Laboratory University of Turku Turku, Finland
and	CSO Malin Hultqvist, PhD Redoxis Ab Lund, Sweden
Reviewed by	Director Claus Haase, PhD NovoNordisk A/S Copenhagen, Denmark
and	Professor Eeva Moilanen, M.D., PhD The Immunopharmacology Research Group University of Tampere, School of Medicine Tampere, Finland
Opponent	Professor Lars Rönnblom, M.D., PhD Department of Medical Sciences, Rheumatology Uppsala University Uppsala, Sweden

ISBN 978-951-29-5352-3 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-5353-0 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama – Turku, Finland, 2013

"The whole of science is nothing more than a refinement of everyday thinking."

Albert Einstein

"Desperation is a necessary ingredient to learning anything, or creating anything. Period. If you ain't desperate at some point, you ain't interesting."

Jim Carrey

### ABSTRACT

Tiina Kelkka Reactive oxygen species in inflammation

From the Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, University of Turku, MediCity Research Laboratory and Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences (TuBS), Finland. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Turku, Finland, 2013.

Chronic inflammation is the underlying cause of many common disabling conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis, coeliac disease, type I diabetes and coronary artery disease. NOX2 complex derived reactive oxygen species (ROS) are known to regulate joint inflammation in rats and mice, and additionally, recent genetic evidence associates phagocyte ROS and the development RA in humans. *Ncf1*mutated mice have lost the functionality of their NOX2 complex and thus have no phagocyte ROS production. These mice suffer from exacerbated arthritis. The immune suppressive effect of the NOX2 complex derived ROS is mediated by monocytes/macrophages that downregulate the activation of autoreactive T cells.

The aim of this thesis was to study how ROS modulate immune responses in different arthritis models and in tumor development. Additionally, genome wide gene expression profiling was carried out to assess the global effects of NOX2 complex derived ROS.

Firstly, these results confirmed the potent anti-inflammatory nature of phagocyte ROS in arthritis models that were driven by the adaptive immune system. Secondly, arthritis models with predominantly innate immunity induced pathophysiology were moderately enhanced by phagocyte, more specifically, neutrophil derived ROS. Thirdly, the ROS induced immune suppression mediated by the adaptive immune system allowed development of bigger implanted tumors, while phagocyte ROS production did not affect the development of spontaneously growing tumors.

Lastly, genome wide gene expression analysis revealed that both humans and mice with abrogated phagocyte NOX2 complex ROS production had an enhanced type I interferon signature in blood, reflecting their hyperinflammatory immune status.

Keywords: Reactive oxygen species, inflammation, arthritis, NOX2 complex

# TIIVISTELMÄ

Tiina Kelkka Happiradikaalit tulehdusreaktion säätelijöinä

Lääketieteellinen mikrobiologia ja immunologia, Turun yliopisto, MediCity tutkimuslaboratorio, Turun yliopisto ja Turun biolääketieteellinen tohtoriohjelma, Turun yliopisto Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Turku, Suomi, 2013.

Nivelreuma, multippeli skleroosi, keliakia, tyypin I diabetes ja sepelvaltimotauti ovat vakavia pitkittyneen tulehdusreaktion aikaansaamia sairauksia. Syöjäsolujen tuottamat happiradikaalit vaimentavat tulehdusreaktiota niveltulehduksen eläinmalleissa ja lisäksi, genetiikkaan pohjautuva tieteellinen näyttö tukee happiradikaalien roolia myös ihmisen nivelreumassa. Syöjäsolujen (erityisesti monosyyttien) tuottamat happiradikaalit säätelevät isäntäänsä vastaan reagoivien (autoreaktiivisten) T-solujen aktivoitumista ja siten suojaavat isäntää tämän omien solujen hyökkäyksiltä.

Tämän väitöskirjan tavoitteena oli eritellä happiradikaalien vaikutuksia erilaisissa niveltulehdusmalleissa, sekä selvittää niiden vaikutusta syöpäkasvainten kasvuun. Lisäksi tavoitteena oli genominlaajuisen geeni-ilmentymisanalyysin keinoin tutkia, miten happiradikaalit säätelevät ihmisen ja hiiren geenien ilmentymistä.

Happiradikaalien tulehdusta rauhoittava vaikutus toistui niissä hiimalleissa, jotka pohjautuvat adaptiiviseen, soluvälitteiseen immuniteettiin. Tämän lisäksi happiradikaalien havaittiin maltillisesti lisäävän tulehdusaktiviteettia malleissa, jotka pohjautuvat luonnolliseen immuniteettiin. Yksi immuunijärjestelmän tärkeistä tehtävistä on rajoittaa pahanlaatuisten solujen lisääntymistä. Syöpäkasvainten kehitys oli hitaampaa hiirissä, joiden syöjäsolut eivät tuottaneet happiradikaaleja. Tuloksista voidaan päätellä, että happiradikaalit vaimentavat immuunivasteita ja samalla heikkenee kyky tuhota syöpäsoluja.

Genominlaajuinen geeni-ilmentymisanalyysi paljasti voimakkaamman tyypin I interferonivasteen sekä hiirissä että ihmisissä, joiden syöjäsolut ovat menettäneet happiradikaalientuottokykynsä. Samalla validoimme *Ncf1*-mutantin hiiren hyväksi malliksi tutkia kroonista granulomatoosia ja siihen liittyvää voimistunutta, kroonista tulehdusta.

Avainsanat: Happiradikaalit, tulehdus, artriitti, NOX2 kompleksi

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.	INT	rod	UCTION	11
2.	RE	VIEW	OF THE LITERATURE	12
	2.1	The i	nnate and adaptive immune systems	
	2.2	Rheu	matoid arthritis is a chronic inflammatory disease	
		2.2.1	RA is incurable, but nowadays well treatable	
		2.2.2	Animal models of arthritis	15
			2.2.2.1 Arthritis models induced by immunization	16
			2.2.2.2 Antibody-induced arthritis models	17
			2.2.2.3 Genetic models with spontaneous arthritis	19
			2.2.2.4 Local and bacterial irritation models	19
	2.3	ROS		20
		2.3.1	Cellular sources of ROS	21
		2.3.2	NOX2 belongs to the NOX family	22
		2.3.3	The antioxidant systems	24
	2.4	ROS	regulate physiological events	
		2.4.1	Two levels of regulation	26
		2.4.2	ROS in pathogen defense	27
		2.4.3	ROS as immune regulators	
			2.4.3.1 The traditional view	29
			2.4.3.2 ROS suppress T cell activation	30
			2.4.3.3 ROS suppress innate immunity	
		2.4.4	Experimental aspects	
			2.4.4.1 Measuring ROS	
			2.4.4.2 Studying ROS biology	
			2.4.4.3 Imaging ROS	35
3.	AIN	AS		38
4.	MA	TERI	IALS AND METHODS	
	4.1	Mice		
	4.2	Inflar	nmation models	
		4.2.1	CIA	
		4.2.2	CAIA	
		4.2.3	Supportive techniques for arthritis	
		4.2.4	Peritonitis	40
	4.3	Viral	expression vectors	40
	4.4	Tumo	or models	40
	4.5	ROS	analysis	41
		4.5.1	In vitro DHR and flow cytometry	41

	4.6 4.7 4.8	4.5.2 In vivo L-012         Statistics         Genome wide gene-expression analysis.         Data presentation and validation	.41 .41 .42 .42
5.	RE	SULTS	.43
	5.1	NOX2 complex derived ROS suppress arthritis (I, II, IV)	.43
	5.2	NOX2 complex derived superoxide enhances arthritis that is induced by agents of bacterial origin (II & III)	.43
	5.3	Superoxide dismutase 3 limits collagen-induced arthritis and peritonitis in	
		the absence of phagocyte oxidative burst (I)	.44
	5.4	NOX2 complex function can be monitored in naïve and arthritic animals	4.5
	5 5	with L-012 imaging (I, II, III)	.45
	5.5	mouse and man (IV)	45
	5.6	The hyperinflammatory phenotype in the <i>Ncf1</i> mutated mice suppress the	.+5
		growth of implanted tumors (V)	.46
6.	DIS	CUSSION	.47
	6.1	Excessive ROS production enhances innate inflammation	.47
	6.2	NOX2 complex derived ROS suppress T cell mediated inflammation	.49
	6.3	Type I interferon signature in the absence of phagocyte ROS in both	
	<i>с</i> <b>н</b>	mouse and man	.50
	6.4	The (dis)similarities between mouse and man	.51
	0.5	L-012 Imaging	.53
	0.0	Chinear implications and future uncertoins	.55
7.	CO	NCLUSIONS	.55
A	CKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	.56
RI	EFE	RENCES	.57
0	RIG	INAL PUBLICATIONS	.75

# ABBREVIATIONS

7-AAD	7'amino-actinomycin D
ACPA	Anti-citrullinated protein antibody
ACR	American college of rheumatology
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B16-luc	B16-F10-luc-G5 melanoma cells
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAIA	Collagen antibody-induced arthritis
CCD	Charge-coupled device
CD	Cluster of differentation
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant
CGD	Chronic granulomatous disease
CIA	Collagen-induced arthritis
CII	Type II collagen
CRP	C-reactive protein
CTLA	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen
DHR	Dihydrorhodamine
DMARD	Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPI	Diphenyleneiodonium
DUOX	Dual oxidase
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ESR	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
EULAR	The European League Against Rheumatism
fMLF	N-formyl-methionyl-leucyl –phenylalanine
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GPI	Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase
GSH	Glutathione (reduced)
GSSG	Glutathione disulfide (oxidized)
HE	Hematoxyoin and eosin
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IBD	Inflammatory bovel disease
IFA	Incomplete Freund's adjuvant
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunogolbulin

INFL	Inflammatory transcript (Paper IV)
IPA	Ingenuity pathway analysis
IRG	Interferon regulated gene (Paper IV)
LAT	Linker of activated T cells
LC	Lymphocyte related gene (Paper IV)
LLC	Lewis lung carcinoma
LM	Lipomannan
LPS	Lipopolysacharide
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
Misc.	Unclassified gene (Paper IV)
MPL	Monophosphoryl lipid A
MS	Multiple sclerosis
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (oxidized)
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
NADP	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (oxidized)
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)
NOX	NADPH oxidase
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PFU	Plaque forming unit
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate
Q-RT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RF	Rheumatoid factor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT	Room temperature
SH2	Src Homology 2
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
TCR	T cell receptor
Th	T helper
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-alpha	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TRAMP	The transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate
VLA-4	Very late antigen
YFP	Yellow fluorescent protein

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which will be referred to in the text by Roman numerals (I-V). The original communications are reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

- I Superoxide dismutase 3 limits collagen-induced arthritis in the absence of phagocyte oxidative burst. <u>Kelkka T</u>, Laurila JP, Sareila O, Olofsson P, Laukkanen MO, Holmdahl R. Mediators of Inflammation. 2012;2012:730469.
- II Reactive oxygen species produced by the NADPH oxidase 2 complex in monocytes protect mice from bacterial infections. Pizzolla A, Hultqvist M, Nilson B, Grimm MJ, Eneljung T, Jonsson IM, Verdrengh M, <u>Kelkka T</u>, Gjertsson I, Segal BH, Holmdahl R. The Journal of Immunology. 2012 May 15;188(10):5003-11. Copyright 2012. The American association of Immunologists, Inc.
- III Enhancement of antibody-induced arthritis via Toll-like receptor 2 stimulation is regulated by granulocyte reactive oxygen species. <u>Kelkka T</u>, Hultqvist M, Nandakumar KS, Holmdahl R. The American Journal of Pathology. 2012 Jul;181(1):141-50. *Reprinted with permission from Elsevier*.
- IV Comparative analysis of chronic granulomatous disease and its mouse model reveals upregulated interferon signature and modified lymphocyte activation pathways. <u>Tiina Kelkka</u>, Marjo Linja Outi Sareila, Malin Hultqvist, Peter Olofsson, Paulo Rodriques-Santos, Júlia Vasconcelos, Margarida Guedes, Laura Marques, Merja Helminen, Leena Kainulainen, Sirpa Jalkanen, Riitta Lahesmaa, Margarida Carneiro, Rikard Holmdahl. Manuscript.
- V NADPH Oxidase 2 Complex Derived Reactive Oxygen Species Suppress the Development of Implanted Tumors in Mouse. <u>Tiina Kelkka</u>, Angela Pizzolla, Juha Petteri Laurila, Tomas Friman, Renata Gustafsson, Eva Källberg, Olof Olsson, Tomas Leandersson, Kristofer Rubin, Marko Salmi, Sirpa Jalkanen, Rikard Holmdahl. Manuscript.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

When the immune system recognizes a pathogen, it immediately launches an immune reaction to eradicate the impending threat. This is achieved by using a wide array of mechanisms and the process is characterized by the commonly known signs of inflammation including redness, swelling and pain. Just a quick search in scientific data bases will reveal that inflammation is regulated by a vast array of different mechanisms. The battle against foreign intrudes is initiated by special recognition molecules that recognize the danger. Recognition is followed by orchestration of an array of defense mechanisms needed for neutralization and elimination of the particular pathogen. When the pathogen is cleared, the immune reaction is switched off and the battleground with dead immune cells and destroyed tissue environment is cleaned. The last phase of a healthy immune response is characterized by tissue recovery and results in restoration of normal tissue function.

Chronic inflammation is a condition where inflammation is not regulated or switched off properly and it is the underlying cause of many common diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), other autoimmune diseases, allergies and atherosclerosis.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are highly reactive oxygen containing molecules that can oxidize and thus damage biologically important molecules such as fatty acids and genomic DNA. In addition to their potential to cause harm, ROS are instrumental regulators of immune responses and cell signaling. The last decade has revolutionized the way we understand the ROS' role in inflammation. Against the longstanding dogma describing the harmfulness of ROS (Chiurchiu, Maccarrone 2011), we have learned that reduced superoxide production by phagocytes (immune cells that "eat" other cells, pathogens and cell debris) actually enhances inflammation as reviewed in (Holmdahl et al. 2012). However, despite the novel findings in the field, we should not simply ignore the historical body of evidence describing ROS as inflammation propagating molecules, but rather try to explain the historical findings with novel understanding and techniques. In this thesis I have sought answers to build a bridge between the conflicting views of the role of ROS in inflammation.

As the immune system is too complicated to be imitated in cell culture models, mouse models are used as tools to experimentally dissect immunological questions. Today's research is aided by a numerous selection of genetically modified and well-characterized mouse strains. We also have access to different disease models to experimentally address specific questions. The ultimate goal of biomedical research is to better understand human diseases, and we need to acknowledge that there are differences between human diseases and their mouse counterparts. The last part of this thesis describes a project where genome-wide gene-expression analysis is used to validate the *Ncf1* mutated mouse as a good model to study human hyperinflammation.

### 2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### 2.1 The innate and adaptive immune systems

The purpose of the immune system is to protect the host against different dangers (Matzinger 1994) including pathogenic micro-organisms, tissue damage and arising malignancies. The first acting arm of the immune system is called the innate immune system. Innate immunity comprises all forms of defense that do not have immunological memory and it can be roughly divided into its cellular and non-cellular constituents. The cellular compartment contains phagocytes (granulocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells) mast cells and natural killer cells, while the non-cellular part comprises different pattern recognition receptors (Toll-like receptors, Nod-like receptors and many others) anti-microbial peptides, the complement system and various chemical mediators of inflammation such as leukotrienes, cytokines, and prostaglandins. The innate immune system recognizes a wide variety of danger signals, is quick to respond and it efficiently activates adaptive immune responses. Thus, due to the interplay between the innate and adaptive systems, there is only a thin line between innate and the adaptive immunity.

The most striking characteristic of the adaptive immune system is its memory i.e. its ability to remember previously met pathogens and quickly mount a targeted and specific reaction against these. When the innate immune system recognizes a pathogen, the pathogen is engulfed and digested in the phagocytes' phagosomes, where after the peptides of pathogen origin are loaded into MHC II molecules and presented to T cells. The T cells either direct a cytotoxic attack against the target (cytotoxic T cells) or stimulate either cellular (T helper type 1, Th1) or humoral i.e. antibody mediated immune responses by activating B cells (T helper type 2, Th2). More recently, 2005, Th17 cells were identified as the third major Th cell subset, with special tasks in mucosal immunity and inflammatory conditions (Park et al. 2005). Both arms of the adaptive immune system can produce so called memory cells and when these long lived lymphocytes re-encounter the same danger signal, they can trigger a potent inflammatory response without delay.

The hallmarks of inflammation include redness and swelling of the inflamed area together with pain and increased body temperature. If inflammation is caused by a micro-organism which can be isolated from the inflamed tissue, the condition is called infection. A healthy immune system can efficiently evade dangers, and it also dismounts the reaction when the danger has been resolved. Sterile chronic inflammation without pathogen involvement can either develop spontaneously upon an autoinflammatory processes or it can be a consequence of unsuccessful resolution of infection. In most inflammatory disease it remains unclear, how the chronic inflammation is originally triggered.

#### 2.2 Rheumatoid arthritis is a chronic inflammatory disease

Conditions that are characterized by chronic inflammation include allergies, atherosclerosis and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS), RA and inflammatory bowel disease. Autoimmune diseases, in which an adaptive and specific immune reaction is targeted against one's own tissues, constitute a unique group of inflammatory diseases. Autoimmune diseases can be roughly divided into systemic and organ specific disorders. Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythemasus (SLE) and RA are examples of systemic autoimmune disorders with occurrence of autoantibodies without evident tissue association. Type I diabetes (pancreatic beta-cells), coeliac disease (gliadin, small intestine), pernicious anemia (gastric parietal cells), Hashimoto's thyroiditis (thyroid gland) and autoimmune hemolytic anemia (red blood cells) serve as examples of tissue specific autoimmunity.

#### 2.2.1 RA is incurable, but nowadays well treatable

RA is a common chronic inflammatory disease affecting 0.5-1% of the population in industrialized countries (Scott, Wolfe & Huizinga 2010). The risk of developing RA is attributable to both genetic and environmental factors. HLA region (Stastny 1976) is the most important genetic region to determinate the susceptibility to RA. *PAD14* (Suzuki et al. 2003) and *PTPN22* (Begovich et al. 2004) are other genes consistently and repeatedly associated with RA (Plenge et al. 2005, Barton et al. 2008, Daha et al. 2009, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007). While many possible environmental factors have been suggested (Liao, Alfredsson & Karlson 2009), smoking is the only replicated risk factor for the development of RA (Heliövaara et al. 1993, Stolt et al. 2003, Carlens et al. 2010). The mechanism how cigarette smoke supports developing autoimmunity remains elusive.

The diagnostic criteria for RA have been recently updated by rheumatologists from the European League against Rheumatism (EULAR) together with rheumatologists from The American College of Rheumatology (ACR). The main problem with the previously widely used criteria defined by ACR in 1987 (Arnett et al. 1988) was the difficulty to identify patients with early disease. The updated criteria (presented in Table 1) now take into account the advances made in diagnostics (Neogi et al. 2010) and hopefully will allow earlier and accurate diagnosis of RA.

#### Table 1 ACR/EULAR 2010 criteria for RA

- 1. Joint involvement (0–5)
  - One medium-to-large joint (0)
  - Two to ten medium-to-large joints (1)
  - One to three small joints (large joints not counted) (2)
  - Four to ten small joints (large joints not counted) (3)
  - More than ten joints (at least one small joint) (5)
- 2. Serology (0-3)
  - Negative RF and negative ACPA (0)
  - Low positive RF or low positive ACPA (2)
  - High positive RF or high positive ACPA (3)
- 3. Acute-phase reactants (0–1)
  - Normal CRP and normal ESR (0)
  - Abnormal CRP or abnormal ESR (1)
- 4. Duration of symptoms (0–1)
  - Less than 6 weeks (0)
  - 6 weeks or more (1)
  - Points are shown in parentheses.
  - Cut-point for RA is 6 points or more.
  - Patients can also be classified as having RA if they have: (a) typical erosions; (b) long-standing disease previously satisfying the classification criteria.

Adapted from (Scott, Wolfe & Huizinga 2010).

Despite the lack of curative treatment, good treatment modalities are available for RA patients. Methotrexate is the widest used disease-modifying antirheumatic drug (DMARDs) and it is prescribed as the first-line treatment to most patients. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) alleviate pain, but their use in RA is limited due to concerns about their gastrointestinal and cardiac side-effects and their limited effect on disease progression. The third group of classical RA drugs are glucocorticoids that, due to their side-effects (osteoporosis and infections), are mainly used to stop highly active disease as short oral courses or as local intra-articular injections (Scott, Wolfe & Huizinga 2010).

During the last decade, the treatment of RA has been revolutionized by the use of novel biological agents. Encouraged by promising results from mouse models (Williams, Feldmann & Maini 1992, Keffer et al. 1991) a high-affinity chimeric anti-TNF-alpha antibody (Knight et al. 1993) was shown to reduce pain and swelling as well as suppress inflammation activity (CRP and/or erythrocyte sedimentation rate) in patients with RA (Elliott et al. 1993). Today, in addition to the original chimeric antibody (Infliximab) there are a number of other TNF-alpha binding biological agents on the market available for treating RA (Tak, Kalden 2011).

Other novel tools in RA therapy include Rituximab, a chimeric B-cell depleting anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (Edwards et al. 2004, Cohen et al. 2006), Abatacept, costimulation blocking CTLA-4Ig fusion protein (Moreland et al. 2002) and Tocilizumab, and Anakinra monoclonal antibodies that block interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptors respectively (Choy et al. 2002, Bresnihan et al. 1998).

#### 2.2.2 Animal models of arthritis

As visualized in Figure 1, the pathologic process in RA is initiated several years before the diagnosis (Aho et al. 1985, Rantapää-Dahlqvist et al. 2003). This highlights the necessity for early diagnosis and for the development of novel advanced treatments that interfere with the etiological causes and early preclinical phases of the disease.

Animal models can provide us with knowledge of the early events of arthritis development and progression. Animal models can also be used as tools to develop and validate novel therapeutic and even prophylactic approaches to cure RA (Kollias et al. 2011). In addition, RA patient material is restricted to blood and synovial samples and by using animal models, research can be extended into otherwise unobtainable immunologically relevant tissues (spleen, draining lymph nodes and whole joints). Furthermore, animal models enable the study and experimental intervention of untreated arthritis, which, due to obvious ethical reasons, cannot be done in RA.

Different animal models mimic various aspects of RA. Even though no single rodent model replicates all features of human RA (van den Berg 2009), a lot of clinically relevant information can be gained by combining the use of different animal models. Mouse and rat are the most commonly used species in arthritis research. The most commonly used mouse models together with models with special importance for the work presented in this thesis are discussed in the next chapters. Also spontaneously arthritis developing mouse strains, with special importance in RA research are included.



#### Figure 1. The relationship between RA and its animal models.

The pathological process leading to rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is initiated several years before the onset of the first symptoms. According to the diagnostic criteria, the first symptoms must be accompanied by other symptoms before establishing clinical diagnosis and initiation of the treatment. Novel biological drugs combined with classical treatment with antirheumatics often give good response and alleviate the symptoms. Collagen-induced arthritis can be used to study even the pre-clinical phase of RA, while collagen antibody-induced arthritis is a good tool to address the local inflammation in the joints (Idea for the figure adapted from lecture notes R. Holmdahl).

#### 2.2.2.1 Arthritis models induced by immunization

Collagen-induced arthritis is the most commonly used arthritis model and can be induced in both mice and rats (Trentham, Townes & Kang 1977, Courtenay et al. 1980). In mice, CIA is usually induced by an intra-dermal injection of type II collagen (CII) emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), which contains highly immunogenic mycobacteria (Wooley et al. 1981, Brand, Latham & Rosloniec 2007). CIA is initiated with a phase of immune priming and in two to three weeks' time, the initial immune activation leads to initiation of arthritis in arthritis susceptible strains. The symptoms include redness and swelling of the affected joints as depicted in Figure 2. The external signs of inflammation are followed by the destruction of the synovial joint with formation of erosive pannus tissue and bone remodeling. In most cases,

inflammation subsides leaving the paw free from inflammation but deformed (Holmdahl et al. 2002). Arthritis severity is commonly assessed by macroscopic analysis of the paws and complemented with histology. Cross-laboratory comparisons are challenging as different laboratories use different scoring protocols.

The induction of CIA is dependent on and actively regulated by T cells and arthritis severity is typically reflected in the antibody response against CII (Holmdahl et al. 1986b). The most commonly applied variant of CIA is induced in DBA/1 mice, which is a highly CIA susceptible mouse strain. This strain is unfortunately also susceptible to environmental stress and prone to spontaneous arthropathy due to grouping stress (Holmdahl et al. 1992). Another susceptible and well characterized strain that develops CIA, is the black (C57BL/10) strain that carries the MHC II q haplotype (Holmdahl et al. 2002, Holmdahl et al. 1986a). Also C57BL/6 mice are shown to develop CIA, although this strain requires repeated immunization with chicken collagen emulsified in CFA and the use of larger volume of emulsion (Campbell, Hamilton & Wicks 2000). Importantly, CIA in C57BL/6 mice is not recommended as the first line model of RA. The MHC II b haplotype expressed by C57BL/6 mice does not allow the development of arthritis that is dependent on autoreactive T cells, but rather favors T cell responses against impurities (pepsin) in the collagen preparation (Backlund et al. 2012).



#### Figure 2. CIA in mice.

*Ncf1* mutated (*Ncf1*\*/\*) mice develop severe arthritis with red and swollen front (A) and hind (B) paws. Similar immunization with CFA does not result in inflammation in the wild type (*Ncf1*+/+) mice.

Proteoglycan-induced arthritis is closely related to CIA as it is induced by immunization with cartilage derived proteoglycan emulsified in adjuvant (Glant et al. 1987, Stoop et al. 2013). These chronic arthritis models are both dependent on T cells and share the associated B cell mediated autoantibody phenotype (Glant et al. 2011).

#### 2.2.2.2 Antibody-induced arthritis models

#### CAIA

RA patients are shown to produce autoantibodies against CII (Cook et al. 2004, Cook et al. 1994, Rönnelid et al. 1994) and other cartilage collagens (Jaalinoja et al. 2008). These antibodies induce arthritis when injected in recipient mice (Wooley et al. 1984).

Similarly, pathogenic auto-antibodies are formed in CIA (Holmdahl et al. 1986b) and these antibodies can also transfer the disease (Stuart, Dixon 1983). Anti-CII antibodies have been extensively characterized and the main antigenic epitopes have been identified along the triplehelical CII molecule.

This knowledge has been exploited to develop collagen antibody-induced arthritis (CAIA), a B and T cell independent mouse model of the effector phase of arthritis. The model used in this thesis is induced by injection of a cocktail containing four monoclonal anti-collagen antibodies in mice and within two to three days first signs of arthritis appear (Nandakumar, Svensson & Holmdahl 2003). The antibody cocktail, which is also utilized in this thesis, recognizes the following CII epitopes: the C1 epitope (aa 359–369), recognized by mAb CIIC1, J1 (aa 551–564) recognized by mAb M2139, U1 (aa 494–504), recognized by mAb UL1, and the F4 epitope (aa 932–936) recognized by mAb CIIF4 (Kraetsch et al. 2001, Holmdahl et al. 1989, Schulte et al. 1998).

Antibodies alone induce mild and transient arthritis, symptoms gradually disappearing in approximately a week. Thus, for most experimental needs, the antibody-induced arthritis needs to be enhanced by using some additional immunological stimulant. The standard protocol describes LPS as the routinely used stimulant (Nandakumar, Svensson & Holmdahl 2003). Other agents so far described to enhance CAIA are monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) (Kelkka et al. 2012a) and TLR2 agonists lipomannan (LM) (Hultqvist et al. 2010) and Pam-3-Cys (Cook et al. 2010).

#### KRN

Another important antibody-induced arthritis model is the so called KRN model (reviewed in (Monach, Mathis & Benoist 2008)). KRN arthritis develops in transgenic mice that express a self-reactive T cell receptor together with MHC class II molecule A(g7) (Korganow et al. 1999). This K/BxN mouse mounts an immune reaction against the ubiquitous self-antigen glucose-6-phosphate isomerase (G6PI) and by means of intense B cell differentiation and proliferation develops high levels of anti-G6PI antibodies. These antibodies induce arthritis with varying penetrance when transferred to new recipient mice from different inbred strains (eg. Balb/c, B6, B10, DBA/1) (Ji et al. 2001). The transferred arthritogenic antibodies appear to bind to endogenous cationic G6PI, which is preferentially associated with cartilage surfaces (Maccioni et al. 2002).

Furthermore, immunization with G6PI and even with the immunodominant selfpeptide derived from G6PI, induce chronic, T lymphocyte dependent arthritis in DBA/1 mice (Schubert et al. 2004, Bruns et al. 2009). These models, where the immune response is directed against a ubiquitous antigen, but that precipitate in the synovial joints reflect the systemic aspects of RA.

#### 2.2.2.3 Genetic models with spontaneous arthritis

The expansion of different genetically modified mouse strains has provided arthritis research with an increased number of mouse models that address specific pathways in arthritis development. In 1991, Kollias and coworkers provided insight into the possible role of TNF-alpha in arthritis by introducing a mouse model overexpressing human TNF-alpha that developed chronic polyarthritis with 100 % incidence (Keffer et al. 1991). Today, this model is widely used to study the downstream effects of TNF-alpha in arthritis.

The role of T cells as mediators of autoimmunity is highlighted in the so called SKG model, where a mutation in Src homology 2 (SH2) domain of  $\zeta$ -associated protein of 70 kDa (*ZAP-70*) gives rise to autoimmune inflammation and arthritis (Sakaguchi et al. 2003). ZAP-70 is a key mediator of TCR signal transduction and the SKG mutated variant of *ZAP-70* impairs positive and negative selection of T cells in the thymus, thus leading to production of arthritogenic T cells. SKG mice develop spontaneous arthritis in conventional animal houses, but in specific pathogen free conditions, the disease must be triggered with an additional immunostimulant (Yoshitomi et al. 2005) such as the fungal products zymosan, beta-glucans (Yoshitomi et al. 2005) and mannan (Hashimoto et al. 2010, Ruutu et al. 2012).

The lack of ROS production from phagocytes has also been reported to induce spontaneous arthritis (Hultqvist et al. 2004, Lee et al. 2011). The *Ncf1* mutated mouse, however, develops arthritis late in life and with too low penetrance to be used as a spontaneous model as such.

#### 2.2.2.4 Local and bacterial irritation models

Local irritation models comprise the last group of arthritis models discussed here. These models can be divided into models of septic arthritis induced with live bacteria and models that are induced by injecting only the arthritogenic component of the micro-organism.

*Borrelia burgdorferi* (Campfield et al. 2012) *Salmonella enterica* (Noto Llana et al. 2012) and *Yersinia enterocolitica* (Heesemann, Gaede & Autenrieth 1993) are examples of bacteria known to induce arthritis. Intra-articular injection of zymosan induces chronic inflammatory arthritis with mononuclear cell infiltration, synovial hypertrophy and pannus formation (Keystone et al. 1977). Peptidoglycan is another substance that, when injected directly in the joint, induces joint inflammation (Rosenzweig et al. 2011). In addition, systemic injection of peptidoglycan has the potential to induce arthritis in selected mouse strains, Balb/c and DBA/1 mice being particularly susceptible (Koga et al. 1985). Other substances used to induce local arthritis via intra-articular injections include curdlan, mannan (Rosenzweig et al. 2011) and LPS (Abu-Ghefreh, Masocha 2010).

#### 2.3 ROS

Redox (reduction-oxidation) reactions include all chemical reactions where atoms' oxidation state is altered. Oxidation is the loss of electrons and reduction is the gain of electrons. The reductant is oxidized when it reduces its target. Similarly, when the oxidized product is again reduced, the reductant is oxidized. This kind of cyclic repetition of redox reactions is called redox cycling. ROS are a heterogeneous group of oxygen radicals and other strongly oxidizing molecules and share common features with closely related reactive nitrogen species. After generation, ROS are further converted into other oxidative species or neutralized by carefully regulated enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidative reactions as depicted in Figure 3.





 $O_2$ , molecular oxygen; NO, nitric oxide;  $\bullet NO_2$ ; nitrogen dioxide;  $\bullet O_2^-$ , superoxide anion; ONOO<sup>-</sup>, peroxynitrite; ONOOH, peroxynitrous acid;  $H_2O_2$ , hydrogen peroxide,  $\bullet OH$ , hydroxyl radical;  $H_2O$ , water; HOCl, hypochlorous acid; HOSCN, hypothiocyanous acid; NOX, NADPH oxidase; SCN, thiocyanate; SOD, superoxide dismutase.

Molecular oxygen ( $O_2$ ) is converted into superoxide anion ( $O_2^-$ ) by the action of specialized enzymes, in mitochondria during cellular respiration, by ionizing and UV radiation and during the metabolism of a wide range of xenobiotic substances and drugs (Winterbourn 2008). Superoxide can either spontaneously or by the action of one of the three superoxide dismutases (SOD1-3) be further converted into hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). The reaction between superoxide and nitric oxide produces peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>), converging reactive nitrogen and oxygen species metabolism.

Peroxynitrate can further react to produce hydroxyl radicals (HO<sup>•</sup>) and nitrogen dioxide radicals (NO2<sup>•</sup>) (Merenyi et al. 1998). When hydrogen peroxide meets ferrous iron (Fe<sup>2+</sup>), the initiated so called Fenton reaction leads to the production hydroxyl radicals (HO<sup>•</sup>) (Fenton 1894). Catalase catalyzes the neutralization of hydrogen peroxide onto molecular oxygen and water (Loew 1900). Highly reactive radicals are also produced when myeloperoxidase turns hydrogen peroxide into hypochlorous acid (HOCl) (Klebanoff 1968) and when eosinophil peroxidase consumes hydrogen peroxide to form hypobromous acid (HOBr) (Ten et al. 1989, Sakamaki et al. 1989). In addition to hypochlorous and hypobromous acid, hypothiocyanous acid (HOSCN) which is produced by lactoperoxidase (Polis, Shmukler 1953), make an important radical involved in antimicrobial defense.

#### 2.3.1 Cellular sources of ROS

Mitochondrial respiration is one of the major sources or ROS in biological systems. Mitochondria are the power plants of the cell and produce ATP to satisfy the cell's energy demands in a process called cellular respiration. Electron transfer to molecular oxygen takes place via the four complexes of the electron transfer chain in a process that generates water and during which protons ( $H^+$ ) are pumped into the intermembrane space at complex I (NADH dehydrogenase), complex III (cytochrome c reductase), and complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase). The formed  $H^+$  gradient is the major contributor to the mitochondrial inner membrane potential. When the protons flow back into the matrix through the ATP synthase complex, ATP is synthesized from ADP and inorganic phosphate. During respiration, some electrons escape form the transfer chain to generate superoxide (Rigoulet, Yoboue & Devin 2011). The estimates of how much of the consumed oxygen is released as superoxide vary, latest and probably most realistic estimates suggesting 0.1 % of the respiratory rate during steady state metabolism (Tahara, Navarete & Kowaltowski 2009).

The leakage of electrons from the respiratory chain was long referred to as a byproduct, but more recent findings have assigned important regulatory functions for these escaped electrons. Most proteins harbor disulfide bridges that are maintained by the cellular redox balance and inhibition of mitochondrial ROS production can lead to errors in protein folding and transport ultimately affecting cell proliferation related signaling (Yang, Song & Loscalzo 2007). Mitochondrial ROS have been implicated as enhancers of inflammation by many researchers (West et al. 2011, West, Shadel & Ghosh 2011, Mitchell et al. 2010, Ostrakhovitch, Afanas'ev 2001). In the light of today's litterature, the proinflammatory effects of mitochondrial ROS are mainly mediated by the innate immune system (West et al. 2011)

Xanthine oxidase is a molybdenium containing flavoenzyme (Ichida et al. 1993) that catalyzes the oxidation of hypozanthine to zanthine and further to uric acid and generate both superoxide and hydroxyl radicals (Kuppusamy, Zweier 1989, Romao et

al. 1995, Huber et al. 1996). Human zanthine oxidase is expressed in most tissues (Xu et al. 1994).

Detoxification of lipophilic xenobiotics such as many drugs and environmental pollutants by the catalytic activity of the cytochrome p450 enzyme produces superoxide and hydrogen peroxide (Zangar, Davydov & Verma 2004). There is genetic evidence suggesting that polymorphisms in cytochrome p450 may play a role in the development of RA (Yen et al. 2003a) and ankylosing spondylitis (Yen et al. 2003b).

#### 2.3.2 NOX2 belongs to the NOX family

NADPH oxidases (NOX) are a family of transmembrane oxidases that reduce molecular oxygen to superoxide using energy derived from the oxidation of NADPH/NADH to NADP/NAD. NOX enzyme family consists of five NOX enzymes (NOX1-5) and two Dual oxidases (DUOX1-2). NOX isoforms differ in their inducibility, expression pattern and they also require different sets of accessory proteins for their enzymatic activity as excellently reviewed in (Bedard, Krause 2007)).

NOX2 complex is the firstly identified and best studied member of the NOX family. It is expressed by phagocytes (granulocytes, monocytes, dendritic cells) and its expression has also been reported in other cells of the immune system such as natural killer cells, B cells and mast cells. Lower levels of NOX2 expression has also been detected in T cells (Jackson et al. 2004, van Reyk et al. 2001). Interestingly, recent published data report that neuronal expression of NOX2 regulates stress-response behavior in rats and mice (Schiavone et al. 2012, Sorce et al. 2010).

The NOX2 complex encompasses CYBB (also known as gp91phox) and accessory molecules that enable and regulate its function. The transmembrane catalytic core of the NOX2 complex associates with the other transmembrane protein CYBA (also known as p22phox) and upon activation this heterodimer complex is directed from granule membranes to the lipid rafts of the plasma membrane to form the catalytically active NOX2 complex as presented in Figure 4. These lipid rafts are subsequently, upon phagocytosis directed to form endosomes and phagosomes. Efficient superoxide production requires the concerted action of the CYBB-CYBA heterodimer and a set of cytosolic proteins. In resting state the cytosolic subunits of the NOX2 complex NCF1, NCF2 and NCF4 (also known as p47phox, p67phox and p40phox) reside in the cytosol associated together (Lapouge et al. 2002). Similarly, in resting state, the GDP-bound small GTPase RAC is in complex with the inhibitory GDI, and is located in the cytosol separated from the other cytosolic subunits (El-Benna, Dang & Gougerot-Pocidalo 2008). Upon activation, all cytosolic components together with RAC move to the cell membrane and build complex with the membrane bound enzymatic core to initiate superoxide production (El-Benna, Dang & Gougerot-Pocidalo 2008). Interestingly,

there are two RAC isoforms and they differ in their cellular distribution; RAC1 predominates in monocytes and RAC2 in neutrophils (Zhao, Carnevale & Cathcart 2003).



#### Figure 4. The NOX2 complex.

The schematic structure and organization of the supreoxide producing activated NOX2 complex (Modified from (Hultqvist et al. 2009)). Genes coding for NOX2 complex proteins are listed in the left panel.

During priming the location, conformation and phosphorylation status of the subunits are altered to lower the threshold for activation. Priming can be achieved by e.g. inflammatory cytokines, TLR agonists, chemoattractants, chemicals and other factors such as peroxynitrite and adhesion as reviewed in (El-Benna, Dang & Gougerot-Pocidalo 2008). Priming facilitates the following full activation and superoxide production, which is triggered by a much more selected repertoire of substances including N-formyl-methionyl-leucyl –phenylalanine (fMLF), complement component C5a, and phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (McPhail, Clayton & Snyderman 1984). The NOX2 complex is also activated during phagocytosis (Sbarra, Karnovsky 1959).

NOX1 was the first homologue that was described for NOX2 (Suh et al. 1999). NOX organizer 1 (NOXO1, NCF1 homolog), the organizer subunit of NOX1 and NOX activator 1 (NOXA1, NCF2 homolog) are the cytosolic accessory molecules needed for superoxide production by NOX1 complex (Banfi et al. 2003, Geiszt et al. 2003a, Takeya et al. 2003). High expression of NOX1 has been detected on colon epithelium (Szanto et al. 2005). Additionally, lymphocytes (Szanto et al. 2005), vascular smooth muscle (Lassegue et al. 2001), endothelial cells (Kobayashi et al. 2004a), prostate, uterus (Suh et al. 1999), placenta (Cui et al. 2006), osteoclasts (Lee et al. 2005) and retina (Manea, Raicu & Simionescu 2005) are reported to express NOX1. NOX1 deficient mouse has decreased blood pressure (Matsuno et al. 2005, Matsuno et al. 2005) and develop enhanced hyperoxia induced acute lung injury (Carnesecchi et al. 2009), suggesting an inflammation regulating role for NOX1 derived ROS.

NOX3 (Cheng et al. 2001) is expressed in the inner ear and can produce ROS using both NCF1 and NOXO1 organizer subunits (Banfi et al. 2004, Cheng, Ritsick & Lambeth 2004). In addition, NOX3 expression has been reported to take place on hepatocytes (Li et al. 2010). NOX4 (Cheng et al. 2001, Geiszt et al. 2000, Shiose et al. 2001) was originally identified from kidney, but it is also expressed in many other tissues including endothelium (Ago et al. 2004), fibroblasts (Colston et al. 2005) and hematopoietic stem cells (Piccoli et al. 2005). Interestingly, upon heterologous expression NOX4 is active without cell stimulation and does not require cytosolic subunits for its activity (Martyn et al. 2006).

NOX5 was identified as a calcium activated (Bánfi et al. 2004) NADPH oxidase in various fetal tissues, lymphocyte rich areas in spleen and lymph nodes and in uterus and in testis (Cheng et al. 2001, Banfi et al. 2001, Bedard, Jaquet & Krause 2012). The last two enzymes belonging to the NOX family are the thyroid dual oxidase 1 and 2 (DUOX 1 and 2) (De Deken et al. 2000). Contrary to other NOX enzymes and despite of some disagreement in the field, it is likely that dual oxidases convert the produced superoxide directly into hydrogen peroxide (Bedard, Krause 2007). Inactivating mutations in DUOX2 constitute the causative reason for congenital hypothyroidism (Moreno et al. 2002), highlighting the importance of these enzymes to thyroid function. In addition, there is also evidence that mucosal surface host defense is supported by hydrogen peroxide derived from the DUOX enzymes (Geiszt et al. 2003b).

#### 2.3.3 The antioxidant systems

ROS production and clearance are important parts of healthy metabolism. The tissue redox-balance is maintained by concerted actions of oxidant producing and oxidant consuming systems. ROS play an indispensable role in pathogen clearance and act as important signaling molecules regulating many physiological processes. To avoid excessive oxidant load and damage in cellular and tissue structures it is important that these highly oxidative metabolites are promptly removed when not needed. Uncontrolled ROS production or failure in antioxidant defense can lead to oxidative stress and result in DNA strand breakage, protein damage and lipid peroxidation (Kohen, Nyska 2002).

Antioxidants can be dived into enzymatic and non-enzymatic ROS neutralizing mechanisms. The most important enzymatic antioxidant systems include SOD enzymes, catalase, the thioredoxin, glutathione peroxidase, and peroxiredoxin systems. Dietary tocopherols (vitamin E) and ascorbic acid (vitamin C) are low-molecular-mass antioxidants that can neutralize ROS by directly reducing them.

The firstly identified superoxide dismutase (SOD) enzyme was the cytoplasmic copper/zink SOD (SOD1) (McCord, Fridovich 1969). The next SOD enzyme to be found was the mitochondrial iron/manganese SOD (SOD2) (Weisiger, Fridovich 1973)

and almost ten years later, the third SOD enzyme, the extracellular SOD (SOD3) was discovered (Marklund 1982). All three SOD enzymes catalyze a reaction where superoxide is dismutated into hydrogen peroxide, but structurally these enzymes are unrelated. The correct balance between superoxide and hydrogen peroxide is instrumental for the vitality of any biological organism as demonstrated in infertility of female SOD1 knockout mice (Matzuk et al. 1998) and in the early death of the SOD2 knockouts at three weeks of age (Lebovitz et al. 1996).

SOD enzymes are known to regulate inflammation. A low molecular weight mimetic of SOD has been reported to ameliorate collagen-induced arthritis in rats (Salvemini et al. 2001), similarly as SOD1 has been shown to limit ischemia reperfusion injury in rats (Burton 1985). The expression of mitochondrial SOD2 is upregulated in psoriasis skin lesions (Lontz et al. 1995) and in addition, its expression can be induced by inflammatory cytokines and LPS (Masuda et al. 1988, Akashi et al. 1995, Visner et al. 1990). The third, the extracellular ROS, has mostly been studied as a suppressor of lung inflammation (Folz, Abushamaa & Suliman 1999, Yao et al. 2010, Auten et al. 2006), while it has also been shown to limit ischemia reperfusion injury (Sjoquist et al. 1991) and experimental arthritis (Yu et al. 2008, Dai et al. 2003, Iyama et al. 2001a).

Catalase, a peroxisomal enzyme that is expressed by nearly all aerobic cells, catalyzes the decomposition of hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen (Loew 1900, Purdue, Lazarow 1996) and thus, unlike SOD enzymes, it is a true antioxidant enzyme. Local, joint specific expression of catalase is shown to have an inflammation limiting effect in antigen-induced arthritis in rats (Dai et al. 2003).

The thioredoxin system consists of two antioxidant oxidoreductase enzyme families: thioredoxins and thioredoxin reductases. Thioredoxins (Wollman et al. 1988) are kept in reduced state by thioredoxin reductases in a NADPH-dependent reaction and serve as a good example of redox cycling as presented in Figure 5. Reduced thioredoxins are efficient reducers of oxidized disulfides in proteins and peptides (reviewed in (Nordberg, Arner 2001). Thioredoxin reductases possess a selenocysteine residue in the conserved C-terminal sequence, which is required for the catalytic activity (Zhong, Holmgren 2000). Increased expression of thioredoxin has been reported in patients with Sjögren's syndrome and RA (Saito et al. 1996, Yoshida et al. 1999).

The family of glutathione peroxidases consists of eight isoforms in humans. The active site of all glutathione peroxidases contains a selenocysteine (Forstrom, Zakowski & Tappel 1978, Aumann et al. 1997) and mediates a reaction where glutathione is oxidized and hydrogen peroxide is reduced to form water (Rotruck et al. 1973). Glutathione reductase completes the redox cycle and reduces the glutathione back to its reduced state using NADPH as energy source (Fujii et al. 2011)



#### Figure 5. The thioredoxin system as an example of redox cycling

Thioredoxin reductase (TrxR) reduces the active site in thioredoxin (Trx) using NADPH as energy source. Reduced thioredoxin (Trx-SH2) can reduce disulfides in proteins and peptides. This continous circle of oxidation and reduction reactions is called redox cycling and is the basis of most antioxidant systems. Adapted from (Nordberg, Arner 2001).

Mammals express six different peroxiredoxins which are classified into three subgroups (2-Cys, atypical 2-Cys, and 1-Cys) based on the number and position of cystein residues in the active site (Rhee, Chae & Kim 2005). These selenoenzymes mediate similar type of redox cycling as the thioredoxins and, in fact, five of these can use thioredoxin as the electron donor for their catalytic cycle. Peroxiredoxins reduce and thus detoxify hydrogen peroxide, aliphatic and aromatic hydroperoxides and peroxynitrate (Bryk, Griffin & Nathan 2000, Dubuisson et al. 2004, Poole, Hall & Nelson 2011).

#### 2.4 ROS regulate physiological events

#### 2.4.1 Two levels of regulation

There are two levels of redox regulation in biological systems (Winterbourn, Hampton 2008). The first level of regulation is relatively slow and is maintained by the constant ROS production from the mitochondria and non-inducible ROS producing enzymes and is regulated by slow oscillations of the glutathione buffer system. Protein thiols vary in their redox potential, which means that in a given redox environment some are more reduced than others. When the cell becomes more oxidized, the glutathione buffer's GSH:GSSG ratio decreases shifting the disulfide content of the thiol proteins thus altering the protein properties (Schafer, Buettner 2001).

The second level of redox regulation is more specific and much quicker to respond. The mechanisms of this second level of regulation are based on the kinetic properties of some redox sensitive target proteins. This regulation can take place without obvious changes in the total redox balance of the cell (Go et al. 2004). Protein tyrosine phosphatases with a critical active site cysteine are sensitive to reversible oxidation and inactivation directly affecting cellular signaling (Tonks 2005). Additionally, certain protein kinases and GTPases have key cysteines in their regulatory or nucleotide

binding domains rendering them susceptible to redox-regulation (Cross, Templeton 2004, Heo 2004). Examples of immunologically important proteins subject to redox regulation include PTPN22 (Tsai et al. 2009), T cell receptor and its signaling molecule lck (Cemerski, van Meerwijk & Romagnoli 2003) and the co-stimulatory molecule VLA-4 which is also found in the immunological synapse (Kim et al. 2010, Laragione et al. 2003). Increase in cellular oxidation status has also been reported to support activation of the pleiotropic cytokine TGF-beta, which is involved in maintaining the suppressor function and Foxp3 expression of CD4+Cd25+ regulatory T cells, Th-17 differentiation, wound healing and immune suppression (Jobling et al. 2006). In addition, oxidative stress in inflamed joints has been shown to induce the physical translocation of linker of activation of T cells from the plasma membrane to cytosol, thus impairing T cell receptor signaling (Gringhuis et al. 2002, Gringhuis et al. 2000).

#### 2.4.2 ROS in pathogen defense

Patients suffering from chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (Bridges, Berendes & Good 1959) lack functional NOX2 complex. This rare (birth rate from 1/200 000 to 1/250 000) (Winkelstein et al. 2000) congenital disease is caused by mutations in any of the subunits of the ROS producing complex and is characterized by recurrent life threatening bacterial and fungal infections (van den Berg et al. 2009, Holland 2010). The most commonly affected subunit is the catalytic CYBB, giving rise to the x-linked form of CGD and accounts for approximately 70 % of the cases (Roos et al. 2010b). The autosomal forms of CGD are divided into cases with mutations in *CYBA* (Roos et al. 2010a) (6 %), *NCF2* (Roos et al. 2010a) (6 %) and in *NCF1* (Roos et al. 2010a) (20 %). Only one patient with mutated *NCF4* (Matute et al. 2009) has been described so far. Additionally, mutation in *RAC2* (Ambruso et al. 2000, Williams et al. 2000) also results in human neutrophil immunodeficiency with severe bacterial infections and poor wound healing.

*Staphylococcus aureus* is the most common finding in bacterial cultures from CGD patients (van den Berg et al. 2009), while *Aspergillus fumigatus* and *Aspergillus nidulans* infections are the most common findings of fungal origin (Winkelstein et al. 2000, Segal et al. 1998). The most important bacterial infections in addition to *Staphylococcus aureus* are *Burkholderia cepacia*, *Serratia marcescens* and *Salmonella* spp (van den Berg et al. 2009, Holland 2010). Importantly, a recent study reported that patients with residual ROS production have improved long term survival (Kuhns et al. 2010).

ROS exert their pathogen killing functions both by directly being toxic to the intruders and more importantly by activating neutrophil primary granule proteases (Reeves et al. 2002, Segal 2005). More recent evidence has introduced the concept of neutrophil extracellular traps that enable capturing of yeast conidia and hyphae in a NOX2 complex dependent mechanism (Bianchi et al. 2009).

The increased occurrence of hyperinflammatory and autoimmune manifestations among CGD patients and heterozygous carriers has received increased attention. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and other gastrointestinal manifestations are the most common non-infectious inflammatory manifestations among CGD patients (Marciano et al. 2004, Marks et al. 2009, Kobayashi et al. 2008). Anti-phospholipid syndrome, IgA neurophathy (De Ravin et al. 2008) Kawasaki disease (Yamazaki-Nakashimada, Ramirez-Vargas & De Rubens-Figueroa 2008) and polyarthritis (Lee, Yap 1994) are other autoimmune manifestations reported to occur in CGD patients. In addition, female CGD carriers are reported to exhibit an increased susceptibility to SLE and lupus erythematosus -like symptoms (De Ravin et al. 2008, Gomez-Moyano et al. 2010, Badolato et al. 2003, Ananworanich, Shearer & Abramson 2000, Cobeta-Garcia et al. 1998, Dohil et al. 1997, Schmitt et al. 1995, Manzi et al. 1991, Smitt et al. 1990, Strate, Brandrup & Wang 1986, Stalder et al. 1986).

Most CGD patients are prophylactically treated with mold-active antifungal and antibacterial compounds, while the only curative treatment for CGD is stem cell transplantation. CGD is a good candidate disease for gene therapy, as expression of the functional variant of the mutated gene can rescue the NOX2 complex function and restore phagocyte ROS production. Researchers are actively developing improved gene delivery techniques to achieve long standing and high enough expression rate of the delivered gene (Segal et al. 2011).

As discussed earlier, CGD can be caused by several different mutations affecting any of the genes coding for the NOX2 complex subunits. Similarly, several translational mouse models are used to experimentally address the CGD phenotype. The most commonly used models include knock out strains of *CYBB* and *Ncf1*, both strains replicating the defects in pathogen defense and associated hyperinflammation (George-Chandy et al. 2008, Jackson, Gallin & Holland 1995). These models, together with other NOX2 complex related mouse models are discussed in more detail in chapter 2.4.4.2.

#### 2.4.3 ROS as immune regulators

As discussed in earlier, the immune system and ROS are linked together in numerous different ways. However, modern science is only starting to understand the cascade starting from ROS sensitive molecular sensors that induce the cascade leading to regulation of local and systemic inflammation.

Genetic association studies confirm the functional data and support the connection between NOX2 complex and autoimmunity. *NCF4* (Olsson et al. 2007) as well as *NCF1* are associated with RA (Olsson et al. 2011), while *NCF2* is associated with SLE

(Jacob et al. 2012, Cunninghame Graham et al. 2011) and Chron's disease (Muise et al. 2011). Similarly, *NCF4* and *RAC2* are associated with Chron's disease (Muise et al. 2011, Rioux et al. 2007, Somasundaram et al. 2012, Roberts et al. 2008), while *RAC2* is the only NOX2 complex component so far with association with MS (Sironi et al. 2011).

Based on today's knowledge, we can separate three different ways, how ROS affect inflammation (summarized in Figure 6). Firstly, metabolic ROS and ROS from inflammatory neutrophils may promote inflammation. Secondly, T lymphocyte activity is dramatically downregulated by monocytes in a ROS dependent manner and thirdly, also inflammation without T cell involvement can be downregulated by NOX2 derived ROS.

#### 2.4.3.1 The traditional view

Oxidative stress i.e. overload of oxidant production is a hall mark of neutrophilic inflammation and suggested as a marker of disease activity in RA (Kundu et al. 2012) and SLE (Shah et al. 2011). The concept of ROS as proinflammatory mediators has been largely justified by experiments assessing the effect of antioxidant administration on inflammation severity (discussed in 2.3.1). In addition, experimental evidence suggests that ROS deficiency leads to less severe influenza virus inflammation (Snelgrove et al. 2006a, Snelgrove et al. 2006b). Administration of SOD3, catalase (Ostrakhovitch, Afanas'ev 2001, Dai et al. 2003), vitamin E (De Bandt et al. 2002) as well as the natural bioflavonoid rutin (Ostrakhovitch, Afanas'ev 2001) suppress joint destruction and inflammation in animal models of arthritis. Experimental data collected by using inflammation models in mice and rats supports the hypothesis that presents antioxidants as anti-inflammatory. However, these results are in sharp conflict with evidence from large clinical antioxidant studies that have not found any inflammation suppressive (Rosenbaum et al. 2010) or other beneficial effects for the daily intake of large amounts of dietary antioxidant supplements (vitamins A, C and E). As revealed by a recent Cochrane review analyzing clinical trials with the total of almost 300 000 subjects, the intake of antioxidant preparations may even increase general mortality (Bjelakovic et al. 2012).

Similarly as in mouse models of arthritis, ROS that is produced in the inflamed foci during the active inflammatory phase of SLE, give rise to local increase in oxidant load (Avalos et al. 2007). Excessive ROS production as a result of pathological immune activation may, in fact, prove as a clinically useful biomarker for the disease activity (Shah et al. 2011, Minhas, Das & Bhatnagar 2011).

Furthermore, ROS modified neo-epitopes and following epitope spreading to autoantigens have been hypothesized to play a role in the initiation of autoimmune inflammation (Kurien, Scofield 2008). Natural polyreactive antibodies also acquire

improved binding to autoantigens upon modification by physiological levels of ROS (Dimitrov et al. 2008). Both these hypothesis support the idea of autoimmunity being originally triggered by infection and associated ROS response. Alternatively, these suggested mechanisms can be understood as means of autoimmunity progression as it is known that the anti-citrullinated protein antibody repertoire expands during early disease progression in RA (van der Woude et al. 2010). It should be noted, however, that the source of antigen/antibody modifying ROS has not been conclusively experimentally addressed.

Taken together, these results suggest that ROS modulates local inflammation and may facilitate the development of autoimmunity. However, systemic administration of antioxidants has repeatedly failed to moderate autoimmune inflammation.



Figure 6. ROS can both suppress and enhance inflammation

Mitochondrial ROS and neutrophil secreted NOX2 complex derived ROS locally enhance inflammation. Monocyte derived NOX2 complex ROS suppress both adaptive and innate immune responses.

#### 2.4.3.2 ROS suppress T cell activation

*Ncf1*, the gene coding for the activator subunit of the NOX2 complex was identified as an important regulator of pristane-induced arthritis in rats using positional cloning approach (Olofsson et al. 2003). For the authors' surprise, rats with lowered ROS production were more susceptible to arthritis than their littermates with intact

superoxide production. Similar results were obtained from mouse (Hultqvist et al. 2004) and some years later it was revealed that it is monocyte/macrophage derived ROS that suppress T cell autoreactivity (Gelderman et al. 2007). In addition, the lack of functional NCF1 gives rise to sporadic cases of spontaneous arthritis in post-partum female and elderly mice (Hultqvist et al. 2004, Lee et al. 2011).

Furthermore, the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model of MS, was also suppressed by phagocyte ROS (Hultqvist et al. 2004) and similarly, MS patients with more severe disease are reported to produce lower levels of ROS (Mossberg et al. 2009). Further support for the immune suppressive character of ROS is derived from an inflammatory disorder called the SAPHO syndrome, where the disease phenotype was shown to be associated with reduced oxidant production (Ferguson et al. 2008). And similarly also a mouse model of lupus was recently shown to be suppressed by NOX2 complex derived ROS (Campbell, Kashgarian & Shlomchik 2012). Remarkably, all this data is generated *in vivo* and comparable results arise from experiments using both human patient material and animal models.

Although a closer analysis of the effects of ROS on adaptive immune system is underway, there is already enough evidence to suggest that the activity of all major Th cells is regulated by phagocyte ROS. Firstly, ROS was reported to suppress Th1 activity (Gelderman et al. 2007). These results were followed by a report showing downregulation of IL-17 production by NOX2 complex derived ROS (George-Chandy et al. 2008) and the following year, NOX2 complex derived ROS were reported to down regulate Th2 type of immunity (Hagenow et al. 2009). NOX2 derived ROS suppress T cell autoreactivity in an antigen dependent fashion, suggesting that the critical ROS are secreted during the process of antigen presentation. In addition, a recent report describing the ROS dependency of regulatory T cell induction by monocytes, support the concept of the anti-inflammatory nature of monocyte derived ROS (Kraaij et al. 2010).

Also structural aspects support the idea of ROS dependent immune suppression to take place at the sites of antigen presentation i.e. in immunological synapses. MHC class II-peptide complexes and lipid rafts accumulate in immunological synapses (Hiltbold, Poloso & Roche 2003) and similarly, NOX2 complex components accumulate in lipid rafts upon activation (Shao, Segal & Dekker 2003). This allows the concreted action of ROS production and antigen presentation close to the target T cell. The exact molecular targets that mediate the immune suppression are not known and undeniably, the secreted ROS affect in addition to the T cell also the ROS producer (monocyte) itself.

#### 2.4.3.3 ROS suppress innate immunity

The third pathway how ROS regulates immunity, is the innate suppression pathway. This pathway has been studied using thioglycollate peritonitis (Segal et al. 2002), acid aspiration-induced lung inflammation (Segal et al. 2007), intrasynovially induced zymosan-induced arthritis (van de Loo et al. 2003) and cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation (Yao et al. 2008). Furthermore, sterile ear inflammation induced by a number of bacterial and fungal components such as  $(\beta(1-3)(1-6))$ -glucan (from Saccharomyces cerevisiae). mannan (from Saccharomyces cerevisiae). and lipoteichoic acid (from Staphylococcus aureus) is enhanced in mice deficient in phagocyte ROS production (Schappi et al. 2008). Similarly to the T cell dependent immune suppression, the ROS mediated suppression of innate inflammation is governed by ROS producing monocytes as demonstrated recently by Deffert et al. using sterile ear inflammation model induced by intradermal  $\beta$ 1,3-glucan from Alcaligenes faecalis (Deffert et al. 2012).

The mechanism how ROS suppress innate immunity has received increased interest during the last years. Already ten years ago, it was noted that dying neutrophils and phagocytizing macrophages from CGD patients secreted less anti-inflammatory mediators than cells from healthy controls (Brown et al. 2003). There are only sporadic observations how the innate immune suppression is induced by ROS. By using zymosan-induced lung inflammation, researchers have found that ROS induce an increase in the level of the anti-inflammatory transcription factor Nrf2 (Sussan et al. 2009) in the cell nucleus (Segal et al. 2010). In addition, a specialized subset of immunosuppressive macrophages, namely myeloid derived suppressor cells, are suggested to mediate immune suppression at least in part, by secreting ROS (Corzo et al. 2009). All these observations are very recent and more research is needed to understand how ROS suppress inflammation. With increasing knowledge, it will be intriguing to see how similar or dissimilar are the cellular and molecular mechanisms mediating the ROS dependent adaptive and innate pathways of immunosuppression.

#### 2.4.4 Experimental aspects

Reactive oxygen species are short-lived oxidants with limited diffusion rates. Hydrogen peroxide can diffuse up to 1.5 mm from the production site and can readily pass cell membranes. Superoxide is shorter-lived, membrane impermeable and can easily dismutate to hydrogen peroxide (Winterbourn 2008). Other ROS are much less studied in biological context. When the diverse ROS are combined with all the dynamic antioxidant systems present in the biological system, the result is a delicate and carefully regulated balance that is challenging to study. There are different *in vitro* and *in vivo* strategies to dissect the role of ROS in biology and all approaches have their strengths and weaknesses as outlined below.

#### 2.4.4.1 Measuring ROS

There is a long-standing tradition in measuring oxidative stress-induced changes in cells. These methods do not directly measure ROS, but are ways to indirectly assess the extent of ROS-induced damage in the target tissue or cell population. DNA damage can be measured by using the comet assay (Karlsson 2010) or by staining for the DNA double strand breaks (Monks et al. 2006), while mass spectrometry is the recommended approach to study lipid peroxidation (Yin, Xu & Porter 2011). It should be noted, that these assays detect cellular damage and are of limited or no use when studying ROS as physiological messengers.

ROS can be measured in numerous different ways as reviewed by (Maghzal et al. 2012). Luminol and isoluminol are luminescent probes, with closely related chemical structures, that produce light upon contact with radicals. Luminol is cell permeable, while isoluminol cannot pass the cell membrane, thus making it a good probe to analyze extracellular oxidant production (Lundqvist, Dahlgren 1996). These probes are not toxic to cells and can be used for *in vitro* and *ex vivo* cell assays and the luminescence can be recorded over time after the addition of the desired stimulant. However as a cell suspension based assay, this technology is of limited use, when the identity of the ROS producing cell type needs to be resolved.

Dihydrorhodamin-123 (DHR-123) overcomes the problem of cell type identification in phagocyte ROS production analysis as it is used in flow cytometry and can be combined with cell surface markers (Emmendorffer et al. 1990). However, as the fluorescence emission spectrum of DHR-123 (excitation with the blue laser at 488 nm) is wide, it can only be combined with conjugates with different excitation wavelengths. Thus, a modern flow cytometer is preferred when the ROS production of any population defined with more than one surface marker is desired. DHR-123 is fast, cost effective and easy to use. The limitation of this, and other flow cytometry based techniques is demonstrated in dense cell populations, as ROS from other cells may diffuse and give rise to false positive ROS signal in neighboring cells (Van Pelt et al. 1996, Bylund et al. 2010).

As already mentioned all ROS are extremely reactive and resemble each other in their chemical properties. In addition, reactive nitrogen species may also react with ROS sensitive dyes and further complicate the interpretation of the results. In *in vitro* assays, the issue of reactive species cross-reactivity can at least in part be overcome by using enzymes that enzymatically remove specific ROS from the assay. For example adding SOD or a SOD mimetic will quickly convert superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and the use of catalase removes hydrogen peroxide. These enzymatic approaches are suitable for exclusion the effects of certain ROS, but are not enough to collect evidence to point out any specific ROS. Some ROS probes are reported to be selective for only one type of ROS as reviewed in (Kalyanaraman et al. 2012), but these reports should

be interpreted with some precaution as the probes are often validated for only a limited set of reactive species, most often for superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, thus ignoring the potential cross-reactivity with other reactive species. Due to the technical limitations of ROS and their related nitrogen species measurements *in vivo*, the following *in vivo* discussion does to not even attempt further specify the roles of different reactive species in inflammation.

#### 2.4.4.2 Studying ROS biology

The cheapest and quickest way to study ROS in *in vitro* cultures or *in vivo* is to use blockers of ROS production. Unfortunately, the use of blockers easily introduces technical artifacts that may severely compromise the reliability of the obtained results. Diphenylene iodonium (DPI) and apocynin are commonly used NOX inhibitors, which in addition to blocking the NOX enzymes, also fundamentally alter cell metabolism. To illustrate this, genetic and shRNA mediated inhibition of NOX2 complex function (van Bruggen et al. 2010) could not reproduce findings reported earlier in a highly cited journal using DPI and apocynin induced blockage of the NOX2 complex (Dostert et al. 2008). Thus, when scientific reliability is pursued, the use of chemical and pharmacological blockers of NOX enzymes should be avoided or complemented with more reliable techniques.

CGD patients are deficient in their NOX2 complex function and make an excellent reservoir of natural knockout cells of human origin. These samples are not, however, accessible to all research as the disease is (fortunately!) extremely rare and the accessibility of CGD samples is further complicated by the fact that most affected individuals are young people and children.

A much more expensive and time consuming alternative to chemical inhibitors are the genetically modified animals. Knockout mice of many ROS related genes have been developed during the last years and the most commonly used strain to study NOX2 complex function is the *Cyba* knockout (Pollock et al. 1995). Targeted knockout strains lacking functional *Ncf1* (Jackson, Gallin & Holland 1995), *Ncf2* (international mouse strain resource (IMSR) and *Ncf4* (Ellson et al. 2006b) enable the assessment of the physiological roles of the different NOX complex subunits *in vivo*. In addition to the targeted knock out strain, *Ncf4* has also been subjected to targeted germline mutagenesis to yield a more physiological mouse model to work with (Ellson et al. 2006a).

Most knockout mice are created on 129 genetic background, while most research is performed on black background. Thus, in addition to the inserted gene disruption cassette, in most knockout mice, there is a contaminating gene fragment around the gene of interest compromising the reliability of the littermate controls (Ahlqvist, Hultqvist & Holmdahl 2009, Wolfer, Crusio & Lipp 2002). Furthermore, the complete

removal of a specific protein may have severe and unpredicted developmental consequences that complicate the interpretation of the resulting phenotype.

The *Ncf1* mutated mouse used in this thesis (Hultqvist et al. 2004, Huang et al. 2000) is free from these problems. The *Ncf1<sup>m1J</sup>* mutation is a spontaneous point mutation and in addition, an extensive SNP analysis has confirmed that the *BQ.Ncf1.<sup>m1</sup>* strain widely used in this thesis does not carry a contaminating gene fragment from the original C57BL/6J genetic background. Furthermore, this mouse completely and globally lacks the functionality of the NOX2 complex, which results in total lack of inflammatory NOX2 complex derived superoxide. In rats, the same *Ncf1* gene exists in different naturally occurring functional variants (Olofsson et al. 2003). In contrast to the *Ncf1* mutated mouse, the congenic ROS deficient rat model has some remaining NOX2 complex activity. Lastly, ethylnitrosourea induced mutagenesis has produced a mutant strain lacking functional *Cyba* (Nakano et al. 2008).

The emerging knowledge in manipulation of the rat genome (Geurts et al. 2009) will, most likely provide us with an increasing number of genetically modified rats, thus expanding the possibilities and challenges of mouse research into rat research.

The role of different cell populations *in vivo* can be studied by using transgenic mice expressing the desired protein using cell specific promoters. The use of human CD68 promoter results in monocyte specific / predominant expression of the transgene (Gelderman et al. 2007, Gough, Gordon & Greaves 2001). The transgene may be present in several copies in the genome and it integrates in random places, thus potentially endangering the normal gene expression regulation of the host. The emergence of different conditional knockout and knockin mice combined with different tissue specificities will most likely provide the redox field with new tools to study physiological pathways affected by ROS.

#### 2.4.4.3 Imaging ROS

The distribution of large biomolecules such as proteins in the tissues of interest can be studied using histology and special staining methods. The use of conventional imaging approaches in redox biology is of limited use as ROS are short-lived and thus not well suited for *ex vivo* analysis. The use of different *in vivo* imaging techniques enables us to visualize the locations of ROS production. There are two main approaches to quantitate ROS production *in vivo*: genetically encoded fluorescent ROS indicators and injected, mostly luminescent ROS sensitive probes.

The genetically encoded indicators such as HyPer (fusion protein of YFP and OxyR) (Belousov et al. 2006) allow the expression of the desired probe in the cells of interest and can be used to dissect the compartmentalization of the ROS response even within a single cell (Malinouski et al. 2011). HyPer was successfully integrated in C. elegans genome (Back et al. 2012), suggesting that it may be possible to integrate this probe

also in the mouse genome. Another genetically encoded redox sensitive probe, that holds future potential as a ROS marker *in vivo*, is a GFP derivative (roGFP) that has been expressed as a transgene in erythrocytes (Xu et al. 2011). Stable expression of Peredox, which also is a GFP based probe, has allowed the analysis of cytosol redox balance in cultured and primary cells (Hung et al. 2011).

These genetically encoded ROS indicators are reported to tolerate even high doses of ROS. However, when fluorescence is used as a read-out in experiments comparing ROS sufficient and deficient cells or animals, it should be remembered that ROS may quench the fluorescent signal, thus potentially compromising quantitative analysis. In addition, these genetically encoded probes are subjected to the same limitations as other transgenic mice. Crossing the reporter mouse together with the gene of interest is a time and money consuming process that can be further complicated if the desired genes only exist on different genetic backgrounds.





A) The chemical formula of L-012. B) L-012 is a chemiluminescent probe that produces light when in contact with reactive species. C) Naïve mice were injected with 20 mg/kg L-012 and the luminescent signal in their front paws was followed for 35 minutes. Wild type (wt) mice gave significantly stronger luminescence signal than the Ncf1 mutated mice (MN-). Also mice with corrected ROS production on monocytes (MN+) produced significantly more ROS than their completely mutated littermates. Upper row of asterisks indicate significant differences between wild type and Ncf1 mutated mice, while the lower row stands for the differences between MN+ and MN-. D) Mice with ongoing collagen antibody-induced arthritis were injected with 20 mg/kg L-012 and luminescence intensity was visualized. In wild type mice all paws with even mild clinically apparent arthritis emitted ROS signal, while no ROS signal could be detected from the Ncf1 mutated mice that lack functionality of the NOX2 complex. Modified from (Holmdahl et al. 2012).
L-012 is an isoluminol derivative that holds improved sensitivity when compared to isoluminol and is a promising tool for *in vivo* imaging of ROS (Kielland et al. 2009). L-012 reacts with superoxide and peroxynitrite to emit light that can be detected (Daiber et al. 2004). This method is sensitive enough to detect the base line difference in ROS production between naïve NOX2 sufficient and deficient mice as visualized in Figure 7 and reproduced in (Han et al. 2012). This technique can visualize both very early and more advanced joint inflammation independently of the used arthritis model. Additionally, as an injected probe, it does not require mouse breeding and it is shown to work in nude, white and even black mice (Holmdahl et al. 2012, Kelkka et al. 2012a, Kielland et al. 2009, Pizzolla et al. 2012, Kelkka et al. 2012b). The weakness of this method is its low resolution. The resolution can be, however, improved and even three dimensional images can be obtained with a modern instrument.

## 3. AIMS

The goal of this thesis was to dissect role of ROS as immune regulators. Previous work in the research group headed by professor Rikard Holmdahl has established ROS as potent suppressors of adaptive immunity (Hultqvist et al. 2004, Olofsson et al. 2003, Gelderman et al. 2007, Hagenow et al. 2009, Gelderman et al. 2006), while the historical long standing scientific tradition describes ROS as enhancers of inflammation. The aim of this thesis was to analyze the role of ROS in T cell independent mouse models of arthritis and to extend the analysis to other immunologically relevant disease models such as cancer and peritonitis. The detailed aims of the sub-projects were as following.

- I: To analyze whether SOD3 can regulate inflammation severity in the absence of NOX2 complex derived superoxide.
- **II**: To study the role of NOX2 derived ROS in a T cell independent arthritis model and assess the effect of different immune stimulants on arthritis in mice with and without phagocyte ROS production.
- III: To study the role of macrophage ROS in septic arthritis and bacterial infection.
- **IV:** To analyze gene expression profiles of *Ncf1* mutated mice and CGD patients. Different stages of developing experimental murine autoimmune arthritis were included.
- V: To examine the role of NOX2 derived ROS in tumor development.

# 4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

For more detailed technical information the reader is referred to the materials and methods sections of the constituent original publications and manuscripts.

## 4.1 Mice

All mice were backcrossed onto the C57BL/10.Q.rhd genetic background, a strain with the DBA/1 H-2<sup>q</sup> fragment on a C57BL/10 background, shortly referred to as B10.Q (Holmdahl et al. 1986a). The *Ncf1* mutated mouse carried the m1J mutation and the *B10.Q.Ncf1<sup>m1J/m1j</sup>* (abbreviated *Ncf1\*/\**) (Hultqvist et al. 2004). The transgenic *B10.Q.Ncf1<sup>m1J/m1j</sup>*-*Tg(Ncf1)1Rhd* (briefly *MN*+) strain carried a transgene expressing functional *Ncf1* on macrophages using the human CD68 promotor (Gelderman et al. 2007). The transgene was always bred heterozygous and mice denoted as *MN*- are *Ncf1\*/\** littermate controls.

## 4.2 Inflammation models

## 4.2.1 CIA

Collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) was induced under isoflurane anesthesia by injecting 100  $\mu$ g rat collagen type II (CII) (purified from rat chondrosarcoma as described earlier) (Smith et al. 1975) emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) subcutaneously at the base of the tail.

## 4.2.2 CAIA

CAIA was induced by a single intravenous injection of the four monoclonal antibody cocktail as described earlier (Nandakumar, Holmdahl 2005). Arthritis was enhanced i.p. five or seven days later with the following immunostimulants: 25  $\mu$ g LPS (from *E. Coli 055:B5*), 200  $\mu$ g peptidoglycan (from *S. aureus*), 400 ng pertussis toxin (from *B. pertussis*), 2 mg zymosan A (from *S. cerevisiae*) and 200  $\mu$ l aluminum hydroxide gel (alum). These were purchased from SigmaAldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA. Synthetic MPL (25  $\mu$ g/mouse), flagellin (From *B. subtilis*, 7  $\mu$ g/mouse), gardiquimod (77  $\mu$ g/mouse), poly(I:C) (300  $\mu$ g/mouse) and LM (from *M. smegmatis*, 35  $\mu$ g/mouse) were purchased from InvivoGen, San Diego, California, USA.

## 4.2.3 Supportive techniques for arthritis

## Scoring

Arthritis development was monitored using a scoring system based on the number of inflamed joints in each paw, inflammation being defined by simultaneous swelling and redness of the affected joint (Holmdahl et al. 1998). Briefly, one point was given for

each swollen and red toe or knuckle and five points for a swollen and red ankle. Maximum score per paw was 15 points summing up to the maximum of 60 points per mouse.

## Histology

Formalin fixed joints were decalcified in EDTA, tris and polyvinyl pyrridoline containing buffer (pH 6.9), dehydrated and embedded in paraffin blocks and  $5\mu$  sections were stained with either hematoxylin-eosin (HE) or safranin.

### Anti CII antibody analysis

Serum anti-CII antibody titers were analyzed as described in (Hultqvist et al. 2004). Briefly, Maxisorb plates (Nunc) were coated over night with 50  $\mu$ l of 10 mg/ml of rat CII. Plates were blocked with 1 % BSA in PBS for 1h at RT and diluted serum samples (50  $\mu$ l) were incubated overnight +4°C. Bound antibodies were detected with biotinylated antibody against immunoglobulin kappa chain and detected with streptavidin conjugated europium (Perkin Elmer) with Victor plate reader (Perkin Elmer, Turku, Finland). Serial dilutions from pooled serum from *B.10.Q.Ncf1\*/\** mice with CIA were used to create the standard curve.

## 4.2.4 Peritonitis

Peritonitis was induced with 5% proteose peptone (BD Difco, Sparks, MD, USA) and 10 ng IL-1 $\beta$  (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) in 1 ml PBS. After 18 hours peritoneal infiltrating cells were collected by peritoneal lavage, counted and subjected to differential counting.

## 4.3 Viral expression vectors

Replication deficient adenoviral E1-partially-E3-deleted AdBglII vectors (developed from serotype Ad5) expressing rabbit SOD3 (Ade-SOD3) or bacterial  $\beta$ -galactosidase lacZ (Ade-LacZ) (Laukkanen et al. 2001) were used in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments.

## 4.4 Tumor models

The B16-F10-luc-G5 melanoma cells (briefly B16-luc) (Xenogen), which stably express luciferase, injected subcutaneously in flanks under general anesthesia. *In vivo* bioluminescence imaging was performed as described in (Marttila-Ichihara et al. 2008). Mice were injected s.c. in the left flank with 150,000 Lewis Lung Carcinoma cells (ATCC, Manassas, USA) in the volume of 50 µl. Female C57Bl/6 TRAMP mice (Greenberg et al. 1995) heterozygous for the Probasin SV-40 Tag transgene were bred to non-transgenic C57Bl/6 males (Taconic M&B, Ry, Denmark), as well as to *Ncf1* mutated mice on a C57BL/6 background.

### 4.5 ROS analysis

#### 4.5.1 In vitro DHR and flow cytometry

Red blood cells were lysed from heparinized whole blood with hypotonic lysis buffer and leukocytes were surface stained with monoclonal antibodies (Table 2). Cells were incubated for 10 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 3  $\mu$ M dihydro-rhodamine 123 (DHR-123; Molecular Probes and Invitrogen Life Technologies) followed by 20 min activation at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 200 ng/ml PMA (Sigma-Aldhrich). The cells were acquired using the LSR II flow cytometer equipped with FACS Diva software (BD Biosciences). The results were analyzed with Flowing Software (Cell Imaging Core, University of Turku). The membrane impermeable DNA-binding dye 7-amino actinomycin (7-AAD) was used stain dying cells with compromised cell membrane integrity.

Ab	Conjugate	Clone	Manufacturer
CD16/CD32	Fc-block	2.4G2	BD
CD3e	FITC	145-2C11	BD
CD4	A647	RM4-5	BD
CD8	PerCp-Cy5.5	53-6.7	BD
CD8	PE	53-6.7	BD
B220	Pacific Blue	RA3-6B2	BD
CD11b	eFluor450	M1/70	eBioscience
Gr-1	FITC	RB6-8C5	BD
Gr-1	PE	RB6-8C5	BD
Gr-1	APC	RB6-6C5	eBioscience
Ly6g	PE-Cy7	1A8	BD
Ly6c	FITC	AL21	BD
CD45	APC-Cy7	30-F11	BD
F4/80	APC	BM8	eBioscience

Table 2 antibodies used in flow cytometry

#### 4.5.2 In vivo L-012

Isoflurane anesthetized mice were injected intraperitoneally with 20 mg/kg L-012 probe (Wako Chemicals, Neuss, Germany) dissolved in physiological saline (Kielland et al. 2009). The luminescent signal was detected with IVIS 50 bioluminescent system (Xenogen, Alameda, California, USA) after the probe injection. Image acquisition and analysis were performed with Living Image software (Xenogen).

## 4.6 Statistics

Mann-Whitney U (non-parametric data or data that was not normally distributed) and Student's T test (parametric and normally distributed data) were used for two-group

comparisons, while Kruskall-Wallis (non-parametric data or data that was not normally distributed) or ANOVA (parametric and normally distributed data) were used for comparisons of three of more groups. Intregroup comparisons of arthritis incidence were analyzed using Fisher's exact test and survival analysis in tumor experiments was performed using log rank test. Average  $\pm$ SEM is presented in all figures and all p-values < 0.05 were considered as significant.

## 4.7 Genome wide gene-expression analysis

Mouse samples were hybridized on Sentrix BeadChip Array MouseRef-8 v2 (Illumina) arrays and HumanHT-12 v3 Espression BeadChip (Illumina) arrays were used for all human samples. The microarray data was quartile-normalized and log2-transformed. Differentially regulated genes were identified using linear modeling (LIMMA packages, Bioconductor). For all further analysis adjusted p-vales <0.05 are considered as significantly differentially regulated. The canonical pathways were generated through the use of Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA, (Ingenuity Systems, www.ingenuity.com). Selected transcripts passing inclusion criteria (adj. p-value < 0.05 and FC > 1.5 or FC < -1.5, for mouse spleen samples FC > 2 or FC < -2) were manually classified into three functional categories: interferon regulated genes (IRG), lymphocyte related genes (LC), genes with clear inflammatory function (INFL) and miscellaneous (Misc.).

## 4.8 Data presentation and validation

Novel, previously unpublished findings were always confirmed in two or more independent experiments with identical setup. Whenever possible, pooled data from all experiments is shown to avoid selection bias and normalization was carried out to adjust for baseline differences when appropriate. Experiments that were performed in different animal facilities were not pooled, but a representative experiment is selected. Similarly, ROS production assays (*in vitro* and *in vivo*) were not pooled as the results were successfully reproduced several times and representative results are presented in several of the constituent papers. To meet the three Rs principles for humane and ethical conduct of animal work (http://www.nc3rs.org.uk), negative results that were without scientific novelty were not repeated.

# 5. **RESULTS**

## 5.1 NOX2 complex derived ROS suppress arthritis (I, II, IV)

The arthritis suppressing capacity of phagocyte derived ROS was replicated in all CIA experiments presented in this thesis. In paper I, *Ncf1* mutated and wild type mice were analyzed in parallel in the same experiment and significantly more severe arthritis was observed the *Ncf1* mutated mice. Similarly, both CIA experiments that were performed to collect samples for genome wide gene expression analysis (paper IV) clearly demonstrated the arthritis suppressing capacity of phagocyte ROS. This is well in line with the previous findings (Hultqvist et al. 2004).

In paper II, *Ncf1* mutated mice that were over 100 days of age, developed more severe collagen antibody induced-arthritis than the wild type mice during the early phase of CAIA. No ROS induced difference could be observed in younger mice (< 100 days old).

# 5.2 NOX2 complex derived superoxide enhances arthritis that is induced by agents of bacterial origin (II & III)

Neutrophil derived ROS are traditionally considered as inflammation promoting and also this study revealed settings where ROS promotes inflammation. In paper II, *S. aureus*-induced septic arthritis was more severe in *Ncf1* wild type mice than in the ROS deficient *Ncf1* mutant mice. Similarly, in paper III, the wild type mice developed more severe LPS stimulated CAIA than the *Ncf1* mutated mice. In both cases, arthritis is induced or stimulated by bacteria or bacterial components and to dissect further the pathologic process driving the ROS dependent enhancement of inflammation, we continued by assessing the impact of different innate immunity stimuli on the severity of antibody-induced arthritis.

CAIA was stimulated with synthetic MPL and LM (from *M. Smegmatis*), a TLR4 and TLR2 agonist (Doz et al. 2007) respectively. Both substances enhanced arthritis, LM more potently than MPL, but only LM-stimulated arthritis was enhanced by phagocyte ROS. By using TLR4 deficient mice (Poltorak et al. 1998), we confirmed, that the ROS dependent arthritis enhancement was not affected by TLR4 signaling. Thus the results strongly suggest that the observed arthritis enhancement by ROS is mediated via a TLR2 regulated pathway.

Another question we wanted to elucidate in paper III, was the identity of the inflammation promoting immune cells in the ROS sufficient wild type mice. Macrophage predominant transgenic expression of NCF1 did not enhance LM stimulated arthritis and thus, we concluded that the ROS stimulated arthritis

enhancement is induced by neutrophils. Histological analysis of haematoxylin and eosin and safranin stained tissue sections confirmed the presence of massive neutrophil infiltration in the arthritic joints, further supporting the role of neutrophils as mediators of ROS driven arthritis enhancement. These results are in line with previous results from different antibody-induced arthritis models that have been reported to be dependent on neutrophilic granulocytes (Nandakumar, Svensson & Holmdahl 2003, Tanaka et al. 2006, Monach et al. 2010).

# 5.3 Superoxide dismutase 3 limits collagen-induced arthritis and peritonitis in the absence of phagocyte oxidative burst (I)

SOD3 has been repeatedly shown to suppress arthritis and other inflammatory diseases (Folz, Abushamaa & Suliman 1999, Yao et al. 2010, Auten et al. 2006, Sjoquist et al. 1991, Yu et al. 2008, Dai et al. 2003, Iyama et al. 2001a, Laurila et al. 2009a). The aim of this part of the project was to analyze whether SOD3 can regulate inflammation in the absence of NOX2 complex derived superoxide.

We used *Ncf1* mutated mice that lack NOX2 complex function together with wild type mice to assess the effect of virally expressed SOD3 on arthritis and peritonitis. As expected, CIA was significantly more severe in the Ncfl mutated than in the wild type mice (Hultqvist et al. 2004). As reported previously in the literature, the wild type mice with intact ROS production responded well to the SOD3 treatment (Yu et al. 2008, Dai et al. 2003, Iyama et al. 2001b) and the SOD3 treated paws exhibited significantly lower arthritis severity than the control virus treated. In wild type mice, arthritis severity was significantly reduced in the treated paw five days after the treatment injection, which coincided well with high expression of virally produced SOD3. Rather surprisingly, similar results were obtained from the Ncfl mutated mice; SOD3 expression suppressed arthritis severity also in the absence of phagocyte ROS production. The observed transient reduction in arthritis severity in both genotypes was restricted to the treated paw as the sum score of the non-treated paws was not affected. This suggests that SOD3 locally restricts inflammation by modulating the innate effector mechanisms, and does not modulate the underlying adaptive arthritogenic process.

The NOX2 complex independent, but SOD3 mediated reduction in inflammation severity was confirmed in peritonitis experiments. Peritonitis was terminated and peritoneal exudate was collected three days after peritonitis induction, at a time point that corresponded macrophage entrance into the inflamed peritoneal cavity. As reported in the literature, the SOD3 treated wild type mice had less infiltrating macrophages than the control virus treated (Laurila et al. 2009b). The reduction in peritoneal inflammation was reproduced in the NOX2 complex deficient mouse, although the difference war smaller. In peritonitis, there was no difference in peritoneal

cellularity between the *Ncf1* mutated and wild type mice, suggesting that NOX2 complex does not regulate proteose-peptone induced peritonitis.

Lastly, both the treatment virus and the control virus induced significant increase in inflammation severity in both inflammation models and in both genotypes investigated. A less immunogenic approach would be needed to perform a more detailed analysis of SOD3 mediated NOX2 complex independent suppression of inflammation.

Taken together, these results suggest that SOD3 can suppress inflammation in the absence of NOX2 derived superoxide. Supporting results, suggesting an antiinflammatory role for SOD3 even in the absence of NOX2 superoxide have been obtained by using a SOD mimetic (Seleme et al. 2012). The question of the actual origin of the inflammatory radicals remains elusive, and would make an interesting future project.

# 5.4 NOX2 complex function can be monitored in naïve and arthritic animals with L-012 imaging (I, II, III)

L-012 is an isoluminol derived luminescent probe that produces light upon contact with ROS (Daiber et al. 2004). Previously, this probe has been used to image inflammation *in vivo* (Kielland et al. 2009). Here, the method was further characterized and applied in an extended array of inflammation models. In paper I, L-012 is shown to indicate arthritic paws of wild type mice with CIA and in paper II, the possibilities of the probe were extended to CAIA. In addition to visualization of the late and severe phases of arthritis, the use of L-012 allowed quantitative analysis of the very mild early phase of antibody-induced arthritis that is challenging to evaluate by visual scoring. L-012 imaging corresponded well with inflammation severity and confirmed the visual scoring results. In paper III, the technique was successfully applied in naïve mice. A significantly lower luminescent signal was recorded from the *Ncf1* mutant mice than from the wild type and the transgenic MN+ mice.

# 5.5 The loss of NOX2 complex function results in type I interferon response in mouse and man (IV)

The aim of the project reported in paper IV was to perform genome wide gene expression analysis in ROS deficient *Ncf1* mutated mice and CGD patients. Hypothesis free data-analysis by means of Ingenuity pathway analysis software was complemented with more detailed manual examination of the differentially regulated genes. Type I interferon signature was identified as the major common feature in ROS deficient subjects in both man and mouse. In the next step, the mice were subjected to CIA and upon immune priming, the type I interferon response was further enhanced in the *Ncf1* mutated mice and associated with signs of type II interferon response.

The second transcriptional signature identified in CGD patients was the lymphocyte signature; genes mostly belonging to the B lymphocyte pathway were upregulated in the CGD patient cohort. In CGD patients the B cell compartment was expanded, which at least in part, explained the identified B cell signature. Interestingly, CGD patients had a decreased population of memory B cells as previously reported in (Bleesing et al. 2006).

In mouse, the arthritis development was associated with downregulation of both B and T lymphocyte transcripts in the *Ncf1* mutated mice. This could not be explained by alterations in cell populations, but highlights the role of adaptive lymphocyte dependent immune responses in arthritis initiation and progression.

The third major ROS regulated transcriptional pathway operating in mouse was the inflammatory pathway that mainly consisted of transcripts of granulocyte origin. An emerging expression of granulocyte related transcripts was observed in the *NcfI* mutated mice during the development of arthritis. This third pathway, however, could at least in part be explained by the slightly increased percentage of granulocytes in the analyzed blood and spleen samples.

# 5.6 The hyperinflammatory phenotype in the *Ncf1* mutated mice suppress the growth of implanted tumors (V)

The NOX2 complex is known as a potent modulator of immune responses and immune responses are known to regulate tumor growth. The exact role of ROS in the progression of solid tumors has not been addressed.

In this project we analyzed the growth development of four different tumor models in *Ncf1* mutated and wild type mice. *Ncf1* mutated mice developed smaller B16-FLT3L, B16-luc and LLC tumors than the wild type mice, while tumor development in the transgenic TRAMP-model was not affected by the *Ncf1* mutation. The results suggest that NOX2 complex derived ROS only supports tumor growth when the tumor is induced by injection of *in vitro* propagated cancer cells, but cannot affect the growth of endogenous tumors.

There was no difference in the vascularity of the B16-luc tumors collected from *Ncf1* and wild type mice, excluding the probability of NOX2 complex as regulator of tumor angiogenesis. Similarly, neither the expression of extracellular matrix components nor angiogenic factors was affected by phagocyte ROS in the LLC carcinoma model. Closer analysis of the cytokine profiles of the tumors revealed elevated expression of IL-4 in the LLC tumors collected from the *Ncf1* mutated mice, suggesting an immune-mediated, Th2 type of suppression of tumor growth in the *Ncf1* mutated mouse. This finding is in line with previous results showing Th2 mediated immunity as the enhancer of adjuvant-free arthritis in the absence of NOX2 complex derived ROS (Hagenow et al. 2009).

## 6. **DISCUSSION**

The five papers presented in this thesis have shed light on very different aspects of immunity ranging from different arthritis models to tumor biology and hyperinflammation observed in CGD patients. The broadness of the scientific focus has enabled a holistic approach to define of the role of ROS in immunity and inflammation.

#### 6.1 Excessive ROS production enhances innate inflammation

The classical concept of ROS as mediators and enhancers of inflammation was further defined in this thesis. Firstly, septic arthritis (paper III) was less severe in the ROS deficient *Ncf1* mutated mice and secondly, in paper II, CAIA was enhanced by NOX2 complex derived ROS. The proinflammatory nature of superoxide was further underlined in paper I, where SOD3, an enzyme converting superoxide into hydrogen peroxide suppressed arthritis and peritonitis.

The results presented in the paper II showed that TLR2 stimulated arthritis is enhanced by NOX2 complex derived ROS. Previous results suggest that arthritis is controlled by many TLRs including TLR2, TLR4 (Abdollahi-Roodsaz et al. 2008a, Abdollahi-Roodsaz et al. 2008b, Abdollahi-Roodsaz et al. 2007), TLR7, TLR9 (Hoffmann et al. 2011) TLR5 (Chamberlain et al. 2012) and TLR3 (Roelofs et al. 2009, Meng et al. 2010, Ospelt et al. 2008). NOX2 derived ROS have previously been reported to enhance TLR4 mediated acute lung injury (Imai et al. 2008), while no other TLR has been linked to arthritis enhancement by ROS. Thus, the potential role of TLR4 as a ROS regulated arthritis enhancer in CAIA needed to be addressed. Our results show that the TLR4 agonist MPL enhanced arthritis, but the enhancement was not regulated by NOX2 complex derived ROS. TLR2 agonist LM, however, enhanced arthritis more potently in the presence of functional NOX2 complex. TLR4 deficiency was not found to affect arthritis severity in LM stimulated CAIA, further supporting the role of TLR2 in ROS mediated enhancement of inflammation.

Optimally, the results could have been further confirmed by using a TLR2 deficient mouse strain. This was not, however, done because both TLR2 deficient mouse strains that are available as alive repositories are knock-out mice (Takeuchi et al. 1999, Wooten et al. 2002) and even extensive backcrossing (at least 3 years of mouse breeding) would not have resulted in a genetically uncompromised *Ncf1* mutated TLR2 deficient mouse. Thus, further *in vivo* verification of the obtained results was not feasible with the tools available today. LM most likely modulates immune responses by binding to other innate receptors than the TLRs (e.g. NOD-like and RIG-I-like receptors and lectins). The work to define the exact receptor binding properties of LM, however, fell outside the scope of this thesis.

The interplay between NOX2 complex derived ROS and TLR2 has been suggested even earlier, as TLR2 is shown to induce ROS production via direct physical contact with NOX2 (Yang et al. 2009). In addition, it has been reported that a TLR2 blocking antibody can impair ROS production in human eosinophils thus suppressing inflammation (Driss et al. 2009).

Transgenic expression of NCF1 restores the functionality of the NOX2 complex on macrophages, but not on granulocytes in MN+ mice (Pizzolla et al. 2012). In TLR2 stimulated CAIA, this was not enough to enhance arthritis which enabled us to conclude that the ROS dependent enhancement of TLR2 stimulated CAIA was not mediated by macrophages.

Earlier studies addressing the role of neutrophils in antibody-induced arthritis have largely relied on cell depletion experiments using the monoclonal anti-Gr-1 (antibody clone RB6) antibody. These experiments have shown that Gr-1 positive cells are essential for arthritis development (Tanaka et al. 2006, Nandakumar et al. 2004, Wipke, Allen 2001), but as showed in (Daley et al. 2008) the use of Gr-1 antibody leads to co-depletion of a marked number of monocyte lineage cells. Monach et al. 2010 (Monach et al. 2010) used a knockout mouse (Gfi1-/-) lacking functional neutrophils to conclusively show the neutrophil dependency of serum-induced arthritis. The results presented in this thesis take advantage of a novel approach to study the role of different myeloid cell's role in antibody-induced arthritis. Instead of disrupting the physiological balance by depleting cells, we expressed functional NOX2 complex on monocyte lineage. The results show that monocyte derived ROS do not regulate CAIA and the essential role of neutrophils as regulators of CAIA severity is further supported by the neutrophilic infiltrate in the inflamed joints revealed by histopathology.

The experimental approach in septic arthritis and antibody-induced arthritis did not allow more detailed dissection of the specific radical that induced the enhancement of inflammation. Results from SOD3 experiments completed the picture by suggesting that superoxide mediates the enhancement of inflammation while locally produced hydrogen peroxide is significantly less inflammatory or even anti-inflammatory.

The anti-inflammatory effect of SOD3 has previously only been studied in ROS sufficient *in vivo* models. Here we showed that it counteracts inflammation even in the absence of functional NOX2 complex. Our results do not, however, address the question about the actual source of the superoxide that SOD3 converts into hydrogen peroxide in the absence of the NOX2 complex. Similar results as obtained in this study, were recently reported by Seleme et al. (Seleme et al. 2012), who reported that SOD3 downregulate the expression of proinflammatory mediators in both wild type and NOX2 complex deficient cells. Similarly to our data, the extent of immune suppression was less pronounced in the *Ncf1* mutated mice than in the wild type controls. Taken together, this data suggest that in NOX2 complex sufficient systems SOD3 removes

proinflammatory superoxide that is produced by the NOX2 complex and by some other ROS generating mechanism.

It should be noted that we did not directly address the question, whether the enzymatic activity of SOD3 is required for its anti-inflammatory function. In our study, the arthritis ameliorating effect of SOD3 was strictly limited to the injection site and could not downregulate arthritis in other, untreated paws. Thus, the results support the view of SOD3 as a local modulator of the innate immune system that does not modulate the underlying systemic adaptive immune response.

## 6.2 NOX2 complex derived ROS suppress T cell mediated inflammation

NOX2 complex derived ROS are shown to downregulate inflammation in many T cell dependent arthritis models as discussed in the literature review above. The arthritis suppressing capability of phagocyte ROS was replicated in several arthritis experiments reported in papers I, II and IV and additionally, an enhanced immune reaction against implanted tumors was observed in paper V.

NOX2 derived superoxide has been reported to suppress the collagen-induced arthritis mediating Th1 (Gelderman et al. 2007) and Th17 (George-Chandy et al. 2008) responses. Downregulation of both Th1 and Th17 responses was discovered in CIA models that were induced by using CFA. In addition, NOX2 complex derived ROS has also been shown to suppress the Th2 polarized adjuvant-free arthritis model induced by an injection of purified CII alone (Hagenow et al. 2009). In paper V, we found elevated expression levels of the typical Th2 cytokine IL-4 in implanted tumors that were collected from the *Ncf1* mutated mice. Our finding is in line with the previous findings as the anti-tumoral response in the ROS deficient mice developed without the use of adjuvants.

The antibody induced phase of CAIA was more severe in mice without functional phagocyte ROS production. This difference was only seen in mice that were over 100 days of age at the time of arthritis induction. An earlier report has shown that serum-induced arthritis is not controlled by NOX2 complex derived ROS. However, it should be noted that the experimental work was performed using young mice and remarkably, the NOX2 complex deficient mice showed a clear trend to develop more severe arthritis than the wild types (Wipke, Allen 2001).

The involvement of the adaptive immune system in regulation of the CAIA phenotype seen in the old mice cannot be conclusively demonstrated without using e.g. TCR knockout mice. The hypothesis suggesting adaptive immunity as the regulator of the early phase of CAIA is supported by the findings demonstrating autoantibody formation and spontaneous arthritis in elderly *Ncf1* knockout (Lee et al. 2011)and post-partum *Ncf1* mutated mice (Hultqvist et al. 2004).

The longer the mouse lives, the longer time its immune system has to interact with the surrounding flora. Results from Diane Mathis' group highlight the role of environmental flora in arthritis induction via the Th17 pathway (Wu et al. 2010). In addition, also the so called SKG mouse with a T cell mediated hyperinflammatory phenotype is shown to develop spontaneous arthritis in conventional animal facility, while clean specific pathogen free housing environment blocks the development of spontaneous arthritis (Yoshitomi et al. 2005). It has also been reported, that *Ncf1* mutated mice exhibit altered responses to bacterial and viral infections (Jackson, Gallin & Holland 1995, Imai et al. 2008) and thus the intestinal normal flora may be different in the genotypes. In the light of current literature it is tempting to speculate that environmental priming may differentially affect the activation status of the adaptive immune system in ROS sufficient and deficient mice and thus alter susceptibility to antibody-induced arthritis.

# 6.3 Type I interferon signature in the absence of phagocyte ROS in both mouse and man

Paper V describes a pronounced type I IFN response in both CGD patients and in its *Ncf1* mutated mouse model. Type I IFN response has not previously been associated with CGD, but is known to underlie autoimmune inflammation in SLE. Already as early as in the 70's two female heterozygous CGD carriers were reported to exhibit discoid lupus (autoimmune disease affecting the skin) (Schaller 1972). This association of CGD and SLE has been extensively confirmed and interestingly, Humbert et al. even used this information to identify CGD carriers among SLE patients (Humbert et al. 1976). Furthermore, a very recent report described exacerbated lupus in NOX2 complex deficient mouse (Campbell, Kashgarian & Shlomchik 2012). Thus, a lowered ROS response in humans, as well as in mice predisposes to type I IFN associated autoimmunity and SLE associated pathology.

SLE is the prototype autoimmune disease with an upregulated type I IFN signature (Bennett et al. 2003, Blanco et al. 2001). Other related autoimmune syndromes with Type I IFN signature include Sjögren's syndrome and inflammatory myopathies (dermatomyositis, polymyositis and juvenile dermatomyositis) as reviewed in (Pascual, Chaussabel & Banchereau 2010). Despite the increased interest, the role of type IFN I signaling in autoimmune arthritis remains controversial.

In paper V we report simultaneous upregulation of type I and II IFN responses in arthritic mice. Many reports have identified a type I IFN signature in samples collected from RA patients (Thurlings et al. 2010, Kraan et al. 2007, Mavragani et al. 2010, van der Pouw Kraan et al. 2008), while others have identified coexisting type I and II IFN signatures (van Baarsen et al. 2010, Karonitsch et al. 2012) or no type I signature at all (Smiljanovic et al. 2012). Most likely the variation in observations reflects the

heterogeneity of RA patients, and highlights the need for improved classification criteria for different patient groups.

Interestingly, local administration of IFN-beta has been reported to ameliorate adjuvant induced arthritis in rats and similarly, pristane-induced arthritis in rats is milder in animals with an enhanced type I IFN signature (Adriaansen et al. 2006, Olofsson et al. 2007). However, IFN-beta administration could not ameliorate disease activity in RA (van Holten et al. 2005). The variation in results could be, however, explained by the differences between rat and human arthritis.

The mechanism how the observed type I IFN signature arises was not addressed in our study. The first obvious candidate to trigger the type I IFN response would be viral infections. Other possible explanations include bacterial infections (Tomita et al. 2003, Apperloo-Renkema et al. 1995) and similarly, also immunocomplexes containing amino acids released from necrotic /late apoptotic cells are shown to trigger type I IFN signaling in humans (Vallin et al. 1999) as reviewed in (Rönnblom, Alm & Eloranta 2011).

CGD patient's gene expression profiles have been analyzed twice in the litterature and both studies have identified an increased proinflammatory gene expression pattern in the CGD patients. The granulocyte signature was not associated with type I IFN signature in either of the studies. The difference in obtained results may be explained by the selection of analyzed sample material: We used peripheral whole blood, while the previous studies were performed using either stimulated neutrophilic granulocytes (Kobayashi et al. 2004b) or with selected monocytes (Brown et al. 2008). In our study, a pronounced granulocyte signature was observed in the arthritic mice, while naïve mice and CGD patients did not show signs of granulocyte signature. This verifies the good health status of the included CGD patients and our mouse colony.

The third main finding revealed by the gene expression analysis was the lymphocyte signature, which, similarly as the IFN response, was found in both mouse and man. CGD patients showed a pronounced upregulation of mainly B cell related transcripts, whereas in mouse, arthritis development was accompanied by an downregulation of both B and T cell associated genes. The B cell related lymphocyte signature detected in CGD patient samples could be explained by an expanded B cell compartment in the patient samples. Flow cytometry analysis of mouse samples, however, revealed an increase in B cell compartment but no marked differences could be detected in the T cell populations.

#### 6.4 The (dis)similarities between mouse and man

As discussed in (Mestas, Hughes 2004) there are multiple differences between the murine and human immune systems. The two species mostly differ on the molecular

level, while the main immunological pathways share a remarkable degree of similarity. The TLR repertoire serves as a good example to illustrate this. Humans express TLR10, while due to a retrovirus insertion the expression of TLR10 is inhibited in mouse. However, the functionality of the pathogen sensing pathway, the expression of the related TLR1, TLR2 and TLR6 is conserved between the two species (Guan et al. 2010).

*Ncf1* was identified as an arthritis regulator in rats, because it is polymorphic between different laboratory rat strains with different susceptibility to pristane-induced arthritis (Olofsson et al. 2003). In mouse, however, none of the NOX2 complex components shows an essential degree of polymorphism. Furthermore, in humans more than one hundred polymorphisms increase variance in phagocyte oxidant production capacity (Holmdahl et al. 2012). Despite the significant differences in NOX2 complex genetics, all three species with abrogated ROS production display highly similar hyperinflammatory phenotype. This functional similarity suggests that despite the gene level differences, the oxidation regulated immunological pathway is highly conserved between the three species.

The translational biomedical research is also challenged by the experimental disease models' capacity to imitate the human counterparts. Recent genome-wide expression analysis results published in PNAS show that acute inflammation models in mouse do not correlate well with corresponding human diseases (Seok et al. 2013). Furthermore, complex diseases that have large phenotypic variability even between different patients are not easy to mimic in experimental set-ups. This is well exemplified in MS, where the use of current animal models has produced important immunological understanding, but at least in part failed to respond to the needs of MS research (Croxford, Kurschus & Waisman 2011).

As discussed in the literature review, different arthritis models reflect different aspects of RA. Acute models display the characteristics of the fulminant inflammation taking place in the affected joints, while chronic models help to dissect the underlying adaptive immune reaction. Thus, one should always carefully interpret the experimental results keeping in mind the limitations of the used model. As exemplified by the TNF-alpha pathway blocking agents that are nowadays commonly used to treat RA (Feldmann, Maini 2001), animal models have instrumentally helped the scientific community to develop novel improved arthritis therapy modalities.

The results presented in the constituent paper IV validate the *Ncf1* mutated mouse model as an excellent tool to study ROS deficient hyperinflammation observed in CGD patients. These results also identify the ROS deficient mouse model a validated tool to study molecular pathways affected in RA patients with type I IFN signature (et al. 2007).

### 6.5 L-012 Imaging

As presented in three of the constituent papers, an *in vivo* imaging technique that is based on the use of a luminescent probe (L-012) was validated as an easy and reproducible tool to analyze ROS production and inflammation in live mice. The benefits of this method include its high sensitivity and harmlessness to the mouse, thus allowing repeated imaging sessions using the same animals. The effect of L-012 imaging to arthritis development was not directly assessed and would make an interesting future project. Thus, in CAIA experiments that were analyzed with L-012 imaging, all mice were subjected to L-012 injection and imaging associated exposure to anesthetics. In CIA, L-012 imaging was performed either when clinical data collection was terminated or alternatively using a satellite batch of mice. Naïve mice that were subjected for L-012 imaging were not included in arthritis experiments, but, when possible, these mice were reused to setup and optimize novel ex vivo methods after a recovery period.

L-012 imaging can be performed without special genetic inserts allowing its easy use on a broad range of mouse strains with low cost. L-012 cannot be used to detect any single reactive species. It produces light upon contact with superoxide and shows great sensitivity to peroxynitrite (Kielland et al. 2009, Daiber et al. 2004). It should be noted that as a chemical probe L-012 does not differentiate between reactive species originating from different sources. In addition to NOX2 complex activity (Kielland et al. 2009) and nitroglycerin administration (Minamiyama et al. 2006), xanthine oxidase activity (Westover, Harrison & Selemidis 2009) and mitochondrial respiration have been shown to give rise to L-012 luminescence (Daiber et al. 2004).

#### 6.6 Clinical implications and future directions

From the translational point of view, the most important finding reported in this thesis is the type I IFN response that was shared between mice and man lacking phagocyte ROS production. We were the first to successfully explain the immunological pathway leading to the hyperinflammatory findings repeatedly observed in CGD patients. This finding does not directly affect the treatment of the CGD patients. The key problem in these patients is the recurrent severe infections and the curative stem cell transplantation performed for most patients is also likely to stop the autoimmune progression. However, it will be interesting to follow the field and see whether the stem cell transplanted CGD patients with restored phagocyte ROS production will also lose the autoimmunity associated type I IFN signature. Furthermore, this work did not address the origin of the type I IFN signature in the ROS deficient subjects. Hopefully future work will define the role of environmental microbial priming as well as the role of endogenous antigens in the development of type I IFN response in the ROS deficient hyperinflammatory phenotype.

There is an increasing body of evidence connecting ROS and chronic inflammation (reviewed in (Holmdahl et al. 2012)). The observed type I IFN response in the autoimmunity prone ROS deficient subjects offers novel insights into the development of autoimmune inflammation and thus opens new possibilities for therapeutic intervention.

As reported by Hultqvist et al. (Hultqvist et al. 2006), phytol, a pro-oxidant counteract arthritis development in rats. The use of oxidants to suppress chronic inflammation could directly suppress the disease driving adaptive immune reaction. The results presented here support the use of pro-oxidants to suppress T cell activity in chronic inflammation.

In addition to the potent anti-inflammatory properties of the NOX2 complex derived ROS, this thesis increased our awareness of their pro-inflammatory, innate immunity stimulating role in certain situations. Neutrophil derived ROS enhanced antibody-induced arthritis by stimulating TLR2 dependent signaling as presented in the paper II. Arthritis enhancement was, however, transient and, in difference to real autoimmunity, not operated by the adaptive immune system. Similarly, in paper I SOD3 mediated conversion of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide was shown to suppress inflammation locally. In conclusion, the pro-inflammatory effects of ROS operated independently of the adaptive immune system. Even though antioxidants do not hold much potential to treat autoimmune diseases, local administration of antioxidants e.g. SOD3 may prove useful in inflammatory conditions that are not chronic and are locally orchestrated by the innate immune system.

# 7. CONCLUSIONS

The results presented in this this thesis confirmed the anti-inflammatory nature of phagocyte derived ROS. However, these results also illuminated the proinflammatory properties of ROS that mainly operate in innate immunity induced inflammation. Specific conclusions based in papers I-V are presented below.

- I: SOD3 was shown to suppress arthritis severity and peritoneal inflammation even in the absence of NOX2 complex derived superoxide.
- **II:** NOX2 complex derived ROS enhanced antibody-induced arthritis that was enhanced by a TLR2 ligand. The results strongly suggest that this enhancement of innate joint inflammation was mediated by neutrophilic granulocytes.
- **III:** Macrophage derived ROS gave protection in bacterial infections, but enhanced the associated septic arthritis. *In vivo* imaging of ROS production with L-012 revealed a significantly higher ROS signal in the naïve NOX2 complex sufficient mice than in the *Ncf1* mutated mice.
- IV: Gene expression analysis revealed a shared type I IFN signature in CGD patients and in the *Ncf1* mutated mice, both lacking NOX2 complex derived ROS. Importantly, this work validated the *Ncf1* mutated mouse as a highly relevant model to examine the ROS deficiency associated hyperinflammation in CGD patients.
- V: NOX2 derived ROS was shown to suppress the development of implanted tumors.

These results significantly increased our knowledge on the role of ROS as regulators of innate and adaptive immunity and in pathogenesis of different inflammatory diseases. This thesis described ROS as potent suppressors of adaptive immunity and inducers of type I IFN signature, but moderate enhancers of innate, neutrophilic granulocyte mediated inflammation. Thus, the previously conflicting wievs of ROS as suppressors or enhancers of inflammation could be merged and explained.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work presented in thesis has been carried out in Medical Inflammation Research, Lund University, Lund, Sweden and in Medicity Research Laboratory Turku, Finland. Special thanks are given to Professors Sirpa Jalkanen and Marko Salmi for providing excellent research facilities and fruitful collaboration with instructive discussions during all these years and to the head of Central Animal Laboratory Ulla-Marjut Jaakkola for creating excellent conditions for experimental animal work.

I am deeply grateful for my supervisors Professor Rikard Holmdahl and CSO Malin Hultqvist for the opportunity to learn science from the best. I wish to thank Rikard for the opportunity to explore the world of mouse redox immunology and also for the possibility to explore Skåne. Malin, a big thanks for helping my way with your always optimistic, practical and straight to the point hitting advice. Dosent Mikko Laukkanen as well as all other coauthors are warmly acknowledged for successful collaborations and all the interesting and cultivating discussions under way.

I wish to thank Professor Eeva Moilanen, M.D, PhD and Director Claus Haase, PhD for accepting to review this thesis and for the constructive criticism that has improved the quality of this book.

I want to give special thanks to Seija Lindqvist, Tiina Kyrölä and Toni Ilo together with all other animal technicians for the excellent care of my little friends in Mikro department of the Central Animal Laboratory of University of Turku. Your flexibility and ability to make things work is phenomenal. Angel Yao Mattisson and Elina Wiik are warmly acknowledged for helping with all the paperwork and for all the smiles under way.

I warmly thank all the numerous colleagues I have had the opportunity to work with during all these years in Turku, Lund and in Stockholm. And last but not least my boys: thanks for being my boys!

This study was financially supported by Nordic Center of Excellence in Disease Genetics, Svenska Kulturfonden, Turku Doctoral Programme in Biomedical Sciences and Maire Lisko Foundation. Additionally, The Finland Distinguished Professor (FiDiPro) program of the Finnish Academy and the Juselius Foundation are acknowledged for financially enabling the work of our group in Turku.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S., Joosten, L.A., Helsen, M.M., Walgreen, B., van Lent, P.L., van den Bersselaar, L.A., Koenders, M.I. & van den Berg, W.B. 2008a, "Shift from toll-like receptor 2 (TLR-2) toward TLR-4 dependency in the erosive stage of chronic streptococcal cell wall arthritis coincident with TLR-4-mediated interleukin-17 production", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 3753-3764.
- Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S., Joosten, L.A., Koenders, M.I., Devesa, I., Roelofs, M.F., Radstake, T.R., Heuvelmans-Jacobs, M., Akira, S., Nicklin, M.J., Ribeiro-Dias, F. & van den Berg, W.B. 2008b, "Stimulation of TLR2 and TLR4 differentially skews the balance of T cells in a mouse model of arthritis", *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 118, no. 1, pp. 205-216.
- Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S., Joosten, L.A., Roelofs, M.F., Radstake, T.R., Matera, G., Popa, C., van der Meer, J.W., Netea, M.G. & van den Berg, W.B. 2007, "Inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4 breaks the inflammatory loop in autoimmune destructive arthritis", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 2957-2967.
- Abu-Ghefreh, A.A. & Masocha, W. 2010, "Enhancement of antinociception by coadministration of minocycline and a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug indomethacin in naive mice and murine models of LPS-induced thermal hyperalgesia and monoarthritis ", BMC musculoskeletal disorders, vol. 11, pp. 276.
- Adriaansen, J., Kuhlman, R.R., van Holten, J., Kaynor, C., Vervoordeldonk, M.J. & Tak, P.P. 2006, "Intraarticular interferon-beta gene therapy ameliorates adjuvant arthritis in rats", *Human Gene Therapy*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 985-996.
- Ago, T., Kitazono, T., Ooboshi, H., Iyama, T., Han, Y.H., Takada, J., Wakisaka, M., Ibayashi, S., Utsumi, H. & Iida, M. 2004, "Nox4 as the major catalytic component of an endothelial NAD(P)H oxidase ", *Circulation*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 227-233.
- Ahlqvist, E., Hultqvist, M. & Holmdahl, R. 2009, "The value of animal models in predicting genetic susceptibility to complex diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 226.
- Aho, K., Palosuo, T., Raunio, V., Puska, P., Aromaa, A. & Salonen, J.T. 1985, "When does rheumatoid disease start? ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 485-489.
- Akashi, M., Hachiya, M., Paquette, R.L., Osawa, Y., Shimizu, S. & Suzuki, G. 1995, "Irradiation increases manganese superoxide dismutase mRNA levels in human fibroblasts. Possible mechanisms for its accumulation ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 270, no. 26, pp. 15864-15869.
- Ambruso, D.R., Knall, C., Abell, A.N., Panepinto, J., Kurkchubasche, A., Thurman, G., Gonzalez-Aller, C.,

Hiester, A., deBoer, M., Harbeck, R.J., Oyer, R., Johnson, G.L. & Roos, D. 2000, "Human neutrophil immunodeficiency syndrome is associated with an inhibitory Rac2 mutation ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 4654-4659.

- Ananworanich, J., Shearer, W.T. & Abramson, S.L. 2000, "Drug-induced lupus erythematosus in a child with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease", *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 1001.
- Apperloo-Renkema, H.Z., Bootsma, H., Mulder, B.I., Kallenberg, C.G. & van der Waaij, D. 1995, "Hostmicroflora interaction in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): circulating antibodies to the indigenous bacteria of the intestinal tract ", *Epidemiology and infection*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp. 133-141.
- Arnett, F.C., Edworthy, S.M., Bloch, D.A., McShane, D.J., Fries, J.F., Cooper, N.S., Healey, L.A., Kaplan, S.R., Liang, M.H. & Luthra, H.S. 1988, "The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 315-324.
- Aumann, K.D., Bedorf, N., Brigelius-Flohe, R., Schomburg, D. & Flohe, L. 1997, "Glutathione peroxidase revisited--simulation of the catalytic cycle by computer-assisted molecular modelling ", *Biomedical and environmental sciences : BES*, vol. 10, no. 2-3, pp. 136-155.
- Auten, R.L., O'Reilly, M.A., Oury, T.D., Nozik-Grayck, E. & Whorton, M.H. 2006, "Transgenic extracellular superoxide dismutase protects postnatal alveolar epithelial proliferation and development during hyperoxia", *American journal of physiology.Lung cellular and molecular physiology*, vol. 290, no. 1, pp. L32-40.
- Avalos, I., Chung, C.P., Oeser, A., Milne, G.L., Morrow, J.D., Gebretsadik, T., Shintani, A., Yu, C. & Stein, C.M. 2007, "Oxidative stress in systemic lupus erythematosus: relationship to disease activity and symptoms", *Lupus*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 195-200.
- Back, P., De Vos, W.H., Depuydt, G.G., Matthijssens, F., Vanfleteren, J.R. & Braeckman, B.P. 2012, "Exploring real-time in vivo redox biology of developing and aging Caenorhabditis elegans ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 850-859.
- Backlund, J., Li, C., Jansson, E., Carlsen, S., Merky, P., Nandakumar, K.S., Haag, S., Ytterberg, J., Zubarev, R.A. & Holmdahl, R. 2012, "C57BL/6 mice need MHC class II Aq to develop collagen-induced arthritis dependent on autoreactive T cells ", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, .
- Badolato, R., Notarangelo, L.D., Plebani, A. & Roos, D. 2003, "Development of systemic lupus erythematosus in a young child affected with chronic granulomatous

disease following withdrawal of treatment with interferon-gamma", *Rheumatology*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 804-U6.

- Banfi, B., Clark, R.A., Steger, K. & Krause, K.H. 2003, "Two novel proteins activate superoxide generation by the NADPH oxidase NOX1 ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 6, pp. 3510-3513.
- Banfi, B., Malgrange, B., Knisz, J., Steger, K., Dubois-Dauphin, M. & Krause, K.H. 2004, "NOX3, a superoxide-generating NADPH oxidase of the inner ear ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 279, no. 44, pp. 46065-46072.
- Banfi, B., Molnar, G., Maturana, A., Steger, K., Hegedus, B., Demaurex, N. & Krause, K.H. 2001, "A Ca(2+)-activated NADPH oxidase in testis, spleen, and lymph nodes ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 40, pp. 37594-37601.
- Bánfi, B., Tirone, F., Durussel, I., Knisz, J., Moskwa, P., Molnár, G.Z., Krause, K.-. & Cox, J.A. 2004, "Mechanism of Ca2+ Activation of the NADPH Oxidase 5 (NOX5)", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 279, no. 18, pp. 18583-18591.
- Barton, A., Thomson, W., Ke, X., Eyre, S., Hinks, A., Bowes, J., Plant, D., Gibbons, L.J., Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, YEAR Consortium, BIRAC Consortium, Wilson, A.G., Bax, D.E., Morgan, A.W., Emery, P., Steer, S., Hocking, L., Reid, D.M., Wordsworth, P., Harrison, P. & Worthington, J. 2008, "Rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility loci at chromosomes 10p15, 12q13 and 22q13 ", *Nature genetics*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 1156-1159.
- Bedard, K., Jaquet, V. & Krause, K.H. 2012, "NOX5: from basic biology to signaling and disease ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 725-734.
- Bedard, K. & Krause, K.H. 2007, "The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology", *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 245-313.
- Begovich, A.B., Carlton, V.E., Honigberg, L.A., Schrodi, S.J., Chokkalingam, A.P., Alexander, H.C., Ardlie, K.G., Huang, Q., Smith, A.M., Spoerke, J.M., Conn, M.T., Chang, M., Chang, S.Y., Saiki, R.K., Catanese, J.J., Leong, D.U., Garcia, V.E., McAllister, L.B., Jeffery, D.A., Lee, A.T., Batliwalla, F., Remmers, E., Criswell, L.A., Seldin, M.F., Kastner, D.L., Amos, C.I., Sninsky, J.J. & Gregersen, P.K. 2004, "A missense single-nucleotide polymorphism in a gene encoding a protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTPN22) is associated with rheumatoid arthritis ", *American Journal of Human Genetics*, vol. 75, no. 2, pp. 330-337.
- Belousov, V.V., Fradkov, A.F., Lukyanov, K.A., Staroverov, D.B., Shakhbazov, K.S., Terskikh, A.V. & Lukyanov, S. 2006, "Genetically encoded fluorescent indicator for intracellular hydrogen peroxide", *Nature methods*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 281-286.

- Bennett, L., Palucka, A.K., Arce, E., Cantrell, V., Borvak, J., Banchereau, J. & Pascual, V. 2003, "Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood", *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 197, no. 6, pp. 711-723.
- Bianchi, M., Hakkim, A., Brinkmann, V., Siler, U., Seger, R.A., Zychlinsky, A. & Reichenbach, J. 2009, "Restoration of NET formation by gene therapy in CGD controls aspergillosis ", *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 13, pp. 2619-2622.
- Bjelakovic, G., Nikolova, D., Gluud, L.L., Simonetti, R.G. & Gluud, C. 2012, "Antioxidant supplements for prevention of mortality in healthy participants and patients with various diseases", *Cochrane database of* systematic reviews (Online), vol. 3, pp. CD007176.
- Blanco, P., Palucka, A.K., Gill, M., Pascual, V. & Banchereau, J. 2001, "Induction of dendritic cell differentiation by IFN-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus", *Science*, vol. 294, no. 5546, pp. 1540-1543.
- Bleesing, J.J., Souto-Carneiro, M.M., Savage, W.J., Brown, M.R., Martinez, C., Yavuz, S., Brenner, S., Siegel, R.M., Horwitz, M.E., Lipsky, P.E., Malech, H.L. & Fleisher, T.A. 2006, "Patients with chronic granulomatous disease have a reduced peripheral blood memory B cell compartment ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 176, no. 11, pp. 7096-7103.
- Brand, D.D., Latham, K.A. & Rosloniec, E.F. 2007, "Collagen-induced arthritis", *Nature protocols*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 1269-1275.
- Bresnihan, B., Alvaro-Gracia, J.M., Cobby, M., Doherty, M., Domljan, Z., Emery, P., Nuki, G., Pavelka, K., Rau, R., Rozman, B., Watt, I., Williams, B., Aitchison, R., McCabe, D. & Musikic, P. 1998, "Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist", *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 41, no. 12, pp. 2196-2204.
- Bridges, R.A., Berendes, H. & Good, R.A. 1959, "A fatal granulomatous disease of childhood; the clinical, pathological, and laboratory features of a new syndrome ", A.M.A.journal of diseases of children, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 387-408.
- Brown, J.R., Goldblatt, D., Buddle, J., Morton, L. & Thrasher, A.J. 2003, "Diminished production of antiinflammatory mediators during neutrophil apoptosis and macrophage phagocytosis in chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) ", *Journal of leukocyte biology*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 591-599.
- Brown, K.L., Bylund, J., MacDonald, K.L., Song-Zhao, G.X., Elliott, M.R., Falsafi, R., Hancock, R.E. & Speert, D.P. 2008, "ROS-deficient monocytes have aberrant gene expression that correlates with inflammatory disorders of chronic granulomatous disease", *Clinical immunology (Orlando, Fla.)*, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 90-102.
- Bruns, L., Frey, O., Morawietz, L., Landgraf, C., Volkmer, R. & Kamradt, T. 2009, "Immunization with an immunodominant self-peptide derived from

glucose-6-phosphate isomerase induces arthritis in DBA/1 mice ", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. R117.

- Bryk, R., Griffin, P. & Nathan, C. 2000, "Peroxynitrite reductase activity of bacterial peroxiredoxins ", *Nature*, vol. 407, no. 6801, pp. 211-215.
- Burton, K.P. 1985, "Superoxide dismutase enhances recovery following myocardial ischemia ", *The American Journal of Physiology*, vol. 248, no. 5 Pt 2, pp. H637-43.
- Bylund, J., Brown, K.L., Movitz, C., Dahlgren, C. & Karlsson, A. 2010, "Intracellular generation of superoxide by the phagocyte NADPH oxidase: how, where, and what for? ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 1834-1845.
- Campbell, A.M., Kashgarian, M. & Shlomchik, M.J. 2012, "NADPH oxidase inhibits the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus", *Science translational medicine*, vol. 4, no. 157, pp. 157ra141.
- Campbell, I.K., Hamilton, J.A. & Wicks, I.P. 2000, "Collagen-induced arthritis in C57BL/6 (H-2b) mice: new insights into an important disease model of rheumatoid arthritis", *European journal of immunology*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 1568-1575.
- Campfield, B.T., Nolder, C.L., Davis, A., Hirsch, R. & Nowalk, A.J. 2012, "The DBA/1 Strain Is a Novel Mouse Model for Experimental Borrelia burgdorferi Infection ", *Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 1567-1573.
- Carlens, C., Hergens, M.P., Grunewald, J., Ekbom, A., Eklund, A., Hoglund, C.O. & Askling, J. 2010, "Smoking, use of moist snuff, and risk of chronic inflammatory diseases ", *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, vol. 181, no. 11, pp. 1217-1222.
- Carnesecchi, S., Deffert, C., Pagano, A., Garrido-Urbani, S., Metrailler-Ruchonnet, I., Schappi, M., Donati, Y., Matthay, M.A., Krause, K.H. & Barazzone Argiroffo, C. 2009, "NADPH oxidase-1 plays a crucial role in hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury in mice ", *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, vol. 180, no. 10, pp. 972-981.
- Cemerski, S., van Meerwijk, J.P. & Romagnoli, P. 2003, "Oxidative-stress-induced T lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness is caused by structural modification rather than proteasomal degradation of crucial TCR signaling molecules", *European journal* of immunology, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 2178-2185.
- Chamberlain, N.D., Vila, O.M., Volin, M.V., Volkov, S., Pope, R.M., Swedler, W., Mandelin, A.M.,2nd & Shahrara, S. 2012, "TLR5, a novel and unidentified inflammatory mediator in rheumatoid arthritis that correlates with disease activity score and joint TNFalpha levels ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 189, no. 1, pp. 475-483.
- Cheng, G., Cao, Z., Xu, X., van Meir, E.G. & Lambeth, J.D. 2001, "Homologs of gp91phox: cloning and

tissue expression of Nox3, Nox4, and Nox5 ", Gene, vol. 269, no. 1-2, pp. 131-140.

- Cheng, G., Ritsick, D. & Lambeth, J.D. 2004, "Nox3 regulation by NOXO1, p47phox, and p67phox ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 279, no. 33, pp. 34250-34255.
- Chiurchiu, V. & Maccarrone, M. 2011, "Chronic inflammatory disorders and their redox control: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities", *Antioxidants & redox signaling*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 2605-2641.
- Choy, E.H., Isenberg, D.A., Garrood, T., Farrow, S., Ioannou, Y., Bird, H., Cheung, N., Williams, B., Hazleman, B., Price, R., Yoshizaki, K., Nishimoto, N., Kishimoto, T. & Panayi, G.S. 2002, "Therapeutic benefit of blocking interleukin-6 activity with an antiinterleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibody in rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation trial ", *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 3143-3150.
- Cobeta-Garcia, J.C., Domingo-Morera, J.A., Monteagudo-Saez, I. & Lopez-Longo, F.J. 1998, "Autosomal chronic granulomatous disease and systemic lupus erythematosus with fatal outcome", *British journal of rheumatology*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 109-111.
- Cohen, S.B., Emery, P., Greenwald, M.W., Dougados, M., Furie, R.A., Genovese, M.C., Keystone, E.C., Loveless, J.E., Burmester, G.R., Cravets, M.W., Hessey, E.W., Shaw, T., Totoritis, M.C. & REFLEX Trial Group 2006, "Rituximab for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy: Results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial evaluating primary efficacy and safety at twenty-four weeks ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 2793-2806.
- Colston, J.T., de la Rosa, S.D., Strader, J.R., Anderson, M.A. & Freeman, G.L. 2005, "H2O2 activates Nox4 through PLA2-dependent arachidonic acid production in adult cardiac fibroblasts ", *FEBS letters*, vol. 579, no. 11, pp. 2533-2540.
- Cook, A.D., De Nardo, C.M., Braine, E.L., Turner, A.L., Vlahos, R., Way, K.J., Beckman, S.K., Lenzo, J.C. & Hamilton, J.A. 2010, "Urokinase-type plasminogen activator and arthritis progression: role in systemic disease with immune complex involvement", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. R37.
- Cook, A.D., Gray, R., Ramshaw, J., Mackay, I.R. & Rowley, M.J. 2004, "Antibodies against the CB10 fragment of type II collagen in rheumatoid arthritis ", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. R477-83.
- Cook, A.D., Rowley, M.J., Stockman, A., Muirden, K.D. & Mackay, I.R. 1994, "Specificity of antibodies to type II collagen in early rheumatoid arthritis ", *The Journal of rheumatology*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 1186-1191.
- Corzo, C.A., Cotter, M.J., Cheng, P., Cheng, F., Kusmartsev, S., Sotomayor, E., Padhya, T.,

McCaffrey, T.V., McCaffrey, J.C. & Gabrilovich, D.I. 2009, "Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 182, no. 9, pp. 5693-5701.

- Courtenay, J.S., Dallman, M.J., Dayan, A.D., Martin, A. & Mosedale, B. 1980, "Immunisation against heterologous type II collagen induces arthritis in mice ", *Nature*, vol. 283, no. 5748, pp. 666-668.
- Cross, J.V. & Templeton, D.J. 2004, "Oxidative stress inhibits MEKK1 by site-specific glutathionylation in the ATP-binding domain ", *The Biochemical journal*, vol. 381, no. Pt 3, pp. 675-683.
- Croxford, A.L., Kurschus, F.C. & Waisman, A. 2011, "Mouse models for multiple sclerosis: historical facts and future implications ", *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, vol. 1812, no. 2, pp. 177-183.
- Cui, X.L., Brockman, D., Campos, B. & Myatt, L. 2006, "Expression of NADPH oxidase isoform 1 (Nox1) in human placenta: involvement in preeclampsia ", *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 4-5, pp. 422-431.
- Cunninghame Graham, D.S., Morris, D.L., Bhangale, T.R., Criswell, L.A., Syvänen, A.C., Rönnblom, L., Behrens, T.W., Graham, R.R. & Vyse, T.J. 2011, "Association of NCF2, IKZF1, IRF8, IFIH1, and TYK2 with systemic lupus erythematosus ", *PLoS* genetics, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. e1002341.
- Daha, N.A., Kurreeman, F.A., Marques, R.B., Stoeken-Rijsbergen, G., Verduijn, W., Huizinga, T.W. & Toes, R.E. 2009, "Confirmation of STAT4, IL2/IL21, and CTLA4 polymorphisms in rheumatoid arthritis ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 1255-1260.
- Dai, L., Claxson, A., Marklund, S.L., Feakins, R., Yousaf, N., Chernajovsky, Y. & Winyard, P.G. 2003, "Amelioration of antigen-induced arthritis in rats by transfer of extracellular superoxide dismutase and catalase genes", *Gene therapy*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 550-558.
- Daiber, A., Oelze, M., August, M., Wendt, M., Sydow, K., Wieboldt, H., Kleschyov, A.L. & Munzel, T. 2004, "Detection of superoxide and peroxynitrite in model systems and mitochondria by the luminol analogue L-012 ", *Free radical research*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 259-269.
- Daley, J.M., Thomay, A.A., Connolly, M.D., Reichner, J.S. & Albina, J.E. 2008, "Use of Ly6G-specific monoclonal antibody to deplete neutrophils in mice", *Journal of leukocyte biology*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 64-70.
- De Bandt, M., Grossin, M., Driss, F., Pincemail, J., Babin-Chevaye, C. & Pasquier, C. 2002, "Vitamin E uncouples joint destruction and clinical inflammation in a transgenic mouse model of rheumatoid arthritis", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 522-532.
- De Deken, X., Wang, D., Many, M.C., Costagliola, S., Libert, F., Vassart, G., Dumont, J.E. & Miot, F. 2000, "Cloning of two human thyroid cDNAs encoding new members of the NADPH oxidase family ", *The*

Journal of biological chemistry, vol. 275, no. 30, pp. 23227-23233.

- De Ravin, S.S., Naumann, N., Cowen, E.W., Friend, J., Hilligoss, D., Marquesen, M., Balow, J.E., Barron, K.S., Turner, M.L., Gallin, J.I. & Malech, H.L. 2008, "Chronic granulomatous disease as a risk factor for autoimmune disease", *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 122, no. 6, pp. 1097-1103.
- Deffert, C., Carnesecchi, S., Yuan, H., Rougemont, A.L., Kelkka, T., Holmdahl, R., Krause, K.H. & Schappi, M.G. 2012, "Hyperinflammation of chronic granulomatous disease is abolished by NOX2 reconstitution in macrophages and dendritic cells", *The Journal of pathology*, .
- Dimitrov, J.D., Vassilev, T.L., Andre, S., Kaveri, S.V. & Lacroix-Desmazes, S. 2008, "Functional variability of antibodies upon oxidative processes", *Autoimmunity Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 574-578.
- Dohil, M., Prendiville, J.S., Crawford, R.I. & Speert, D.P. 1997, "Cutaneous manifestations of chronic granulomatous disease - A report of four cases and review of the literature", *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 899-907.
- Dostert, C., Petrilli, V., Van Bruggen, R., Steele, C., Mossman, B.T. & Tschopp, J. 2008, "Innate immune activation through Nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica", *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 320, no. 5876, pp. 674-677.
- Doz, E., Rose, S., Nigou, J., Gilleron, M., Puzo, G., Erard, F., Ryffel, B. & Quesniaux, V.F. 2007, "Acylation determines the toll-like receptor (TLR)dependent positive versus TLR2-, mannose receptor-, and SIGNR1-independent negative regulation of proinflammatory cytokines by mycobacterial lipomannan", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 282, no. 36, pp. 26014-26025.
- Driss, V., Legrand, F., Hermann, E., Loiseau, S., Guerardel, Y., Kremer, L., Adam, E., Woerly, G., Dombrowicz, D. & Capron, M. 2009, "TLR2dependent eosinophil interactions with mycobacteria: role of alpha-defensins", *Blood*, vol. 113, no. 14, pp. 3235-3244.
- Dubuisson, M., Vander Stricht, D., Clippe, A., Etienne, F., Nauser, T., Kissner, R., Koppenol, W.H., Rees, J.F. & Knoops, B. 2004, "Human peroxiredoxin 5 is a peroxynitrite reductase ", *FEBS letters*, vol. 571, no. 1-3, pp. 161-165.
- Edwards, J.C., Szczepanski, L., Szechinski, J., Filipowicz-Sosnowska, A., Emery, P., Close, D.R., Stevens, R.M. & Shaw, T. 2004, "Efficacy of B-celltargeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis ", *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 350, no. 25, pp. 2572-2581.
- El-Benna, J., Dang, P.M. & Gougerot-Pocidalo, M.A. 2008, "Priming of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase activation: role of p47phox phosphorylation and NOX2 mobilization to the plasma membrane", *Semin Immunopathol*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 279-289.

- Elliott, M.J., Maini, R.N., Feldmann, M., Long-Fox, A., Charles, P., Katsikis, P., Brennan, F.M., Walker, J., Bijl, H. & Ghrayeb, J. 1993, "Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with chimeric monoclonal antibodies to tumor necrosis factor alpha", *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1681-1690.
- Ellson, C., Davidson, K., Anderson, K., Stephens, L.R. & Hawkins, P.T. 2006a, "PtdIns3P binding to the PX domain of p40phox is a physiological signal in NADPH oxidase activation ", *The EMBO journal*, vol. 25, no. 19, pp. 4468-4478.
- Ellson, C.D., Davidson, K., Ferguson, G.J., O'Connor, R., Stephens, L.R. & Hawkins, P.T. 2006b, "Neutrophils from p40phox-/- mice exhibit severe defects in NADPH oxidase regulation and oxidantdependent bacterial killing ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 203, no. 8, pp. 1927-1937.
- Emmendorffer, A., Hecht, M., Lohmann-Matthes, M.-. & Roesler, J. 1990, "A fast and easy method to determine the production of reactive oxygen intermediates by human and murine phagocytes using dihydrorhodamine 123", *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 131, no. 2, pp. 269-275.
- Feldmann, M. & Maini, R.N. 2001, "Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned?", *Annual Review of Immunology*, vol. 19, pp. 163-196.
- Fenton, H.J.H. 1894, "Oxidation of tartaric acid in presence of iron", J. Chem. Soc., Trans., vol. 65, no. 65, pp. 899-911.
- Ferguson, P.J., Lokuta, M.A., El-Shanti, H.I., Muhle, L., Bing, X. & Huttenlocher, A. 2008, "Neutrophil dysfunction in a family with a SAPHO syndrome-like phenotype ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 10, pp. 3264-3269.
- Folz, R.J., Abushamaa, A.M. & Suliman, H.B. 1999, "Extracellular superoxide dismutase in the airways of transgenic mice reduces inflammation and attenuates lung toxicity following hyperoxia", *J Clin Invest*, vol. 103, no. 7, pp. 1055-1066.
- Forstrom, J.W., Zakowski, J.J. & Tappel, A.L. 1978, "Identification of the catalytic site of rat liver glutathione peroxidase as selenocysteine", *Biochemistry*, vol. 17, no. 13, pp. 2639-2644.
- Fujii, J., Ito, J.I., Zhang, X. & Kurahashi, T. 2011, "Unveiling the roles of the glutathione redox system in vivo by analyzing genetically modified mice ", *Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 70-78.
- Geiszt, M., Kopp, J.B., Varnai, P. & Leto, T.L. 2000, "Identification of renox, an NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 97, no. 14, pp. 8010-8014.
- Geiszt, M., Lekstrom, K., Witta, J. & Leto, T.L. 2003a, "Proteins homologous to p47phox and p67phox support superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase 1

in colon epithelial cells ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 22, pp. 20006-20012.

- Geiszt, M., Witta, J., Baffi, J., Lekstrom, K. & Leto, T.L. 2003b, "Dual oxidases represent novel hydrogen peroxide sources supporting mucosal surface host defense.", *The FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 1502-1504.
- Gelderman, K.A., Hultqvist, M., Holmberg, J., Olofsson, P. & Holmdahl, R. 2006, "T cell surface redox levels determine T cell reactivity and arthritis susceptibility", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, no. 34, pp. 12831-12836.
- Gelderman, K.A., Hultqvist, M., Pizzolla, A., Zhao, M., Nandakumar, K.S., Mattsson, R. & Holmdahl, R. 2007, "Macrophages suppress T cell responses and arthritis development in mice by producing reactive oxygen species", *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 117, no. 10, pp. 3020-3028.
- George-Chandy, A., Nordstrom, I., Nygren, E., Jonsson, I.M., Postigo, J., Collins, L.V. & Eriksson, K. 2008, "Th17 development and autoimmune arthritis in the absence of reactive oxygen species", *European journal of immunology*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 1118-1126.
- Geurts, A.M., Cost, G.J., Freyvert, Y., Zeitler, B., Miller, J.C., Choi, V.M., Jenkins, S.S., Wood, A., Cui, X., Meng, X., Vincent, A., Lam, S., Michalkiewicz, M., Schilling, R., Foeckler, J., Kalloway, S., Weiler, H., Menoret, S., Anegon, I., Davis, G.D., Zhang, L., Rebar, E.J., Gregory, P.D., Urnov, F.D., Jacob, H.J. & Buelow, R. 2009, "Knockout rats via embryo microinjection of zinc-finger nucleases", *Science* (New York, N.Y.), vol. 325, no. 5939, pp. 433.
- Glant, T.T., Mikecz, K., Arzoumanian, A. & Poole, A.R. 1987, "Proteoglycan-induced arthritis in BALB/c mice. Clinical features and histopathology", *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 201-212.
- Glant, T.T., Radacs, M., Nagyeri, G., Olasz, K., Laszlo, A., Boldizsar, F., Hegyi, A., Finnegan, A. & Mikecz, K. 2011, "Proteoglycan-induced arthritis and recombinant human proteoglycan aggrecan G1 domain?induced arthritis in BALB/c mice resembling two subtypes of rheumatoid arthritis", *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 63, no. 5, pp. 1312-1321.
- Go, Y.M., Gipp, J.J., Mulcahy, R.T. & Jones, D.P. 2004, "H2O2-dependent activation of GCLC-ARE4 reporter occurs by mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways without oxidation of cellular glutathione or thioredoxin-1 ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 279, no. 7, pp. 5837-5845.
- Gomez-Moyano, E., Vera-Casano, A., Moreno-Perez, D., Sanz-Trelles, A. & Crespo-Erchiga, V. 2010, "Lupus Erythematosus-Like Lesions by Voriconazole in an Infant with Chronic Granulomatous Disease", *Pediatric dermatology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 105-106.
- Gough, P.J., Gordon, S. & Greaves, D.R. 2001, "The use of human CD68 transcriptional regulatory sequences to direct high-level expression of class A scavenger

receptor in macrophages in vitro and in vivo", *Immunology*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 351-361.

- Greenberg, N.M., Demayo, F., Finegold, M.J., Medina, D., Tilley, W.D., Aspinall, J.O., Cunha, G.R., Donjacour, A.A., Matusik, R.J. & Rosen, J.M. 1995, "Prostate-Cancer in a Transgenic Mouse", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 92, no. 8, pp. 3439-3443.
- Gringhuis, S.I., Leow, A., Papendrecht-Van Der Voort, E.A., Remans, P.H., Breedveld, F.C. & Verweij, C.L. 2000, "Displacement of linker for activation of T cells from the plasma membrane due to redox balance alterations results in hyporesponsiveness of synovial fluid T lymphocytes in rheumatoid arthritis", *Journal* of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950), vol. 164, no. 4, pp. 2170-2179.
- Gringhuis, S.I., Papendrecht-van der Voort, E.A., Leow, A., Nivine Levarht, E.W., Breedveld, F.C. & Verweij, C.L. 2002, "Effect of redox balance alterations on cellular localization of LAT and downstream T-cell receptor signaling pathways", *Molecular and cellular biology*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 400-411.
- Guan, Y., Ranoa, D.R., Jiang, S., Mutha, S.K., Li, X., Baudry, J. & Tapping, R.I. 2010, "Human TLRs 10 and 1 share common mechanisms of innate immune sensing but not signaling", *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*), vol. 184, no. 9, pp. 5094-5103.
- Hagenow, K., Gelderman, K.A., Hultqvist, M., Merky, P., Backlund, J., Frey, O., Kamradt, T. & Holmdahl, R. 2009, "Ncf1-associated reduced oxidative burst promotes IL-33R+ T cell-mediated adjuvant-free arthritis in mice", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 183, no. 2, pp. 874-881.
- Han, W., Li, H., Segal, B.H. & Blackwell, T.S. 2012, "Bioluminescence imaging of NADPH oxidase activity in different animal models ", *Journal of* visualized experiments : *JoVE*, vol. (68). pii: 3925. doi, no. 68, pp. 10.3791/3925.
- Hashimoto, M., Hirota, K., Yoshitomi, H., Maeda, S., Teradaira, S., Akizuki, S., Prieto-Martin, P., Nomura, T., Sakaguchi, N., Kohl, J., Heyman, B., Takahashi, M., Fujita, T., Mimori, T. & Sakaguchi, S. 2010, "Complement drives Th17 cell differentiation and triggers autoimmune arthritis", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 207, no. 6, pp. 1135-1143.
- Heesemann, J., Gaede, K. & Autenrieth, I.B. 1993, "Experimental Yersinia enterocolitica infection in rodents: a model for human yersiniosis ", *APMIS : Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica, et Immunologica Scandinavica*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 417-429.
- Heliövaara, M., Aho, K., Aromaa, A., Knekt, P. & Reunanen, A. 1993, "Smoking and risk of rheumatoid arthritis ", *The Journal of rheumatology*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 1830-1835.
- Heo, J. 2004, "Superoxide Anion Radical Modulates the Activity of Ras and Ras-related GTPases by a Radical-based Mechanism Similar to That of Nitric

Oxide ", Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 280, no. 13, pp. 12438 <last\_page> 12445.

- Hiltbold, E.M., Poloso, N.J. & Roche, P.A. 2003, "MHC class II-peptide complexes and APC lipid rafts accumulate at the immunological synapse", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 170, no. 3, pp. 1329-1338.
- Hoffmann, M.H., Skriner, K., Herman, S., Baumann, C., Steiner, C.W., Ospelt, C., Meyer, B., Gleiss, A., Pfatschbacher, J., Niederreiter, B., Tuncel, J., Zanoni, G. & Steiner, G. 2011, "Nucleic acid-stimulated antigen-presenting cells trigger T cells to induce disease in a rat transfer model of inflammatory arthritis ", *Journal of Autoimmunity*, vol. 36, no. 3-4, pp. 288-300.
- Holland, S.M. 2010, "Chronic Granulomatous Disease", *Clinical reviews in allergy & immunology*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 3-10.
- Holmdahl, R., Carlsen, S., Mikulowska, A., Vestberg, M., Brunsberg, U., Hansson, A.S., Sundvall, M., Jansson, L. & Pettersson, U. 1998, "Genetic analysis of mouse models for rheumatoid arthritis" in *Human Genome Methods* CRC, New York, pp. 215-238.
- Holmdahl, R., Bailey, C., Enander, I., Mayer, R., Klareskog, L., Moran, T. & Bona, C. 1989, "Origin of the autoreactive anti-type II collagen response. II. Specificities, antibody isotypes and usage of V gene families of anti-type II collagen B cells ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 142, no. 6, pp. 1881-1886.
- Holmdahl, R., Bockermann, R., Backlund, J. & Yamada, H. 2002, "The molecular pathogenesis of collageninduced arthritis in mice--a model for rheumatoid arthritis", *Ageing research reviews*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 135-147.
- Holmdahl, R., Jansson, L., Andersson, M. & Jonsson, R. 1992, "Genetic, hormonal and behavioural influence on spontaneously developing arthritis in normal mice ", *Clinical and experimental immunology*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 467-472.
- Holmdahl, R., Klareskog, L., Andersson, M. & Hansen, C. 1986a, "High antibody response to autologous type II collagen is restricted to H-2q", *Immunogenetics*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 84-89.
- Holmdahl, R., Rubin, K., Klareskog, L., Larsson, E. & Wigzell, H. 1986b, "Characterization of the antibody response in mice with type II collagen-induced arthritis, using monoclonal anti-type II collagen antibodies ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 400-410.
- Holmdahl, R., Sareila, O., Pizzolla, A., Winter, S., Hagert, C., Jaakkola, N., Kelkka, T., Olsson, L.M., Wing, K. & Backdahl, L. 2012, "Hydrogen Peroxide As an Immunological Transmitter Regulating Autoreactive T Cells", *Antioxidants & redox* signaling, .
- Huang, C.K., Zhan, L., Hannigan, M.O., Ai, Y. & Leto, T.L. 2000, "P47(phox)-deficient NADPH oxidase

defect in neutrophils of diabetic mouse strains, C57BL/6J-m db/db and db/+", *Journal of leukocyte biology*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 210-215.

- Huber, R., Hof, P., Duarte, R.O., Moura, J.J., Moura, I., Liu, M.Y., LeGall, J., Hille, R., Archer, M. & Romao, M.J. 1996, "A structure-based catalytic mechanism for the xanthine oxidase family of molybdenum enzymes ", Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 93, no. 17, pp. 8846-8851.
- Hultqvist, M., Nandakumar, K.S., Bjorklund, U. & Holmdahl, R. 2010, "Rabeximod reduces arthritis severity in mice by decreasing activation of inflammatory cells", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 69, no. 8, pp. 1527-1532.
- Hultqvist, M., Olofsson, P., Gelderman, K.A., Holmberg, J. & Holmdahl, R. 2006, "A new arthritis therapy with oxidative burst inducers", *PLoS medicine*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. e348.
- Hultqvist, M., Olofsson, P., Holmberg, J., Backstrom, B.T., Tordsson, J. & Holmdahl, R. 2004, "Enhanced autoimmunity, arthritis, and encephalomyelitis in mice with a reduced oxidative burst due to a mutation in the Ncf1 gene", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 101, no. 34, pp. 12646-12651.
- Hultqvist, M., Olsson, L.M., Gelderman, K.A. & Holmdahl, R. 2009, "The protective role of ROS in autoimmune disease", *Trends in immunology*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 201-208.
- Humbert, J.R., Fishman, C.B., Weston, W.L., Dearmey, P.A. & Thoren, C.H. 1976, "Frequency of Carrier State for X-Linked Chronic Granulomatous Disease among Females with Lupus-Erythematosus", *Clinical* genetics, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 16-20.
- Hung, Y.P., Albeck, J.G., Tantama, M. & Yellen, G. 2011, "Imaging cytosolic NADH-NAD(+) redox state with a genetically encoded fluorescent biosensor ", *Cell metabolism*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 545-554.
- Ichida, K., Amaya, Y., Noda, K., Minoshima, S., Hosoya, T., Sakai, O., Shimizu, N. & Nishino, T. 1993, "Cloning of the cDNA encoding human xanthine dehydrogenase (oxidase): structural analysis of the protein and chromosomal location of the gene ", *Gene*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 279-284.
- Imai, Y., Kuba, K., Neely, G.G., Yaghubian-Malhami, R., Perkmann, T., van Loo, G., Ermolaeva, M., Veldhuizen, R., Leung, Y.H.C., Wang, H., Liu, H., Sun, Y., Pasparakis, M., Kopf, M., Mech, C., Bavari, S., Peiris, J.S.M., Slutsky, A.S., Akira, S., Hultqvist, M., Holmdahl, R., Nicholls, J., Jiang, C., Binder, C.J. & Penninger, J.M. 2008, "Identification of oxidative stress and toll-like receptor 4 signaling as a key pathway of acute lung injury", *Cell*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 235-249.
- Iyama, S., Okamoto, T., Sato, T., Yamauchi, N., Sato, Y., Sasaki, K., Takahashi, M., Tanaka, M., Adachi, T., Kogawa, K., Kato, J., Sakamaki, S. & Niitsu, Y. 2001a, "Treatment of murine collagen-induced

arthritis by ex vivo extracellular superoxide dismutase gene transfer", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2160-2167.

- Iyama, S., Okamoto, T., Sato, T., Yamauchi, N., Sato, Y., Sasaki, K., Takahashi, M., Tanaka, M., Adachi, T., Kogawa, K., Kato, J., Sakamaki, S. & Niitsu, Y. 2001b, "Treatment of murine collagen-induced arthritis by ex vivo extracellular superoxide dismutase gene transfer", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2160-2167.
- Jaalinoja, J., Nissilä, M., Kauppi, M.J., Hakala, M., Laiho, K., Karttunen, R., Hörkkö, S. & Ala-Kokko, L. 2008, "Serum antibodies against intact human collagen IX are elevated at onset of rheumatoid arthritis but are not related to development of erosions ", *The Journal of rheumatology*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 745-751.
- Jackson, S.H., Devadas, S., Kwon, J., Pinto, L.A. & Williams, M.S. 2004, "T cells express a phagocytetype NADPH oxidase that is activated after T cell receptor stimulation ", *Nature immunology*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 818-827.
- Jackson, S.H., Gallin, J.I. & Holland, S.M. 1995, "The P47(phox) Mouse Knock-Out Model of Chronic Granulomatous-Disease", *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 182, no. 3, pp. 751-758.
- Jacob, C.O., Eisenstein, M., Dinauer, M.C., Ming, W., Liu, Q., John, S., Quismorio, F.P.,Jr, Reiff, A., Myones, B.L., Kaufman, K.M., McCurdy, D., Harley, J.B., Silverman, E., Kimberly, R.P., Vyse, T.J., Gaffney, P.M., Moser, K.L., Klein-Gitelman, M., Wagner-Weiner, L., Langefeld, C.D., Armstrong, D.L. & Zidovetzki, R. 2012, "Lupus-associated causal mutation in neutrophil cytosolic factor 2 (NCF2) brings unique insights to the structure and function of NADPH oxidase ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. E59-67.
- Ji, H., Gauguier, D., Ohmura, K., Gonzalez, A., Duchatelle, V., Danoy, P., Garchon, H.J., Degott, C., Lathrop, M., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. 2001, "Genetic influences on the end-stage effector phase of arthritis ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 194, no. 3, pp. 321-330.
- Jobling, M.F., Mott, J.D., Finnegan, M.T., Jurukovski, V., Erickson, A.C., Walian, P.J., Taylor, S.E., Ledbetter, S., Lawrence, C.M., Rifkin, D.B. & Barcellos-Hoff, M.H. 2006, "Isoform-specific activation of latent transforming growth factor beta (LTGF-beta) by reactive oxygen species", *Radiation research*, vol. 166, no. 6, pp. 839-848.
- Kalyanaraman, B., Darley-Usmar, V., Davies, K.J., Dennery, P.A., Forman, H.J., Grisham, M.B., Mann, G.E., Moore, K., Roberts, L.J.,2nd & Ischiropoulos, H. 2012, "Measuring reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with fluorescent probes: challenges and limitations", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 1-6.

- Karlsson, H.L. 2010, "The comet assay in nanotoxicology research ", Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, vol. 398, no. 2, pp. 651-666.
- Karonitsch, T., von Dalwigk, K., Steiner, C.W., Bluml, S., Steiner, G., Kiener, H.P., Smolen, J.S. & Aringer, M. 2012, "Interferon signals and monocytic sensitization of the interferon-gamma signaling pathway in the peripheral blood of patients with rheumatoid arthritis", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 400-408.
- Keffer, J., Probert, L., Cazlaris, H., Georgopoulos, S., Kaslaris, E., Kioussis, D. & Kollias, G. 1991, "Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis ", *The EMBO journal*, vol. 10, no. 13, pp. 4025-4031.
- Kelkka, T., Hultqvist, M., Nandakumar, K.S. & Holmdahl, R. 2012a, "Enhancement of antibodyinduced arthritis via Toll-like receptor 2 stimulation is regulated by granulocyte reactive oxygen species", *The American journal of pathology*, vol. 181, no. 1, pp. 141-150.
- Kelkka, T., Laurila, J.P., Sareila, O., Olofsson, P., Laukkanen, M.O. & Holmdahl, R. 2012b, "Superoxide dismutase 3 limits collagen-induced arthritis in the absence of phagocyte oxidative burst", *Mediators of inflammation*, vol. 2012, pp. 730469.
- Keystone, E.C., Schorlemmer, H.U., Pope, C. & Allison, A.C. 1977, "Zymosan-induced arthritis: a model of chronic proliferative arthritis following activation of the alternative pathway of complement", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 1396-1401.
- Kielland, A., Blom, T., Nandakumar, K.S., Holmdahl, R., Blomhoff, R. & Carlsen, H. 2009, "In vivo imaging of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in inflammation using the luminescent probe L-012", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 760-766.
- Kim, T.K., Billard, M.J., Wieder, E.D., McIntyre, B.W. & Komanduri, K.V. 2010, "Co-engagement of alpha(4)beta(1) integrin (VLA-4) and CD4 or CD8 is necessary to induce maximal Erk1/2 phosphorylation and cytokine production in human T cells", *Human immunology*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 23-28.
- Klebanoff, S.J. 1968, "Myeloperoxidase-halide-hydrogen peroxide antibacterial system ", *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 2131-2138.
- Knight, D.M., Trinh, H., Le, J., Siegel, S., Shealy, D., McDonough, M., Scallon, B., Moore, M.A., Vilcek, J. & Daddona, P. 1993, "Construction and initial characterization of a mouse-human chimeric anti-TNF antibody ", *Molecular immunology*, vol. 30, no. 16, pp. 1443-1453.
- Kobayashi, S., Murayama, S., Takanashi, S., Takahashi, K., Miyatsuka, S., Fujita, T., Ichinohe, S., Koike, Y., Kohagizawa, T., Mori, H., Deguchi, Y., Higuchi, K., Wakasugi, H., Sato, T., Wada, Y., Nagata, M., Okabe, N. & Tatsuzawa, O. 2008, "Clinical features and prognoses of 23 patients with chronic granulomatous disease followed for 21 years by a single hospital in

Japan", *European journal of pediatrics*, vol. 167, no. 12, pp. 1389-1394.

- Kobayashi, S., Nojima, Y., Shibuya, M. & Maru, Y. 2004a, "Nox1 regulates apoptosis and potentially stimulates branching morphogenesis in sinusoidal endothelial cells ", *Experimental cell research*, vol. 300, no. 2, pp. 455-462.
- Kobayashi, S.D., Voyich, J.M., Braughton, K.R., Whitney, A.R., Nauseef, W.M., Malech, H.L. & DeLeo, F.R. 2004b, "Gene expression profiling provides insight into the pathophysiology of chronic granulomatous disease ", *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*), vol. 172, no. 1, pp. 636-643.
- Koga, T., Kakimoto, K., Hirofuji, T., Kotani, S., Ohkuni, H., Watanabe, K., Okada, N., Okada, H., Sumiyoshi, A. & Saisho, K. 1985, "Acute joint inflammation in mice after systemic injection of the cell wall, its peptidoglycan, and chemically defined peptidoglycan subunits from various bacteria", *Infection and immunity*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 27-34.
- Kohen, R. & Nyska, A. 2002, "Oxidation of biological systems: oxidative stress phenomena, antioxidants, redox reactions, and methods for their quantification", *Toxicologic pathology*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 620-650.
- Kollias, G., Papadaki, P., Apparailly, F., Vervoordeldonk, M.J., Holmdahl, R., Baumans, V., Desaintes, C., Di Santo, J., Distler, J., Garside, P., Hegen, M., Huizinga, T.W., Jungel, A., Klareskog, L., McInnes, I., Ragoussis, I., Schett, G., Hart, B.T., Tak, P.P., Toes, R., van den Berg, W., Wurst, W. & Gay, S. 2011, "Animal models for arthritis: innovative tools for prevention and treatment", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, .
- Korganow, A.S., Ji, H., Mangialaio, S., Duchatelle, V., Pelanda, R., Martin, T., Degott, C., Kikutani, H., Rajewsky, K., Pasquali, J.L., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. 1999, "From systemic T cell self-reactivity to organspecific autoimmune disease via immunoglobulins ", *Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 451-461.
- Kraaij, M.D., Savage, N.D., van der Kooij, S.W., Koekkoek, K., Wang, J., van den Berg, J.M., Ottenhoff, T.H., Kuijpers, T.W., Holmdahl, R., van Kooten, C. & Gelderman, K.A. 2010, "Induction of regulatory T cells by macrophages is dependent on production of reactive oxygen species", *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 107, no. 41, pp. 17686-17691.
- Kraan, T.C.T.M.v.d.P., Wijbrandts, C.A., van Baarsen, L.G.M., Voskuyl, A.E., Rustenburg, F., Baggen, J.M., Ibrahim, S.M., Fero, M., Dijkmans, B.A.C., Tak, P.P. & Verweij, C.L. 2007, "Rheumatoid arthritis subtypes identified by genomic profiling of peripheral blood cells: assignment of a type I interferon signature in a subpopulation of patients", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 1008-1014.
- Kraetsch, H.G., Unger, C., Wernhoff, P., Schneider, C., Kalden, J.R., Holmdahl, R. & Burkhardt, H. 2001, "Cartilage-specific autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis: characterization of a triple helical B cell

epitope in the integrin-binding-domain of collagen type II ", *European journal of immunology*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 1666-1673.

- Kuhns, D.B., Alvord, W.G., Heller, T., Feld, J.J., Pike, K.M., Marciano, B.E., Uzel, G., DeRavin, S.S., Priel, D.A., Soule, B.P., Zarember, K.A., Malech, H.L., Holland, S.M. & Gallin, J.I. 2010, "Residual NADPH oxidase and survival in chronic granulomatous disease ", *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 363, no. 27, pp. 2600-2610.
- Kundu, S., Ghosh, P., Datta, S., Ghosh, A., Chattopadhyay, S. & Chatterjee, M. 2012, "Oxidative stress as a potential biomarker for determining disease activity in patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis", *Free radical research*, .
- Kuppusamy, P. & Zweier, J.L. 1989, "Characterization of free radical generation by xanthine oxidase. Evidence for hydroxyl radical generation ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 264, no. 17, pp. 9880-9884.
- Kurien, B.T. & Scofield, R.H. 2008, "Autoimmunity and oxidatively modified autoantigens", *Autoimmunity Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 567-573.
- Lapouge, K., Smith, S.J., Groemping, Y. & Rittinger, K. 2002, "Architecture of the p40-p47-p67phox complex in the resting state of the NADPH oxidase. A central role for p67phox ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 277, no. 12, pp. 10121-10128.
- Laragione, T., Bonetto, V., Casoni, F., Massignan, T., Bianchi, G., Gianazza, E. & Ghezzi, P. 2003, "Redox regulation of surface protein thiols: identification of integrin alpha-4 as a molecular target by using redox proteomics", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 100, no. 25, pp. 14737-14741.
- Lassegue, B., Sorescu, D., Szocs, K., Yin, Q., Akers, M., Zhang, Y., Grant, S.L., Lambeth, J.D. & Griendling, K.K. 2001, "Novel gp91(phox) homologues in vascular smooth muscle cells : nox1 mediates angiotensin II-induced superoxide formation and redox-sensitive signaling pathways ", *Circulation research*, vol. 88, no. 9, pp. 888-894.
- Laukkanen, M.O., Leppänen, P., Turunen, P., Tuomisto, T., Naarala, J. & Ylä-Herttuala, S. 2001, "EC-SOD gene therapy reduces paracetamol-induced liver damage in mice", *The journal of gene medicine*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 321-325.
- Laurila, J.P., Castellone, M.D., Curcio, A., Laatikainen, L.E., Haaparanta-Solin, M., Grönroos, T.J., Marjamäki, P., Martikainen, S., Santoro, M. & Laukkanen, M.O. 2009a, "Extracellular superoxide dismutase is a growth regulatory mediator of tissue injury recovery", *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 448-454.
- Laurila, J.P., Laatikainen, L.E., Castellone, M.D. & Laukkanen, M.O. 2009b, "SOD3 reduces inflammatory cell migration by regulating adhesion

molecule and cytokine expression", *PloS one*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. e5786.

- Lebovitz, R.M., Zhang, H., Vogel, H., Cartwright, J.,Jr, Dionne, L., Lu, N., Huang, S. & Matzuk, M.M. 1996, "Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 93, no. 18, pp. 9782-9787.
- Lee, B.W. & Yap, H.K. 1994, "Polyarthritis Resembling Juvenile Rheumatoid-Arthritis in a Girl with Chronic Granulomatous-Disease", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 773-776.
- Lee, K., Won, H.Y., Bae, M.A., Hong, J.H. & Hwang, E.S. 2011, "Spontaneous and aging-dependent development of arthritis in NADPH oxidase 2 deficiency through altered differentiation of CD11b+ and Th/Treg cells", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 108, no. 23, pp. 9548-9553.
- Lee, N.K., Choi, Y.G., Baik, J.Y., Han, S.Y., Jeong, D.W., Bae, Y.S., Kim, N. & Lee, S.Y. 2005, "A crucial role for reactive oxygen species in RANKLinduced osteoclast differentiation ", *Blood*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 852-859.
- Li, L., He, Q., Huang, X., Man, Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, S., Wang, J. & Li, J. 2010, "NOX3-derived reactive oxygen species promote TNF-alpha-induced reductions in hepatocyte glycogen levels via a JNK pathway ", *FEBS letters*, vol. 584, no. 5, pp. 995-1000.
- Liao, K.P., Alfredsson, L. & Karlson, E.W. 2009, "Environmental influences on risk for rheumatoid arthritis", *Current opinion in rheumatology*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 279-283.
- Loew, O. 1900, "A New Enzyme of General Occurrence in Organismis", *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 11, no. 279, pp. 701-702.
- Lontz, W., Sirsjo, A., Liu, W., Lindberg, M., Rollman, O. & Torma, H. 1995, "Increased mRNA expression of manganese superoxide dismutase in psoriasis skin lesions and in cultured human keratinocytes exposed to IL-1 beta and TNF-alpha ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 349-355.
- Lundqvist, H. & Dahlgren, C. 1996, "Isoluminolenhanced chemiluminescence: a sensitive method to study the release of superoxide anion from human neutrophils", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 785-792.
- Maccioni, M., Zeder-Lutz, G., Huang, H., Ebel, C., Gerber, P., Hergueux, J., Marchal, P., Duchatelle, V., Degott, C., van Regenmortel, M., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. 2002, "Arthritogenic monoclonal antibodies from K/BxN mice ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 195, no. 8, pp. 1071-1077.
- Maghzal, G., Krause, K.H., Stocker, R. & Jaquet, V. 2012, "Detection of reactive oxygen species derived

from the family of NOX NADPH oxidases", *Free radical biology & medicine*, .

- Malinouski, M., Zhou, Y., Belousov, V.V., Hatfield, D.L. & Gladyshev, V.N. 2011, "Hydrogen peroxide probes directed to different cellular compartments ", *PloS one*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. e14564.
- Manea, A., Raicu, M. & Simionescu, M. 2005, "Expression of functionally phagocyte-type NAD(P)H oxidase in pericytes: effect of angiotensin II and high glucose", *Biology of the cell / under the auspices of the European Cell Biology Organization*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 723-734.
- Manzi, S., Urbach, A.H., Mccune, A.B., Altman, H.A., Kaplan, S.S., Medsger, T.A. & Ramseygoldman, R. 1991, "Systemic Lupus-Erythematosus in a Boy with Chronic Granulomatous-Disease - Case-Report and Review of the Literature", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 101-105.
- Marciano, B.E., Rosenzweig, S.D., Kleiner, D.E., Anderson, V.L., Darnell, D.N., Anaya-O'Brien, S., Hilligoss, D.M., Malech, H.L., Gallin, J.I. & Holland, S.M. 2004, "Gastrointestinal involvement in chronic granulomatous disease", *Pediatrics*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 462-468.
- Marklund, S.L. 1982, "Human copper-containing superoxide dismutase of high molecular weight", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 79, no. 24, pp. 7634-7638.
- Marks, D.J.B., Miyagi, K., Rahman, F.Z., Novelli, M., Bloom, S.L. & Segal, A.W. 2009, "Inflammatory Bowel Disease in CGD Reproduces the Clinicopathological Features of Crohn's Disease", *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 117-124.
- Marttila-Ichihara, F., Turja, R., Miiluniemi, M., Karikoski, M., Maksimow, M., Niemelä, J., Martinez-Pomares, L., Salmi, M. & Jalkanen, S. 2008, "Macrophage mannose receptor on lymphatics controls cell trafficking", *Blood*, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 64-72.
- Martyn, K.D., Frederick, L.M., von Loehneysen, K., Dinauer, M.C. & Knaus, U.G. 2006, "Functional analysis of Nox4 reveals unique characteristics compared to other NADPH oxidases ", *Cellular signalling*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 69-82.
- Masuda, A., Longo, D.L., Kobayashi, Y., Appella, E., Oppenheim, J.J. & Matsushima, K. 1988, "Induction of mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase by interleukin 1 ", FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, vol. 2, no. 15, pp. 3087-3091.
- Matsuno, K., Yamada, H., Iwata, K., Jin, D., Katsuyama, M., Matsuki, M., Takai, S., Yamanishi, K., Miyazaki, M., Matsubara, H. & Yabe-Nishimura, C. 2005, "Nox1 is involved in angiotensin II-mediated hypertension: a study in Nox1-deficient mice ", *Circulation*, vol. 112, no. 17, pp. 2677-2685.

- Matute, J.D., Arias, A.A., Wright, N.A., Wrobel, I., Waterhouse, C.C., Li, X.J., Marchal, C.C., Stull, N.D., Lewis, D.B., Steele, M., Kellner, J.D., Yu, W., Meroueh, S.O., Nauseef, W.M. & Dinauer, M.C. 2009, "A new genetic subgroup of chronic granulomatous disease with autosomal recessive mutations in p40 phox and selective defects in neutrophil NADPH oxidase activity", *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 15, pp. 3309-3315.
- Matzinger, P. 1994, "Tolerance, danger, and the extended family ", *Annual Review of Immunology*, vol. 12, pp. 991-1045.
- Matzuk, M.M., Dionne, L., Guo, Q., Kumar, T.R. & Lebovitz, R.M. 1998, "Ovarian function in superoxide dismutase 1 and 2 knockout mice ", *Endocrinology*, vol. 139, no. 9, pp. 4008-4011.
- Mavragani, C.P., La, D.T., Stohl, W. & Crow, M.K. 2010, "Association of the response to tumor necrosis factor antagonists with plasma type I interferon activity and interferon-beta/alpha ratios in rheumatoid arthritis patients: a post hoc analysis of a predominantly Hispanic cohort ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 392-401.
- McCord, J.M. & Fridovich, I. 1969, "Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein)", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 244, no. 22, pp. 6049-6055.
- McPhail, L.C., Clayton, C.C. & Snyderman, R. 1984, "The NADPH oxidase of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Evidence for regulation by multiple signals ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 259, no. 9, pp. 5768-5775.
- Meng, L., Zhu, W., Jiang, C., He, X., Hou, W., Zheng, F., Holmdahl, R. & Lu, S. 2010, "Toll-like receptor 3 upregulation in macrophages participates in the initiation and maintenance of pristane-induced arthritis in rats", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. R103.
- Merenyi, G., Lind, J., Goldstein, S. & Czapski, G. 1998, "Peroxynitrous acid homolyzes into \*OH and \*NO2 radicals ", *Chemical research in toxicology*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 712-713.
- Mestas, J. & Hughes, C.C. 2004, "Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 172, no. 5, pp. 2731-2738.
- Minamiyama, Y., Takemura, S., Hai, S., Suehiro, S. & Okada, S. 2006, "Vitamin E deficiency accelerates nitrate tolerance via a decrease in cardiac P450 expression and increased oxidative stress ", *Free* radical biology & medicine, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 808-816.
- Minhas, U., Das, P. & Bhatnagar, A. 2011, "Role of reactive intermediates in the immunopathogenesis of the pristane-induced Balb/c model of lupus ", *Lupus*, vol. 20, no. 13, pp. 1421-1425.
- Mitchell, T., Saba, H., Laakman, J., Parajuli, N. & MacMillan-Crow, L.A. 2010, "Role of mitochondrial-

derived oxidants in renal tubular cell cold-storage injury", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 1273-1282.

- Monach, P.A., Mathis, D. & Benoist, C. 2008, "The K/BxN arthritis model", *Current protocols in immunology / edited by John E.Coligan ...[et al.]*, vol. Chapter 15, pp. Unit 15.22.
- Monach, P.A., Nigrovic, P.A., Chen, M., Hock, H., Lee, D.M., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. 2010, "Neutrophils in a mouse model of autoantibody-mediated arthritis: critical producers of Fc receptor gamma, the receptor for C5a, and lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 753-764.
- Monks, T.J., Xie, R., Tikoo, K. & Lau, S.S. 2006, "Rosinduced histone modifications and their role in cell survival and cell death ", *Drug metabolism reviews*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 755-767.
- Moreland, L.W., Alten, R., Van den Bosch, F., Appelboom, T., Leon, M., Emery, P., Cohen, S., Luggen, M., Shergy, W., Nuamah, I. & Becker, J.C. 2002, "Costimulatory blockade in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a pilot, dose-finding, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluating CTLA-4Ig and LEA29Y eighty-five days after the first infusion", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 1470-1479.
- Moreno, J.C., Bikker, H., Kempers, M.J.E., Paul Van Trotsenburg, A.S., Baas, F., De Vijlder, J.J.M., Vulsma, T. & Ris-Stalpers, C. 2002, "Inactivating mutations in the gene for thyroid oxidase 2 (THOX2) and congenital hypothyroidism", *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 347, no. 2, pp. 95-102.
- Mossberg, N., Movitz, C., Hellstrand, K., Bergstrom, T., Nilsson, S. & Andersen, O. 2009, "Oxygen radical production in leukocytes and disease severity in multiple sclerosis", *Journal of neuroimmunology*, vol. 213, no. 1-2, pp. 131-134.
- Muise, A.M., Xu, W., Guo, C.H., Walters, T.D., Wolters, V.M., Fattouh, R., Lam, G.Y., Hu, P., Murchie, R., Sherlock, M., Gana, J.C., NEOPICS, Russell, R.K., Glogauer, M., Duerr, R.H., Cho, J.H., Lees, C.W., Satsangi, J., Wilson, D.C., Paterson, A.D., Griffiths, A.M., Silverberg, M.S. & Brumell, J.H. 2011, "NADPH oxidase complex and IBD candidate gene studies: identification of a rare variant in NCF2 that results in reduced binding to RAC2", *Gut*, .
- Nakano, Y., Longo-Guess, C.M., Bergstrom, D.E., Nauseef, W.M., Jones, S.M. & Banfi, B. 2008, "Mutation of the Cyba gene encoding p22phox causes vestibular and immune defects in mice", *The Journal* of clinical investigation, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 1176-1185.
- Nandakumar, K.S., Bäcklund, J., Vestberg, M. & Holmdahl, R. 2004, "Collagen type II (CII)-specific antibodies induce arthritis in the absence of T or B cells but the arthritis progression is enhanced by CIIreactive T cells", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. R544-50.

- Nandakumar, K.S. & Holmdahl, R. 2005, "Efficient promotion of collagen antibody induced arthritis (CAIA) using four monoclonal antibodies specific for the major epitopes recognized in both collagen induced arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis", *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 304, no. 1-2, pp. 126-136.
- Nandakumar, K.S., Svensson, L. & Holmdahl, R. 2003, "Collagen type II-specific monoclonal antibodyinduced arthritis in mice: description of the disease and the influence of age, sex, and genes", *The American journal of pathology*, vol. 163, no. 5, pp. 1827-1837.
- Neogi, T., Aletaha, D., Silman, A.J., Naden, R.L., Felson, D.T., Aggarwal, R., Bingham, C.O., 3rd, Birnbaum, N.S., Burmester, G.R., Bykerk, V.P., Cohen, M.D., Combe, B., Costenbader, K.H., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Ferraccioli, G., Hazes, J.M., Hobbs, K., Huizinga, T.W., Kavanaugh, A., Kay, J., Khanna, D., Kvien, T.K., Laing, T., Liao, K., Mease, P., Menard, H.A., Moreland, L.W., Nair, R., Pincus, T., Ringold, S., Smolen, J.S., Stanislawska-Biernat, E., Symmons, D., Tak, P.P., Upchurch, K.S., Vencovsky, J., Wolfe, F., Hawker, G., American College of Rheumatology & European League Against Rheumatism 2010, "The 2010 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis: Phase 2 methodological report ", Arthritis and Rheumatism, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 2582-2591.
- Nordberg, J. & Arner, E.S. 2001, "Reactive oxygen species, antioxidants, and the mammalian thioredoxin system", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 1287-1312.
- Noto Llana, M., Sarnacki, S.H., Vazquez, M.V., Gartner, A.S., Giacomodonato, M.N. & Cerquetti, M.C. 2012, "Salmonella enterica induces joint inflammation and expression of interleukin-17 in draining lymph nodes early after onset of enterocolitis in mice ", *Infection* and immunity, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 2231-2239.
- Olofsson, P., Holmberg, J., Tordsson, J., Lu, S., Åkerstrom, B. & Holmdahl, R. 2003, "Positional identification of Ncf1 as a gene that regulates arthritis severity in rats", *Nature genetics*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 25-32.
- Olofsson, P., Nerstedt, A., Hultqvist, M., Nilsson, E.C., Andersson, S., Bergelin, A. & Holmdahl, R. 2007, "Arthritis suppression by NADPH activation operates through an interferon-beta pathway", *BMC biology*, vol. 5, pp. 19.
- Olsson, L.M., Lindqvist, A.K., Källberg, H., Padyukov, L., Burkhardt, H., Alfredsson, L., Klareskog, L. & Holmdahl, R. 2007, "A case-control study of rheumatoid arthritis identifies an associated single nucleotide polymorphism in the NCF4 gene, supporting a role for the NADPH-oxidase complex in autoimmunity", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. R98.
- Olsson, L.M., Nerstedt, A., Lindqvist, A.K., Johansson, A.C., Medstrand, P., Olofsson, P. & Holmdahl, R.

2011, "Copy Number Variation of the Gene NCF1 Is Associated with Rheumatoid Arthritis", *Antioxidants* & redox signaling, .

- Ospelt, C., Brentano, F., Rengel, Y., Stanczyk, J., Kolling, C., Tak, P.P., Gay, R.E., Gay, S. & Kyburz, D. 2008, "Overexpression of toll-like receptors 3 and 4 in synovial tissue from patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: toll-like receptor expression in early and longstanding arthritis", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 3684-3692.
- Ostrakhovitch, E.A. & Afanas'ev, I.B. 2001, "Oxidative stress in rheumatoid arthritis leukocytes: suppression by rutin and other antioxidants and chelators", *Biochemical pharmacology*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 743-746.
- Park, H., Li, Z., Yang, X.O., Chang, S.H., Nurieva, R., Wang, Y.H., Wang, Y., Hood, L., Zhu, Z., Tian, Q. & Dong, C. 2005, "A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17 ", *Nature immunology*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 1133-1141.
- Pascual, V., Chaussabel, D. & Banchereau, J. 2010, "A Genomic Approach to Human Autoimmune Diseases", *Annual Review of Immunology, Vol 28*, vol. 28, pp. 535-571.
- Piccoli, C., Ria, R., Scrima, R., Cela, O., D'Aprile, A., Boffoli, D., Falzetti, F., Tabilio, A. & Capitanio, N. 2005, "Characterization of mitochondrial and extramitochondrial oxygen consuming reactions in human hematopoietic stem cells. Novel evidence of the occurrence of NAD(P)H oxidase activity ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 280, no. 28, pp. 26467-26476.
- Pizzolla, A., Hultqvist, M., Nilson, B., Grimm, M.J., Eneljung, T., Jonsson, I.M., Verdrengh, M., Kelkka, T., Gjertsson, I., Segal, B.H. & Holmdahl, R. 2012, "Reactive oxygen species produced by the NADPH oxidase 2 complex in monocytes protect mice from bacterial infections", *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*), vol. 188, no. 10, pp. 5003-5011.
- Plenge, R.M., Padyukov, L., Remmers, E.F., Purcell, S., Lee, A.T., Karlson, E.W., Wolfe, F., Kastner, D.L., Alfredsson, L., Altshuler, D., Gregersen, P.K., Klareskog, L. & Rioux, J.D. 2005, "Replication of putative candidate-gene associations with rheumatoid arthritis in >4,000 samples from North America and Sweden: association of susceptibility with PTPN22, CTLA4, and PADI4 ", *American Journal of Human Genetics*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1044-1060.
- Polis, B.D. & Shmukler, H.W. 1953, "Crystalline lactoperoxidase. I. Isolation by displacement chromatography. II. Physicochemical and enzymatic properties", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 201, no. 1, pp. 475-500.
- Pollock, J.D., Williams, D.A., Gifford, M.A.C., Li, L.L., Du, X.X., Fisherman, J., Orkin, S.H., Doerschuk, C.M. & Dinauer, M.C. 1995, "Mouse Model of X-Linked Chronic Granulomatous-Disease, an Inherited

Defect in Phagocyte Superoxide Production", *Nature* genetics, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 202-209.

- Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M.Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., Freudenberg, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Layton, B. & Beutler, B. 1998, "Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene", *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 282, no. 5396, pp. 2085-2088.
- Poole, L.B., Hall, A. & Nelson, K.J. 2011, "Overview of peroxiredoxins in oxidant defense and redox regulation ", *Current protocols in toxicology / editorial board, Mahin D.Maines (editor-in-chief)* ...[*et al.*], vol. Chapter 7, pp. Unit7.9.
- Purdue, P.E. & Lazarow, P.B. 1996, "Targeting of human catalase to peroxisomes is dependent upon a novel COOH-terminal peroxisomal targeting sequence ", *The Journal of cell biology*, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 849-862.
- Rantapää-Dahlqvist, S., de Jong, B.A., Berglin, E., Hallmans, G., Wadell, G., Stenlund, H., Sundin, U. & van Venrooij, W.J. 2003, "Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptide and IgA rheumatoid factor predict the development of rheumatoid arthritis ", *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. 2741-2749.
- Reeves, E.P., Lu, H., Jacobs, H.L., Messina, C.G., Bolsover, S., Gabella, G., Potma, E.O., Warley, A., Roes, J. & Segal, A.W. 2002, "Killing activity of neutrophils is mediated through activation of proteases by K+ flux ", *Nature*, vol. 416, no. 6878, pp. 291-297.
- Rhee, S.G., Chae, H.Z. & Kim, K. 2005, "Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 38, no. 12, pp. 1543-1552.
- Rigoulet, M., Yoboue, E.D. & Devin, A. 2011, "Mitochondrial ROS generation and its regulation: mechanisms involved in H(2)O(2) signaling ", *Antioxidants & redox signaling*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 459-468.
- Rioux, J.D., Xavier, R.J., Taylor, K.D., Silverberg, M.S., Goyette, P., Huett, A., Green, T., Kuballa, P., Barmada, M.M., Datta, L.W., Shugart, Y.Y., Griffiths, A.M., Targan, S.R., Ippoliti, A.F., Bernard, E.J., Mei, L., Nicolae, D.L., Regueiro, M., Schumm, L.P., Steinhart, A.H., Rotter, J.I., Duerr, R.H., Cho, J.H., Daly, M.J. & Brant, S.R. 2007, "Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis ", *Nature genetics*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 596-604.
- Roberts, R.L., Hollis-Moffatt, J.E., Gearry, R.B., Kennedy, M.A., Barclay, M.L. & Merriman, T.R. 2008, "Confirmation of association of IRGM and NCF4 with ileal Crohn's disease in a population-based cohort ", *Genes and immunity*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 561-565.
- Roelofs, M.F., Wenink, M.H., Brentano, F., Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S., Oppers-Walgreen, B., Barrera, P., van

Riel, P.L., Joosten, L.A., Kyburz, D., van den Berg, W.B. & Radstake, T.R. 2009, "Type I interferons might form the link between Toll-like receptor (TLR) 3/7 and TLR4-mediated synovial inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis (RA)", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 1486-1493.

- Romao, M.J., Archer, M., Moura, I., Moura, J.J., LeGall, J., Engh, R., Schneider, M., Hof, P. & Huber, R. 1995, "Crystal structure of the xanthine oxidase-related aldehyde oxido-reductase from D. gigas ", *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), vol. 270, no. 5239, pp. 1170-1176.
- Rönnblom, L., Alm, G.V. & Eloranta, M.L. 2011, "The type I interferon system in the development of lupus", *Seminars in immunology*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 113-121.
- Rönnelid, J., Lysholm, J., Engstrom-Laurent, A., Klareskog, L. & Heyman, B. 1994, "Local anti-type II collagen antibody production in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid. Evidence for an HLA-DR4-restricted IgG response ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 1023-1029.
- Roos, D., Kuhns, D.B., Maddalena, A., Bustamante, J., Kannengiesser, C., de Boer, M., van Leeuwen, K., Koker, M.Y., Wolach, B., Roesler, J., Malech, H.L., Holland, S.M., Gallin, J.I. & Stasia, M.J. 2010a, "Hematologically important mutations: the autosomal recessive forms of chronic granulomatous disease (second update) ", *Blood cells, molecules & diseases*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 291-299.
- Roos, D., Kuhns, D.B., Maddalena, A., Roesler, J., Lopez, J.A., Ariga, T., Avcin, T., de Boer, M., Bustamante, J., Condino-Neto, A., Di Matteo, G., He, J., Hill, H.R., Holland, S.M., Kannengiesser, C., Koker, M.Y., Kondratenko, I., van Leeuwen, K., Malech, H.L., Marodi, L., Nunoi, H., Stasia, M.J., Ventura, A.M., Witwer, C.T., Wolach, B. & Gallin, J.I. 2010b, "Hematologically important mutations: Xlinked chronic granulomatous disease (third update)", *Blood cells, molecules & diseases,* vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 246-265.
- Rosenbaum, C.C., O'Mathuna, D.P., Chavez, M. & Shields, K. 2010, "Antioxidants and antiinflammatory dietary supplements for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis", *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 32-40.
- Rosenzweig, H.L., Clowers, J.S., Nunez, G., Rosenbaum, J.T. & Davey, M.P. 2011, "Dectin-1 and NOD2 mediate cathepsin activation in zymosaninduced arthritis in mice", *Inflammation research : official journal of the European Histamine Research Society ...[et al.]*, .
- Rotruck, J.T., Pope, A.L., Ganther, H.E., Swanson, A.B., Hafeman, D.G. & Hoekstra, W.G. 1973, "Selenium: biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase ", *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 179, no. 4073, pp. 588-590.
- Ruutu, M., Thomas, G., Steck, R., Degli-Esposti, M.A., Zinkernagel, M.S., Alexander, K., Velasco, J., Strutton, G., Tran, A., Benham, H., Rehaume, L., Wilson, R.J., Kikly, K., Davies, J., Pettit, A.R.,

Brown, M.A., McGuckin, M.A. & Thomas, R. 2012, "beta-glucan triggers spondylarthritis and Crohn's disease-like ileitis in SKG mice", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 2211-2222.

- Saito, I., Shimuta, M., Terauchi, K., Tsubota, K., Yodoi, J. & Miyasaka, N. 1996, "Increased expression of human thioredoxin/adult T cell leukemia-derived factor in Sjogren's syndrome ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 773-782.
- Sakaguchi, N., Takahashi, T., Hata, H., Nomura, T., Tagami, T., Yamazaki, S., Sakihama, T., Matsutani, T., Negishi, I., Nakatsuru, S. & Sakaguchi, S. 2003, "Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice ", *Nature*, vol. 426, no. 6965, pp. 454-460.
- Sakamaki, K., Tomonaga, M., Tsukui, K. & Nagata, S. 1989, "Molecular cloning and characterization of a chromosomal gene for human eosinophil peroxidase ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 264, no. 28, pp. 16828-16836.
- Salvemini, D., Mazzon, E., Dugo, L., Serraino, I., De Sarro, A., Caputi, A.P. & Cuzzocrea, S. 2001, "Amelioration of joint disease in a rat model of collagen-induced arthritis by M40403, a superoxide dismutase mimetic", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 2909-2921.
- Sbarra, A.J. & Karnovsky, M.L. 1959, "The biochemical basis of phagocytosis. I. Metabolic changes during the ingestion of particles by polymorphonuclear leukocytes", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 234, no. 6, pp. 1355-1362.
- Schafer, F.Q. & Buettner, G.R. 2001, "Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple ", *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1191 <last\_page> 1212.
- Schaller, J. 1972, "Illness Resembling Lupus-Erythematosus in Mothers of Boys with Chronic Granulomatous Disease", *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 747-&.
- Schappi, M., Deffert, C., Fiette, L., Gavazzi, G., Herrmann, F., Belli, D. & Krause, K.H. 2008, "Branched fungal beta-glucan causes hyperinflammation and necrosis in phagocyte NADPH oxidase-deficient mice", *The Journal of pathology*, vol. 214, no. 4, pp. 434-444.
- Schiavone, S., Jaquet, V., Sorce, S., Dubois-Dauphin, M., Hultqvist, M., Backdahl, L., Holmdahl, R., Colaianna, M., Cuomo, V., Trabace, L. & Krause, K.H. 2012, "NADPH oxidase elevations in pyramidal neurons drive psychosocial stress-induced neuropathology ", *Translational psychiatry*, vol. 2, pp. e111.
- Schmitt, C.P., Scharer, K., Waldherr, R., Seger, R.A. & Debatin, K.M. 1995, "Glomerulonephritis Associated with Chronic Granulomatous-Disease and Systemic Lupus-Erythematosus", *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 891-895.

- Schubert, D., Maier, B., Morawietz, L., Krenn, V. & Kamradt, T. 2004, "Immunization with glucose-6phosphate isomerase induces T cell-dependent peripheral polyarthritis in genetically unaltered mice", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 172, no. 7, pp. 4503-4509.
- Schulte, S., Unger, C., Mo, J.A., Wendler, O., Bauer, E., Frischholz, S., von der Mark, K., Kalden, J.R., Holmdahl, R. & Burkhardt, H. 1998, "Arthritis-related B cell epitopes in collagen II are conformationdependent and sterically privileged in accessible sites of cartilage collagen fibrils", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 273, no. 3, pp. 1551-1561.
- Scott, D.L., Wolfe, F. & Huizinga, T.W. 2010, "Rheumatoid arthritis", *Lancet*, vol. 376, no. 9746, pp. 1094-1108.
- Segal, A.W. 2005, "How neutrophils kill microbes", Annual Review of Immunology, vol. 23, pp. 197-223.
- Segal, B.H., Davidson, B.A., Hutson, A.D., Russo, T.A., Holm, B.A., Mullan, B., Habitzruther, M., Holland, S.M. & Knight, P.R.,3rd 2007, "Acid aspirationinduced lung inflammation and injury are exacerbated in NADPH oxidase-deficient mice", *American journal* of physiology.Lung cellular and molecular physiology, vol. 292, no. 3, pp. L760-8.
- Segal, B.H., DeCarlo, E.S., Kwon-Chung, K.J., Malech, H.L., Gallin, J.I. & Holland, S.M. 1998, "Aspergillus nidulans infection in chronic granulomatous disease ", *Medicine*, vol. 77, no. 5, pp. 345-354.
- Segal, B.H., Han, W., Bushey, J.J., Joo, M., Bhatti, Z., Feminella, J., Dennis, C.G., Vethanayagam, R.R., Yull, F.E., Capitano, M., Wallace, P.K., Minderman, H., Christman, J.W., Sporn, M.B., Chan, J., Vinh, D.C., Holland, S.M., Romani, L.R., Gaffen, S.L., Freeman, M.L. & Blackwell, T.S. 2010, "NADPH oxidase limits innate immune responses in the lungs in mice", *PloS one*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. e9631.
- Segal, B.H., Kuhns, D.B., Ding, L., Gallin, J.I. & Holland, S.M. 2002, "Thioglycollate peritonitis in mice lacking C5, 5-lipoxygenase, or p47(phox): complement, leukotrienes, and reactive oxidants in acute inflammation", *Journal of leukocyte biology*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 410-416.
- Segal, B.H., Veys, P., Malech, H. & Cowan, M.J. 2011, "Chronic granulomatous disease: lessons from a rare disorder ", *Biology of blood and marrow* transplantation : journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation, vol. 17, no. 1 Suppl, pp. S123-31.
- Seleme, M.C., Lei, W., Burg, A.R., Goh, K.Y., Metz, A., Steele, C. & Tse, H.M. 2012, "Dysregulated TLR3dependent signaling and innate immune activation in superoxide-deficient macrophages from nonobese diabetic mice", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 2047-2056.
- Seok, J., Warren, H.S., Cuenca, A.G., Mindrinos, M.N., Baker, H.V., Xu, W., Richards, D.R., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Gao, H., Hennessy, L., Finnerty, C.C., Lopez, C.M., Honari, S., Moore, E.E., Minei, J.P.,

Cuschieri, J., Bankey, P.E., Johnson, J.L., Sperry, J., Nathens, A.B., Billiar, T.R., West, M.A., Jeschke, M.G., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L., Gibran, N.S., Brownstein, B.H., Miller-Graziano, C., Calvano, S.E., Mason, P.H., Cobb, J.P., Rahme, L.G., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R.V., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Davis, R.W., Xiao, W., Tompkins, R.G. & the Inflammation and Host Response to Injury,Large Scale Collaborative Research Program 2013, "Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, .

- Shah, D., Aggarwal, A., Bhatnagar, A., Kiran, R. & Wanchu, A. 2011, "Association between T lymphocyte sub-sets apoptosis and peripheral blood mononuclear cells oxidative stress in systemic lupus erythematosus", *Free radical research*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 559-567.
- Shao, D., Segal, A.W. & Dekker, L.V. 2003, "Lipid rafts determine efficiency of NADPH oxidase activation in neutrophils ", *FEBS letters*, vol. 550, no. 1-3, pp. 101-106.
- Shiose, A., Kuroda, J., Tsuruya, K., Hirai, M., Hirakata, H., Naito, S., Hattori, M., Sakaki, Y. & Sumimoto, H. 2001, "A novel superoxide-producing NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 2, pp. 1417-1423.
- Sironi, M., Guerini, F.R., Agliardi, C., Biasin, M., Cagliani, R., Fumagalli, M., Caputo, D., Cassinotti, A., Ardizzone, S., Zanzottera, M., Bolognesi, E., Riva, S., Kanari, Y., Miyazawa, M. & Clerici, M. 2011, "An evolutionary analysis of RAC2 identifies haplotypes associated with human autoimmune diseases ", *Molecular biology and evolution*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 3319-3329.
- Sjöquist, P.O., Carlsson, L., Jonason, G., Marklund, S.L. & Abrahamsson, T. 1991, "Cardioprotective Effects of Recombinant Human Extracellular-Superoxide Dismutase Type-C in Rat Isolated Heart Subjected to Ischemia and Reperfusion", *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 678-683.
- Smiljanovic, B., Grun, J.R., Biesen, R., Schulte-Wrede, U., Baumgrass, R., Stuhlmuller, B., Maslinski, W., Hiepe, F., Burmester, G.R., Radbruch, A., Haupl, T. & Grutzkau, A. 2012, "The multifaceted balance of TNF-alpha and type I/II interferon responses in SLE and RA: how monocytes manage the impact of cytokines", Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany), vol. 90, no. 11, pp. 1295-1309.
- Smith, B.D., Martin, G.R., Miller, E.J., Dorfman, A. & Swarm, R. 1975, "Nature of the collagen synthesized by a transplanted chondrosarcoma", *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 166, no. 1, pp. 181-186.
- Smitt, J.H.S., Bos, J.D., Weening, R.S. & Krieg, S.R. 1990, "Discoid Lupus-Erythematosus-Like Skin Changes in Patients with Autosomal Recessive Chronic Granulomatous-Disease", Archives of Dermatology, vol. 126, no. 12, pp. 1656-1658.

- Snelgrove, R.J., Edwards, L., Rae, A.J. & Hussell, T. 2006a, "An absence of reactive oxygen species improves the resolution of lung influenza infection", *European journal of immunology*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 1364-1373.
- Snelgrove, R.J., Edwards, L., Williams, A.E., Rae, A.J. & Hussell, T. 2006b, "In the absence of reactive oxygen species, T cells default to a Th1 phenotype and mediate protection against pulmonary Cryptococcus neoformans infection", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 177, no. 8, pp. 5509-5516.
- Somasundaram, R., Deuring, J.J., van der Woude, C.J., Peppelenbosch, M.P. & Fuhler, G.M. 2012, "Linking risk conferring mutations in NCF4 to functional consequences in Crohn's disease ", *Gut*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 1097; author reply 1097-8.
- Sorce, S., Schiavone, S., Tucci, P., Colaianna, M., Jaquet, V., Cuomo, V., Dubois-Dauphin, M., Trabace, L. & Krause, K.H. 2010, "The NADPH oxidase NOX2 controls glutamate release: a novel mechanism involved in psychosis-like ketamine responses ", *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, vol. 30, no. 34, pp. 11317-11325.
- Stalder, J.F., Dreno, B., Bureau, B. & Hakim, J. 1986, "Discoid Lupus Erythematosus-Like Lesions in an Autosomal Form of Chronic Granulomatous-Disease", *British Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 251-254.
- Stastny, P. 1976, "Mixed lymphocyte cultures in rheumatoid arthritis ", *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1148-1157.
- Stolt, P., Bengtsson, C., Nordmark, B., Lindblad, S., Lundberg, I., Klareskog, L., Alfredsson, L. & EIRA study group 2003, "Quantification of the influence of cigarette smoking on rheumatoid arthritis: results from a population based case-control study, using incident cases ", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 835-841.
- Stoop, J.N., Tibbitt, C.A., van Eden, W., Robinson, J.H. & Hilkens, C.M. 2013, "The choice of adjuvant determines the cytokine profile of T cells in proteoglycan-induced arthritis but does not influence disease severity", *Immunology*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 68-75.
- Strate, M., Brandrup, F. & Wang, P. 1986, "Discoid Lupus Erythematosus-Like Skin-Lesions in a Patient with Autosomal Recessive Chronic Granulomatous-Disease", *Clinical genetics*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 184-190.
- Stuart, J.M. & Dixon, F.J. 1983, "Serum transfer of collagen-induced arthritis in mice ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 158, no. 2, pp. 378-392.
- Suh, Y.A., Arnold, R.S., Lassegue, B., Shi, J., Xu, X., Sorescu, D., Chung, A.B., Griendling, K.K. & Lambeth, J.D. 1999, "Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1 ", *Nature*, vol. 401, no. 6748, pp. 79-82.

- Sussan, T.E., Rangasamy, T., Blake, D.J., Malhotra, D., El-Haddad, H., Bedja, D., Yates, M.S., Kombairaju, P., Yamamoto, M., Liby, K.T., Sporn, M.B., Gabrielson, K.L., Champion, H.C., Tuder, R.M., Kensler, T.W. & Biswal, S. 2009, "Targeting Nrf2 with the triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide attenuates cigarette smoke-induced emphysema and cardiac dysfunction in mice", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 106, no. 1, pp. 250-255.
- Suzuki, A., Yamada, R., Chang, X., Tokuhiro, S., Sawada, T., Suzuki, M., Nagasaki, M., Nakayama-Hamada, M., Kawaida, R., Ono, M., Ohtsuki, M., Furukawa, H., Yoshino, S., Yukioka, M., Tohma, S., Matsubara, T., Wakitani, S., Teshima, R., Nishioka, Y., Sekine, A., Iida, A., Takahashi, A., Tsunoda, T., Nakamura, Y. & Yamamoto, K. 2003, "Functional haplotypes of PADI4, encoding citrullinating enzyme peptidylarginine deiminase 4, are associated with rheumatoid arthritis", *Nature genetics*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 395-402.
- Szanto, I., Rubbia-Brandt, L., Kiss, P., Steger, K., Banfi, B., Kovari, E., Herrmann, F., Hadengue, A. & Krause, K.H. 2005, "Expression of NOX1, a superoxidegenerating NADPH oxidase, in colon cancer and inflammatory bowel disease ", *The Journal of pathology*, vol. 207, no. 2, pp. 164-176.
- Tahara, E.B., Navarete, F.D. & Kowaltowski, A.J. 2009, "Tissue-, substrate-, and site-specific characteristics of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation ", *Free radical biology & medicine*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1283-1297.
- Tak, P.P. & Kalden, J.R. 2011, "Advances in rheumatology: new targeted therapeutics", *Arthritis* research & therapy, vol. 13 Suppl 1, pp. S5.
- Takeuchi, O., Hoshino, K., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Takada, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, K. & Akira, S. 1999, "Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components", *Immunity*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 443-451.
- Takeya, R., Ueno, N., Kami, K., Taura, M., Kohjima, M., Izaki, T., Nunoi, H. & Sumimoto, H. 2003, "Novel human homologues of p47phox and p67phox participate in activation of superoxide-producing NADPH oxidases ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 27, pp. 25234-25246.
- Tanaka, D., Kagari, T., Doi, H. & Shimozato, T. 2006, "Essential role of neutrophils in anti-type II collagen antibody and lipopolysaccharide-induced arthritis", *Immunology*, vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 195-202.
- Ten, R.M., Pease, L.R., McKean, D.J., Bell, M.P. & Gleich, G.J. 1989, "Molecular cloning of the human eosinophil peroxidase. Evidence for the existence of a peroxidase multigene family ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 169, no. 5, pp. 1757-1769.
- Thurlings, R.M., Boumans, M., Tekstra, J., van Roon, J.A., Vos, K., van Westing, D.M., van Baarsen, L.G., Bos, C., Kirou, K.A., Gerlag, D.M., Crow, M.K., Bijlsma, J.W., Verweij, C.L. & Tak, P.P. 2010, "The

relationship between the type I interferon signature and the response to rituximab in rheumatoid arthritis", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, .

- Tomita, H., Yamada, M., Sekigawa, I., Yoshiike, T., Iida, N. & Hashimoto, H. 2003, "Systemic lupus erythematosus-like autoimmune abnormalities induced by bacterial infection ", *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 497-499.
- Tonks, N.K. 2005, "Redox redux: revisiting PTPs and the control of cell signaling ", *Cell*, vol. 121, no. 5, pp. 667-670.
- Trentham, D.E., Townes, A.S. & Kang, A.H. 1977, "Autoimmunity to type II collagen an experimental model of arthritis ", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 146, no. 3, pp. 857-868.
- Tsai, S.J., Sen, U., Zhao, L., Greenleaf, W.B., Dasgupta, J., Fiorillo, E., Orru, V., Bottini, N. & Chen, X.S. 2009, "Crystal structure of the human lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase catalytic domain: insights into redox regulation", *Biochemistry*, vol. 48, no. 22, pp. 4838-4845.
- Vallin, H., Perers, A., Alm, G.V. & Ronnblom, L. 1999, "Anti-double-stranded DNA antibodies and immunostimulatory plasmid DNA in combination mimic the endogenous IFN-alpha inducer in systemic lupus erythematosus", *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*), vol. 163, no. 11, pp. 6306-6313.
- van Baarsen, L.G., Bos, W.H., Rustenburg, F., van der Pouw Kraan, T.C., Wolbink, G.J., Dijkmans, B.A., van Schaardenburg, D. & Verweij, C.L. 2010, "Gene expression profiling in autoantibody-positive patients with arthralgia predicts development of arthritis ", *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 694-704.
- van Bruggen, R., Koker, M.Y., Jansen, M., van Houdt, M., Roos, D., Kuijpers, T.W. & van den Berg, T.K. 2010, "Human NLRP3 inflammasome activation is Nox1-4 independent ", *Blood*, vol. 115, no. 26, pp. 5398-5400.
- van de Loo, F.A., Bennink, M.B., Arntz, O.J., Smeets, R.L., Lubberts, E., Joosten, L.A., van Lent, P.L., Coenen-de Roo, C.J., Cuzzocrea, S., Segal, B.H., Holland, S.M. & van den Berg, W.B. 2003, "Deficiency of NADPH oxidase components p47phox and gp91phox caused granulomatous synovitis and increased connective tissue destruction in experimental arthritis models", *The American journal* of pathology, vol. 163, no. 4, pp. 1525-1537.
- van den Berg, J.M., van Koppen, E., Ahlin, A., Belohradsky, B.H., Bernatowska, E., Corbeel, L., Espanol, T., Fischer, A., Kurenko-Deptuch, M., Mouy, R., Petropoulou, T., Roesler, J., Seger, R., Stasia, M.J., Valerius, N.H., Weening, R.S., Wolach, B., Roos, D. & Kuijpers, T.W. 2009, "Chronic granulomatous disease: the European experience ", *PloS one*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. e5234.
- van den Berg, W.B. 2009, "Lessons from animal models of arthritis over the past decade ", *Arthritis research & therapy*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 250.

- van der Pouw Kraan, T.C., van Baarsen, L.G., Wijbrandts, C.A., Voskuyl, A.E., Rustenburg, F., Baggen, J.M., Dijkmans, B.A., Tak, P.P. & Verweij, C.L. 2008, "Expression of a pathogen-response program in peripheral blood cells defines a subgroup of rheumatoid arthritis patients ", *Genes and immunity*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 16-22.
- van der Woude, D., Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, S., Ioan-Facsinay, A., Onnekink, C., Schwarte, C.M., Verpoort, K.N., Drijfhout, J.W., Huizinga, T.W., Toes, R.E. & Pruijn, G.J. 2010, "Epitope spreading of the anti-citrullinated protein antibody response occurs before disease onset and is associated with the disease course of early arthritis ", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 69, no. 8, pp. 1554-1561.
- van Holten, J., Smeets, T.J., Blankert, P. & Tak, P.P. 2005, "Expression of interferon beta in synovial tissue from patients with rheumatoid arthritis: comparison with patients with osteoarthritis and reactive arthritis ", *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 64, no. 12, pp. 1780-1782.
- Van Pelt, L.J., Van Zwieten, R., Weening, R.S., Roos, D., Verhoeven, A.J. & Bolscher, B.G.J.M. 1996, "Limitations of the use of dihydrohodamine 123 for flow cytometric analysis of the neutrophil respiratory burst", *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 191, no. 2, pp. 187-196.
- van Reyk, D.M., King, N.J., Dinauer, M.C. & Hunt, N.H. 2001, "The intracellular oxidation of 2',7'dichlorofluorescin in murine T lymphocytes ", *Free* radical biology & medicine, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 82-88.
- Visner, G.A., Dougall, W.C., Wilson, J.M., Burr, I.A. & Nick, H.S. 1990, "Regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase by lipopolysaccharide, interleukin-1, and tumor necrosis factor. Role in the acute inflammatory response ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 265, no. 5, pp. 2856-2864.
- Weisiger, R.A. & Fridovich, I. 1973, "Mitochondrial superoxide simutase. Site of synthesis and intramitochondrial localization ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 248, no. 13, pp. 4793-4796.
- Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007, "Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls ", *Nature*, vol. 447, no. 7145, pp. 661-678.
- West, A.P., Brodsky, I.E., Rahner, C., Woo, D.K., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Walsh, M.C., Choi, Y., Shadel, G.S. & Ghosh, S. 2011, "TLR signalling augments macrophage bactericidal activity through mitochondrial ROS", *Nature*, vol. 472, no. 7344, pp. 476-480.
- West, A.P., Shadel, G.S. & Ghosh, S. 2011, "Mitochondria in innate immune responses", *Nature reviews.Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 389-402.
- Westover, A., Harrison, C.B. & Selemidis, S. 2009, "Nox2-containing NADPH oxidase and xanthine oxidase are sources of superoxide in mouse trachea", *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 331-333.
- Williams, D.A., Tao, W., Yang, F., Kim, C., Gu, Y., Mansfield, P., Levine, J.E., Petryniak, B., Derrow, C.W., Harris, C., Jia, B., Zheng, Y., Ambruso, D.R., Lowe, J.B., Atkinson, S.J., Dinauer, M.C. & Boxer, L. 2000, "Dominant negative mutation of the hematopoietic-specific Rho GTPase, Rac2, is associated with a human phagocyte immunodeficiency ", *Blood*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 1646-1654.
- Williams, R.O., Feldmann, M. & Maini, R.N. 1992, "Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, vol. 89, no. 20, pp. 9784-9788.
- Winkelstein, J.A., Marino, M.C., Johnston Jr., R.B., Boyle, J., Curnutte, J., Gallin, J.I., Malech, H.L., Holland, S.M., Ochs, H., Quie, P., Buckley, R.H., Foster, C.B., Chanock, S.J. & Dickler, H. 2000, "Chronic granulomatous disease: Report on a national registry of 368 patients", *Medicine*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 155-169.
- Winterbourn, C.C. 2008, "Reconciling the chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species", *Nature chemical biology*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 278-286.
- Winterbourn, C.C. & Hampton, M.B. 2008, "Thiol chemistry and specificity in redox signaling", *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 549-561.
- Wipke, B.T. & Allen, P.M. 2001, "Essential role of neutrophils in the initiation and progression of a murine model of rheumatoid arthritis ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 167, no. 3, pp. 1601-1608.
- Wolfer, D.P., Crusio, W.E. & Lipp, H. 2002, "Knockout mice: simple solutions to the problems of genetic background and flanking genes", *Trends in neurosciences*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 336-340.
- Wollman, E.E., d'Auriol, L., Rimsky, L., Shaw, A., Jacquot, J.P., Wingfield, P., Graber, P., Dessarps, F., Robin, P. & Galibert, F. 1988, "Cloning and expression of a cDNA for human thioredoxin ", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 263, no. 30, pp. 15506-15512.
- Wooley, P.H., Luthra, H.S., Singh, S.K., Huse, A.R., Stuart, J.M. & David, C.S. 1984, "Passive transfer of arthritis to mice by injection of human anti-type II collagen antibody ", *Mayo Clinic proceedings.Mayo Clinic*, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 737-743.
- Wooley, P.H., Luthra, H.S., Stuart, J.M. & David, C.S. 1981, "Type II collagen-induced arthritis in mice. I. Major histocompatibility complex (I region) linkage and antibody correlates", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 154, no. 3, pp. 688-700.
- Wooten, R.M., Ma, Y., Yoder, R.A., Brown, J.P., Weis, J.H., Zachary, J.F., Kirschning, C.J. & Weis, J.J. 2002, "Toll-like receptor 2 is required for innate, but not acquired, host defense to Borrelia burgdorferi ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 168, no. 1, pp. 348-355.

- Wu, H.J., Ivanov, I.I., Darce, J., Hattori, K., Shima, T., Umesaki, Y., Littman, D.R., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. 2010, "Gut-residing segmented filamentous bacteria drive autoimmune arthritis via T helper 17 cells", *Immunity*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 815-827.
- Xu, P., Huecksteadt, T.P., Harrison, R. & Hoidal, J.R. 1994, "Molecular cloning, tissue expression of human xanthine dehydrogenase ", *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, vol. 199, no. 2, pp. 998-1004.
- Xu, X., von Lohneysen, K., Soldau, K., Noack, D., Vu, A. & Friedman, J.S. 2011, "A novel approach for in vivo measurement of mouse red cell redox status ", *Blood*, vol. 118, no. 13, pp. 3694-3697.
- Yamazaki-Nakashimada, M.A., Ramirez-Vargas, N. & De Rubens-Figueroa, J. 2008, "Chronic granulomatous disease associated with atypical Kawasaki disease", *Pediatric cardiology*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 169-171.
- Yang, C., Shin, D., Kim, K., Lee, Z., Lee, C., Park, S.G., Bae, Y.S. & Jo, E. 2009, "NADPH Oxidase 2 Interaction with TLR2 Is Required for Efficient Innate Immune Responses to Mycobacteria via Cathelicidin Expression", *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 182, no. 6, pp. 3696-3705.
- Yang, Y., Song, Y. & Loscalzo, J. 2007, "Regulation of the protein disulfide proteome by mitochondria in mammalian cells ", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 104, no. 26, pp. 10813-10817.
- Yao, H., Arunachalam, G., Hwang, J.W., Chung, S., Sundar, I.K., Kinnula, V.L., Crapo, J.D. & Rahman, I. 2010, "Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against pulmonary emphysema by attenuating oxidative fragmentation of ECM", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 107, no. 35, pp. 15571-15576.
- Yao, H., Edirisinghe, I., Yang, S.R., Rajendrasozhan, S., Kode, A., Caito, S., Adenuga, D. & Rahman, I. 2008, "Genetic ablation of NADPH oxidase enhances susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation and emphysema in mice", *The American journal of pathology*, vol. 172, no. 5, pp. 1222-1237.
- Yen, J.-., Chen, C.-., Tsai, W.-., Lin, C.-., Ou, T.-., Hu, C.-. & Liu, H.-. 2003a, "Manganese superoxide dismutase and cytochrome P450 1A1 genes polymorphisms in rheumatoid arthritis in Taiwan", *Human immunology*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 366-373.
- Yen, J.-., Tsai, W.-., Chen, C.-., Lin, C.-., Ou, T.-., Hu, C.-. & Liu, H.-. 2003b, "Cytochrome P450 1A1 and manganese superoxide dismutase genes polymorphisms in ankylosing spondylitis", *Immunology letters*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 113-116.
- Yin, H., Xu, L. & Porter, N.A. 2011, "Free radical lipid peroxidation: mechanisms and analysis", *Chemical reviews*, vol. 111, no. 10, pp. 5944-5972.
- Yoshida, S., Katoh, T., Tetsuka, T., Uno, K., Matsui, N. & Okamoto, T. 1999, "Involvement of thioredoxin in

rheumatoid arthritis: its costimulatory roles in the TNF-alpha-induced production of IL-6 and IL-8 from cultured synovial fibroblasts ", *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, vol. 163, no. 1, pp. 351-358.

- Yoshitomi, H., Sakaguchi, N., Kobayashi, K., Brown, G.D., Tagami, T., Sakihama, T., Hirota, K., Tanaka, S., Nomura, T., Miki, I., Gordon, S., Akira, S., Nakamura, T. & Sakaguchi, S. 2005, "A role for fungal {beta}-glucans and their receptor Dectin-1 in the induction of autoimmune arthritis in genetically susceptible mice", *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 201, no. 6, pp. 949-960.
- Yu, D.H., Kim, M.O., Kim, S.H., Shin, M.J., Kim, B.S., Kim, H.J., Lee, S.R., Lee, S.G., Yoo, S.A., Kim, W.U., Hyun, B.H., Park, Y.S., Kim, T.Y. & Ryoo, Z.Y. 2008, "The therapeutic effect of extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) mouse embryonic

fibroblast (MEF) on collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) mice", *Cell transplantation*, vol. 17, no. 12, pp. 1371-1380.

- Zangar, R.C., Davydov, D.R. & Verma, S. 2004, "Mechanisms that regulate production of reactive oxygen species by cytochrome P450", *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*, vol. 199, no. 3, pp. 316-331.
- Zhao, X., Carnevale, K.A. & Cathcart, M.K. 2003, "Human monocytes use Rac1, not Rac2, in the NADPH oxidase complex", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 42, pp. 40788-40792.
- Zhong, L. & Holmgren, A. 2000, "Essential role of selenium in the catalytic activities of mammalian thioredoxin reductase revealed by characterization of recombinant enzymes with selenocysteine mutations", *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 275, no. 24, pp. 18121-18128.